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lndependent Audttor s RePort

To the Shareholders of Grigeo AB

Report on the Audit of the separate and the consolidated Financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the separate financial statements of AB Grigeo ("the Company") and the

consolidated financialstatements of AB Grigeo and its subsidiaries ("the Group"). The Company's

separate and the Group's consolidated financial Statements comprise:

o the separate and the consolidated statement of financial position as at 3'l December

2017,
r the separate and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income for the Year then ended,
o the separate and the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then

ended,
o the separate and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and

e the notes to the separate and the consolidated fįnancial Statements, comprising

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

ln our opinion, the accompanying separate and consolidated financial statements give a true and

fair view of the non-consolidated financial position of the Company and the consolidated financial

position of the Group as at 31 December 201 7, respectively, and of their respective non-

consolidated and consolidated financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in

accordance with lnternational Financial Reporting standards, as adopted by the European Union.

We conducted our audit in accordance with lnternational Standards on Auditing (lSAs). Our

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for

the Audit of the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are

independent of the company and the Group in accordance with the lnternational Ethics standards

Board for Accountants'Code of Ethics for ProfessionalAccountants (IESBA Code), and we have

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Law on Audit of Financial

statements of the Republic of Lithuania and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence

we have obtained is sufficient and approprrate to provide a basis for our opinion'
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professionaljudgment, were of most significance

in our audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements of the current period. These

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the separate and consolidated financial

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters. Each audtt matter and our respective response are described below.

@2o18 KPMG Baltica, UAB, a Lithuanian limiįēd liability company and a

membėr lirm of thē KPlvlG nētwork of indepgndent member firms affiliatēd
with KPMG lnternatįonal cooperarivė ("KPMG lnternational"), a swiss entity,
All righls reservod,
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We refer to the financial statements: Note 2.4 (accounting policy), Note 5 (financial drsclosures)

How the matter was addressed in our auditThe key audit matter

Our audit procedures performed included:

o checking the mathematical accuracy of the

impairment model used for determination of

fair value of Grigeo Klaipėda AB cash
generating unit;

o evaluating the Group's budgeting process
(upon which forecasts are based) by
comparing the actual results for the year

with original forecasts, taking these
observations into consideration into the
sensitivity analysis Performed;

r involving our valuation specialists who
assisted us at assessing the
appropriateness of the methodology applied
in the impairment model, challenging the
key assumptions used in the model by
comparing the production, sales volumes
and profit margins to historical results and

to industry data, comparing the forecasted
growth rates, the discount rate to the ones
used in the paper manufacturing industry;

. considering sensitivity of the impairment
model to changes in key assumptions to
understand the impact of such changes on
levels of headroom;

. considering the adequacy of the Group's
disctosure in respect of impairment testing.

The carrying amount of goodwill in the

consolidated financial statements as at 31

December 2017: EUR 3,001 thousand; total

impairment loss as at 31 December 2017:

EUR 0 thousand.

The goodwillwas allocated to Grigeo Klaipėda

AB cash generating unit upon the acquisition
of Grigeo investicijų valdymas UAB in 2010.

The recoverable amount of cash generattng

unit as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was
determined based on the discounted cash
flows projection based on the five-year
financial forecasts prepared by the
management, including terminal value.

The determination of recoverable amounts of

the cash generating unit is a process that

requires management to make significant
judgements, including those in respect of

future operating cash flows, growth rates and

discount rates. Accordingly, we have identified
this area as a key audit matter.

Goodwill valuation (GonsoIidated fįnancial statements)



other lnformation

The other information comprises the information included in the consolidated annual management

report, including Corporate Governance Statement and Corporate Social Responsibility Report, but

does not include the separate and consolidated fįnancial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Management is responsible for the other information,

Our opinion on the separate and consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

ln connection with our audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is

to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially

inconsistent with the separate and consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the

audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. lf, based on the work we have performed, we

conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

ln additron, our responsibility is to consider whether information included in the consolidated annual

management report, including Corporate Governance Statement, for the financial year for which the

separite and consolidated financial statements are prepared is consistent with the separate and

consolidated financial statements and whether consolidated annual management report, including

Corporate Governance Statement, has been prepared in compliance with applicable legal

requirements. Based on the work carried out in the course of audit of the separate and consolidated

financial statements, in our opinion, in all material respects:

r The information given in the consolidated annual management report, including Corporate

Governance Statement, for the financial year for which the separate and consolidated financial

statements are prepared is consistent with the separate and consolidated financial statements;

and

. The consolidated annual management report, including Corporate Governance Statement, has

been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Law on Consolidated Financial

Reporting by Groups of Undertakings of the Republic of Lithuania.

We also need to check that the Corporate Social Responsibility Report has been provided. lf we
identify that Corporate Social Responsibility Report has not been provided, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Management is responsible for the preparation of the separate and consolidated financial statements

that give a true and fair view in accordance with lnternational Financial Reporting Standards, as

adopted by the European Union, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary

to enable the preparation of separate and consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

ln preparing the separate and consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for

assessing the Company's and the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basrs of accounting unless

management either intends to liquidate the Company and the Group or to cease operations, or has no

realrstic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's and the Group's

financial reporting process.

@2018 KPMG Baltica, UAB, a Lithuanian limited liability company and a
mgmber firm oflhe KPMG network of indėpgndēnt mēmber firms affiliated
with KPMG lnternational Cooperalive {"KPMG lnternational"), a Swiss entity.
All rights regērvēd'
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate and consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high

level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with lSAs will

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these separate and

consol idated f inancial Sįatements.

As part of an audit in accordance with lSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate and consolidated

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting

from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's and the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting polrcies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management'

o Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists

related to events or conditions that may cast srgnificant doubt on the Company's and the

Group's ability to continue as a going concern. lf we conclude that a material uncertainty

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in

the separate and consolrdated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date

of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company and

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate and consolidated

financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the separate and consolidated

financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities

or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

O2018 KPMG Baltics, UAB. a Lithuanian limited liability company and a
mēmber firm of tho KPMG nstwork of indepēndent membor lirm9 affiliated
with KPMG lnternationĖl cooperativ9 ("KPMG lntērn9tional"), a swiss entity.
All rights resērvėd.
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We also provide those charged with governance wrth a statement that we have complied with

relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,

and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those

matters that were of most significance in the audit of the separate and consolidated financial

statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these

matters in our auditors' report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the

matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be

communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Under decision of the general shareholders' meeting we were appointed on 25 April 2012 for the

first time to audit the company's and the Group',s separate and consolidated financial statements.

Our appointment to audit the Company's and the Group's separate and consolidated financial

statements is renewed each year under decision of the general shareholders' meeting, and the

total uninterrupted period of engagement ts 6 years.

We confirm that our audit opinion expressed in the opinion section of our report is consistent

with the additional report presented to the Company and the Group and its Audit Committee.

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief, we have not provided to the Company

and the Group any prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5(1) of the Regulation (EU)

No 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council.

ln the course of audit, we have not provided any other services except for audit of separate and

consol idated financial statements.

On behalf of KPMG Baltics, UAB

ed Auditor

Vilnius, the Republic of Lithuania
28 March 2018

@2o18 KPMG Baltics, UAB, a Lithuēnian limited liabilįty company and a
member firm of the KPMG n€twork of indepēndent member firms affiliatēd
with KPMG lnt€rnational cooperativs ("KPMG lnternstional"), a Swisg entity.
All rights resorvėd.

D
P
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equiPment
lnvestment proPertY

lntangible assets
lnvestments into subsidiaries

lnvestments into other
companies

Non-current receivables
Deferred income tax assets
Total non-current assets

Current assets
lnventories

Accounts receivable
Other current assets
Advance income tax

Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Grigeo AB, company cod6 I 10012450
vilniaus st. 10, Grigiškės' LT-27101, vllnius

coNsoLlDATED AND SEPARATE FlNANclAL STATEMĖNTS
for the year endecl 31 December 2017

(all amounts are in EįJR unless otherwise stated)

50,055,203
804,401
229,538

8,468,001

28,962

817,215
436,243

60,839,563

3,436,538
7,686,380

134,128
83,216
2j22

11

72,18',,,947

(cont'd on the next page)

93,949,297
804,401

3,943,600

28,962

302,236
239,321

99,267,817

8,807,655
12,003,534

229,694
170,282
566,964

21"778,129

43,918,201
1,331,302

238,552
8,468,001

28,962

178,755
1,317 ,155

55,480,928

4,512,651
10,389,005

308,033

2,143
15,211,832

4
6
5
1

8
23

7
8

9

81,954,112
1,33'1,302
4,340,066

29,449

287,873
1 ,886,619

89,829,421

9,965,1'11
14,836,297

377,591

538,705
25,717,704

70,692,760115,547,125 121,045,946
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Grf
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONT'D)

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

Share capital
Share premium
Legal reserve

Own shares reserye
Hedging reserve

Foreign currency translation
reserye

Retained earnings
Equity attributable to equity

holders of the parent
Non-controllin g interests

Total equity

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Grants and subsidies

Non-current borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Loans from subsidiaries

Deferred income tax liability
Fair value of financial

instruments
Non-current employee benefits
Long-term trade payables and

other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Current portion of long term

loans
Current borrowings

Current portion of finance
lease obligations

Loans from subsidiaries
lncome tax payable

Trade and other payables
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND

LIABILITIES

Gintautas Pangonis
President

Grigeo AB, company code 1 10012450
vilniaus st. 10, Grigiškės' LT-27101 ' vilnius

coNSoLlDATED AND SĖPARATE FlNANclAL STATEMĖNTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017

(all amounts are in EUR unless otherwise stated)

As at
3l December

2016

'19,053,000

1 ,'l 18,906
'1,905,300

1,000,000
(137,574)

'15,959,836

38,899,468

38,899,468

2,471,789
9,923,551

72,925

137,574

80,765

12,686,604

9,700,536

124,943

213,833

10,556,563
20,595,875
33

72,181,947

enė

The accompanying notes are an integral paft of these financial statements.

The financiat statements were prepared by the management on 28 March 2018 and signed on its behalf by:
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Group
No-
tes

As at
31 December

2017

As at
31 December

2016

As at
31 December

2017

23

13

13

14

'16

15

10
10
10

12
13
14

19,053,000
1 ,1 18,906
1,905,300
1,000,000
(120,324)

(2,214,377)

35,259,339

56,001,844

425,395
56,427,239

3,036,304
18,354,280

15,500

21,675,850

1 5,091 ,13'1

1,928,034

205,769

347,697
19,871,405
37,444,036
59,'t19,886

120,324

149,442

19,053,000
1 ,1 18,906
1,905,300
'1,000,000
(224,629)

(2,021,e6e)

28,729,919

49,560,527

577,861
50,138,388

3,678,004
27,458,313

222,387

31,734,720

16,743,536

748,432

469,974

23
21,210,873
39,172,838
70,907,558

224,629

151,387

19,053,000
1 ,'1 18,906
1,905,300
1,000,000

(67,831)

'16,933,516

39,942,891

39,942,891

2,119,102
7,426,463

6,162

9,721,694

8,247,202

1,218,058

66,763

18,724
11,477,438
21,028,185
30,749,869

67,831

102,126

115,547,125 121,045,946 70,692,760

Vice nt, Finance



Gtf,
Grigeo AB, comPanY code 110012450

Vilniaus St' 10, Grigiškės' LT-27101 ' 
vilnius

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STAIEMEIVIS
for the year endēd 31 December 2017

(all amounts are in ĖĮJR unless otherwise stated)

2016

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Grou Com

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Other operating income
Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative
expenses

Other operating expenses
Profit from operations

Finance income
Finance expenses

Profit before income tax
lncome tax

NET PROFIT

Other comprehensive income
Items that will never be

reclassified to profit or loss
Items that are or may be

reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on

translation of foreign operations
Cash flow hedges - effective
portion of changes in fair value

Total comprehensive income for
the year, net of tax

Profįt attributable to:
The shareholders of the ComPanY

Non-controllin g interests

Total comprehensive income
attributable to:

The shareholders of the ComPanY
Non-controllin g interests

Basic and diluted earnings Per
share

Adjusted earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and

amoĖisation (adjusted
EBITDA

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were prepared by the management on 28 March 2018 and signed on its behalf by

56,958,839
(47,538,46e)

9,420,370
464,822

(4,602,876)

(2,366,83e)

(232,043)
2,683,434

927,938
(336,805)
3,274,567
(1 65, I 70)
3,109,397

Gintautas Pangonis
President

ene

(137,5741

(137,574)

2,971,823

3,'109,397

3,109,397

2,971,823

2,971,823

0.05

9,293,918

2016 2017Notes 2017

102,461,347
(84,972,164)

17,489,183
915,321

(8,184,374)

(4,834,885)

(31 1,70e)
5,073,536

17,412
(5e2,465)
4,498,483

(13,9e3)
4,484,490

70,976,100
(59,562,705)

'11,413,395
847,189

(6,339,316)

(2,7s7,694)

(402,300)
2,761,274

503,775
(322,1e7)
2,942,852

658,828
3,601,680

16,067,717 10,235,022

69,743

3,601,680

0.050.07

(323,005)

(e8,376)

(224,629)

4,161,485

69,743

3,671,423

3,60'1,6804,419,415
65,075

4,484,490

3,671,423

3,671,423

4,098,452
63,033

4,161,485

17

26

24

22
22

23

18
20

21

19

129,867,083
(105,670,868)

24,196,215
915,825

(10,416,095)

(5,265,130)

(2e3,284)
9,137,531

33,348
(721,106)
8,449,773

851,967
9,301,740

(92,1821

(1e6,487)

104,305

9,209,558

9,157,420
144,320

g,3ol,74o

9,069,317
140,241

9,209,558

22,894,230

0.14

Vice ent, Finance
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Gff';,i': ::'
Grigeo AB, comPanv code 110012450

vilniaus st' 10, Gligiškės, LT-27101' Vilnius
coNsoLlDATĖD AND SĒPARATE FlNANclAL 9TATĖMENTS

for the year ended 31 Decēmber 2017
(all amounts are in EUR unlēss otheryise stated)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Group

Balance as at
31 December

2015
Net profit for the

year
Other

comprehensive
income

(expenses)
Total

comprehensive
income

(expenses)
Own shares

reserve
(Note 10)

Transfer to legal
reserve

Dividends
approved
(Note 25)

Transactions
with owners of
the Company
Transactions

with non-
controlling

interest
Balance as at
31 December

2016
Net profit for the

year
Other

comprehensive
income

(expenses)
Total

comprehensive
income

(expenses)
Dividends
approved
(Note 25)

Transactions
with owners of
the Company
Transactions

with non-
controlling

intērest
Balance as at
31 December

2017

Total
equity:

47,450,043

4,484,490

(323,005)

4,161,485

(1,314,000)

(1,314,000)

(1 59,140)

50,1 38,388

9,301,740

(e2,182)

9,209,558

(2,628,000)

(2,628,000)

(292,7071

56,427,239

(cont'd on the next page)

Equity attributable to equiŲ holde.s of thē parēnt

Total:

Non-
controlling

interest
Hedging
rēsērve

Foreign
curfency

translatįon
reserve

Retained
earnings

Share
capįtal

Share
premium

Legal
rēsolvē

Own
shares
reserve

673,968

65,075

(2,042)

63,033

(1 59,140)

577,861

144,320

(4,079)

't40,241

(292,7071

425,355

(224,629)

(224,629)

(224,62s)

104,305

1 04,305

(120,3241

(1,925,635)

(e6,334)

(96,334)

(2,021,969)

(192,408)

(192,408)

(2,2',14,3771

26,72',1,855

4,419,415

4,419,415

(1,000,000)

(e7,351)

(1,314,000)

(2,411,35'.1)

28,729,919

9,157,420

9,157,420

(2,628,000)

(2,628,000)

35,259,339

46,776,075

4,419,415

(320,s63)

4,098,452

(1,314,000)

(1,314,000)

49,560,527

9,157,420

(88,1 03)

9,069,317

(2,628,000)

(2,628,000)

56,001,844

1,118,906

1,118,906

't,118,906

1,807,949

97,351

97,351

1,905,300

1,905,300

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

19,053,000

19,053,000

't 9,053,000
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES lN EQUITY (CONT'D)

Company

Balance as at
31 December

2015
Net profit for

the year
Other

comprehensive
income

(expenses)
Total

comprehen-
sive income
(expenses)
Own shares

reserye
Dįvidends
approved
(Note 25)

Transfer to
legal reserve
Transactions
with owners

of the
Company

Balance as at
31 December

2016
Net profit for

the year
Other

comprehensive
income

(expenses)
Total

comprehen-
sive income
(expenses)
Dividends
approved
(Note 25)

Transactions
with owners

of the
Gompany

Balance as at
31 December

2017

Grigeo AB, comPany code 110012450
vilniaus St. 10, Grigiškės, LT-27101 ' vilnius

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ēndēcl 31 Decēmber 2017

(all amounts are in EUR unlēss otherwise sįaįed)

Total equiŲ:

37,241,645

3,109,397

(137,574)

2,971,823

(1,314,000)

(1,314,000)

38,899,468

3,601,680

69,743

3,671,423

(2,628,000)

(2,628,000)

39,942,891

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financiat statements were prepared by the management on 28 March 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Gintautas Pangonis
President

Retained
earnings

Share
premium

Legal
reserYe

Own
shares
reserve

Hedging
rēserve

Share
capital

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

(137,574)

(137,5741

(137,5741

69,743

69,743

(67,831)

15,261,790

3,109,397

3,109,397

(1,000,000)

(1,314,000)

(97,351)

(2,41',1,3511

't5,959,836

3,601,680

3,601,680

(2,628,000)

(2,628,000)

16,933,516

19,053,000

19,053,000

19,053,000

1,118,906

't,118,906

1,118,906

1,807,949

't,905,300

1,905,300

97,351

97,351

Vice nt, Finance
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from (to) operating
actįvities

Profit before income tax

Adjustments for non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation net of

grants
Elimination of finance (income) expenses
Loss (gain) on disposal and write-off of

property, plant and equipment
Loss (profit) on disposal of emission rights
Property, plant and equipment impairment

losses (reversal)
Allowance for doubtful accounts

receivable (reversal)

Changes in working capital
(lncrease) decrease in trade and other

receivables
(lncrease) decrease in inventories

(lncrease) decrease in other assets
lncrease (decrease) in trade and other

payables

lnterest (paid)
lncome tax (paid)

Net cash flows from (to) operating
activities

Grigeo AB, comPanY code 110012450
vilniaus St' 10' Grigiškės' LT-27101 ' vilnius

coNsoLrDATED AND 9ĒPARATE FlNANclAL STATEMENTS
for the year ēnded 31 Dēcember 2017

(all amounts are in EUR unless otherwise stated)

3,274,567

6,610,384

(591 ,133)

(18,871)

(142,400)

7,035

9,139,582

(1,111,544)

1,853,221
(16,647)

2,287,046

3,012,076

(34e,622)
(347,s26)

'11,454,110

(cont'd on the next page)

Group
2016 2017Notes 2017

2,942,852

7,473,748

(181,578)

(175,042)

(17s,075)

71,749

9,952,654

(1,eee,814)

(1,061,1 13)
(173,905)

2,738,938

(495,894)

(331,067)
(5e,461)

9,066,232

22

8

8,449,773

13,756,699

687,758

(308,047)

(258,825)

(6s,414)

22,261,944

(2,647,105)

(1,142,456)
(147,8e7)

1,420,187

(2,517,2711

(76e, I ee)
(171 ,839)

18,803,635

4,498,483

10,994,181

575,053

1,985

(284,800)

(17,181)

15,767,721

174,711

1,310,249
(38,357)

3,866,263

5,312,866

(707,132)
(656,533)

19,716,922
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONT',D)

Cash flows from (to) investing
activities

(Acquisition) of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

(Acquisition) of other investments
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and

equiPment
Grants and subsidies received

Proceeds from disposal of emission
allowances

Dividends received
Acquisition of non-controlling interest

Net cash flows (to) investing activities

Cash flows from (to) financing
activities

Dividends (paid)
Loans (repaid)

Proceeds from borrowings
Received (repaid) credit lines

Loans received from subsidiaries and
related companies

Finance lease (payments)
Net cash flows from financing

activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year

Supplemental information of cash
flows:

Non-cash investing activitY:
Property, plant and equiPment

acquisitions financed by finance lease
Liability for property, plant and equipment

outstanding ą9 3!yeą| ę!d

Gintautas Pangonis
President

Grigeo AB, comPanv code 110012450
vilniaus st' 10, Grigiškės, LT-27101' vilnius

coNsoLlD ATED AND SĒPARATE FlNANclAL srA rEMElvIs
for the year encled 31 December 2017

(all amounts are in EUR unless othērwise statēd)

(6,538,87e) (29,2s7,322) (4,2s4,1e4) (13,040,079)

348,240

258,825

(247,734)
(6,179,548)

98,776

14,933

284,800

(28,858,813)

178,127

179,075

475,051

(3,42'.1,9411

49,040

14,933

142,400

898,000

(l I,935,706)

575,398 562,295

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were prepared by the management on 28 March 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Šilerienė

(2,604,418')
(11,789,009)

1,032,571
1,179,602

(471,092)

(12,652,3461

(28,259)

566,964

538,705

(1,3e5,039)
(6,631,566)
20,080,134
(2,447,969)

(657,027)

9,948,533

(193,358)

760,322

566,964

140,953

3,540,'185

(2,573,130)
(4,e82,ee3)

1,032,571
1 ,093,1 15

(213,833)

(5,644,2701

21

2,122

2,143

(1,295,121)
(3,546,046)

7,946,429
(2,282,236)

(351,569)

471,457

(10,139)

12,261

2,122

61,299

2,432,371

7
No-
tes 2017

12

4 5

Finance
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Grf t:

Grigeo AB, comPanY code 1 10012450
vilniaus st' 10, Grigiškės, LT-27101 ' vilnius

CON S OLID ATED AN D S E PARATE FINA N CI AL STATEMEN TS
for the year ended 31 Decēmber 2017

(all amounts arē in EuR unlēss otherwise stated)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

l. General information

Grigeo AB (hereinafter referred to as the Company) is a public limited liability company registered in the Republic of

Lithįania on 23 May '1991. The Company is engaged in production of toilet papeĮ paper towels, paper napkins,

corrugated cardboaid and products from iorrugaūo cardboard. Paper mill in GRlGlŠKES was established in 1823.

The address of the Company's registered office is as follows: Vilniaus st. 10, GrigiŠkes, Vilnius Mun., Lithuania.

Shares of the Company are included into the Baltic Main List of NASDAQ OMX Vilnius Stock Exchange (lSlN Code
of the shares is LTO0O01O2O30). Trading Code of the shares on NASDAQ OMX Vilnius Stock Exchange is GRGI L.

The nominal value of one share of the Company is EUR 0.29 (twenty nine cents) and the amount of the authorized
capital of the Company is EUR 19,053,000 (nineteen million fifty three thousand euro).

As at 31 December 2017, the number of employees of the Group was 809 (as at 31 December 2016: 804). As at

31 December 2017, the number of employees of the Company was 371 (as at 31 December 2016. 357).

Structure of the Group

Asat3'l December2OlTand20l6,GrigeoABgroupconsistsofGrigeoABandthefollowingsubsidiaries(hereinafter
referred to as the Group):

of at Share of

Name

UAB
Baltwood

UAB
Packaging

UAB
Naujieji
Verkiai

UAB Grig
investicijų
valdymas

UAB
Grigiškių
energĮa

held by
the

Group

Size of
investment

(cost)

Profit (loss)
for the

repoĖing
period

end of the
reporting

period
(100%)

the
held by

the
Group

Size of
investment

(cost)

Address Principal activity

lOOo/o 4,655,466

100% 2.896

100o/o

Subsidiaries di rectly controlled by the Company

245,243 7,050,271 100% 4,655,466

2,896 1jOYo 2,896

(637) (16,728) 100%

100o/o 3,806,743 1,011,843 13,735,209 100% 3,806,743

2,896 2,896

Vilniaus St.
10,

GrigiŠkes,
nius Mun.,
Lįthuania

Vilniaus St.
10,

Grigiškes'
Mun.,

Lithuanįa

Popieriaus
st. 15,
Vilnius,

Lithuania

Vilniaus St.
10,

Grigiškės,
ius Mun.,

Lithuania

Vilniaus St.
14,

GrigiŠkes,
ius Mun.,

Manufacturing of wood
fibre boards.

Corrugated board and
packaging from

corrugated board
manufacturing. No

operations in 2017 and
2016.

Building and
development of real

estate.

lnvestment activities
and corporate
governance.

Heat production and
sale. No operations in

2017 and2016.

20162017

Total

100o/o

9,468,001

33 1O0o/o

8,468,00'l

Lithuania
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Grf Grigeo AB, comPanv code 110012450
vilniaus st' 10' Grigiškės' LT-27101 ' 

vilnius
coNsoLlDATĖD AND SEPARATE FINAN9IAL STATEMENTS

for thē year ended 31 December 2017
(all amounts are in EUR unless otherwise stated)

Size of Address Principal activity

(cost)held by
Group

Subsidiaries indirectly controlled by the

5,887,972 19,018,525 95.78%

(77,181) (1,64e,e21) 95.78%

157,909 1,127 ,150 93.79o/o

1. General information (cont'd)

Name

AB Grigeo
Klaipėda

UAB
Recycling

PAT Mena
Pak

SIA Grigeo
Recycling

Share of
the stock

held by
Group

97,670/0

99,09%

97,92o/o

Size of
invest-
ment
(cost)

Profit (loss)
for the

reporting
period

ity at
end of

reportlng
period
(100%)

Share of
the stock

Nemuno St.
2, Klaipeda,

Lithuania

Vilniaus St.
10,

GrigiŠkes'
Vilnius Mun.,

Lithuania

Koshevovo
st.6,

Chernigovo
distr., Mena,

Ukraine

Qertrūdes
iela 12-7,

Riga, Latvia

Production of
paperboard and paper

honeycomb.

Collection of secondary
materials and
preparation for

recycling.

Corrugated board and
packaging

manufacturing.

Collection of secondary
materials and
preparation for

recycling. No activities
in 2017.

99,09% 2,800

Chanoes in the G o in 2017 and 2016

ln2017 the share capital of UAB Grigeo Recycling was increased by EUR 1,800 thousand up to EUR 2,960 thousand.
ln 2016 the share capital of UAB Grigeo Baltwood was decreased by EUR 3,336 thousand. ln 2016 the indirect
subsidiary SIA Grigeo Recycling was established, which is owned by UAB Grigeo Recycling.

2. Accounting policies

2.1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Group and the Company are prepared in accordance with lnternational Financial
Reporting Standards effective as at 31 December 2017 lhat have been adopted for use in the European Union.

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except of the financial instruments used
for hedging, which are accounted at fair value.

The Company's management prepared these financial statements on 28 March 2017. The shareholders of the

Company have a statutory right to either approve these financial statements or not approve them and require the
management to prepare a new set of financial statements.

Changes in accountinq policies

The Group and the Company have consistently applied the accounting policies set out in Note 2 įo all periods
presented in these consolidated and separate financial statements.

The Group and the Company have adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards, including
any consequential amendments to other standards, with a date of įnitial application of 1 January 2017 '

20162017

16



Grigēo AB, company code 110012450
vilniaus st' 10, Grigiškės, LT-27101 ' vilnius

coNsoLlDATED AND SEPARATĒ FlNANclAL STATĖMĒNTS
tor the year endēd 31 Decembēr 201 7

(all amounts arē in ĖUR unless otherwise stated)

2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.1. Basis of preparation (cont'd)

Standards and interpretations to published standards that are not vet effective

A number of new Standards, amendments to Standards and lnterpretations are not yet mandatorily effective for

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated
financiai statements. of ūese pronouncements, the following will potentially have an impact on the Company's and

the Group's financial statements. The Group and the Company do not plan to adopt these amendments, new

Standards and lnterpretations earlier.

/FRS 75 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and Clarifications to /FRS /5 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers (rssued on 12 April 2016). (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Earlier
application is permitted.)

The new Standard provides a framework that replaces existing revenue recognition guidance in IFRS. The Company
and the Group willadopt a five-step model to determine when to recognise revenue, and at what amount. The new

model specifies that revenue should be recognised when (or as) the Company and the Group transfer control of
goods or services to a customer at the amount to which the Company expects to be entitled. Depending on whether
certain criteria are met, revenue is recognised:

. over time, in a manner that depicts the Company's and the Group's performance; or

. at a point in time, when control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer.

IFRS 15 also establishes the principles that the Company and the Group shall apply to provide qualitative and
quantitative disclosures which provide useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount,

timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer.

The Clarifications to IFRS 15 clarify some of the Standard's requirements and provide additionaltransitional relief

for companies that are implementing the new Standard. The amendments clarify how to:

. identify a performance obligation - the promise to transfer a good or a service to a customer- in a contract;

. determine whether a company is a principal (the provider of a good or service) or an agent (responsible for

arranging for the good or service to be provided); and

. determine whether the revenue from granting a license should be recognised at a point in time or over time.

The amendments also provide the Company and the Group with two additional practical expedients:

. The Company and the Group need not restate contracts that are completed contracts at the beginning of the

earliest period presented (for entities that using the full retrospective method only);

. For contracts that were modified before the beginning of the earliest period presented, the Company and the

Group need not retrospectively restate the contract but shall instead reflect the aggregate effect of all of the

modifications that occur before the beginning of the earliest period presented (also for entities recognising the

cumulative effect of initially applying the standard at the date of initial application).

Following analysis, the management does not expect that the new Standard, when initially applied, will have

materialimpacį on the Company's and the Group's financial statements. Potential impact is related to advertising
services acquired from the Company's buyers which amount to EUR 1,170 thousand (in the Company and the

Group), and starting from 1 January 2017 they will be accounted for as revenue reduction and not as selling and

distribution expenses. The decision can be reviewed following initial application of this accounting principle.

/FRS 9 Financiat lnstruments (2014) (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018; to be

apptied retrospectivety with some exemptions. The restatement of prior periods is not required, and is permitted

ontly if information is avaitable without the use of hindsight. Early application is permitted.)

This Standard replaces IAS 39, Financial lnstruments: Recognition and Measurement, except that the IAS 39

exception for a fair value hedge of an interest rate exposure of a portfolio of financial assets or financial liabilities

continues to apply, and the Company and the Group have an accounting policy choice between applying the hedge
accounting requiiements of IFRS 9 or continuing to apply the existing hedge accounting requirements in IAS 39 for

all hedge accounting.
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Grigeo AB, comPanY code 110012450
vilniaus st' 10' Grigiškės' LT-27101 ' 

vilnius
coNsoLlDATED AND SEPARATĖ FlNANclAL STATEMĒNTS

for thē year ended 31 Decembēr 2017
(all amounts are in EįJR unless otherwise stated)

2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.1. Basis of preparation (cont'd)

Standards and interpretations to published standards that are not vet effective (cont'd)

Although the permissible measurement bases for financial assets - amortised cost, fair value through other
comprēhensive income (Fvocl) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) - are similar to lAS 39, the criteria for

classification into the appropriate measurement category are significantly different.

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if the following two conditions are met:

. the assets is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows, and

. its contractual terms give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
įnterest on the principal outstanding.

In addition, for a non-trading equity instrument, the Company and the Group may elect to irrevocably present

subsequent changes in fair vįlue (including foreign exchange gains and losses) in oCl. These are not reclassified
to profit or loss under any circumstances.

For debt instruments measured at FVOCI, interest revenue, expected credit losses and foreign exchange gains

and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for amortised cost assets. Other gains and losses
are recognised in OCI and are reclassified to profit or loss on derecognition.

The impairment model in IFRS 9 replaces the 'incurred loss' model in IAS 39 with a fonryard-looking an 'expected

credit loss' (ECL) model, which means that a loss event will no longer need to occur before an impairment allowance
is recognised. The new impairment model will apply to financial assets measured at amortized cost or FVOCI,
except for investments in equity instruments, and to contract assets.

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances will be measured on either of the following bases:

. 'l2-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the

reporting date; and

. Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument.

IFRS g includes a new general hedge accounting model, which aligns hedge accounting more closely with risk
management. The types of hedging relationships - fair value, cash flow and foreign operation net investment -
remain unchanged, but additionaljudgment will be required from the Company's and the Group's management.

The standard contains new requirements to achieve, continue and discontinue hedge accounting and allows
additional exposures to be designated as hedged items. Extensive additional disclosures regarding the Company's
and the Group's risk management and hedging activities are required.

The Company and the Group do not expect lFRS 9 to have materįal impact on the financial statements. The
classification 

-and 
measurement of the financial instruments are not expected to change significantly under IFRS 9

because of the nature of the Company's and the Group's operations and the types of financial instruments that they
hold.
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Grigēo AB, company code 110012150
vilniaus St' 10, Grigiškės' LT-27101 ' vilnius

coNsoLlDATĖD AND 9EPARATĒ FlNANclAL STATĖMĒNTS
for thē year ended 31 December 2017

(all amounts are in EUR unlēss otherwise sįaįed)

2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.1. Basis of preparation (cont'd)

Standards and interpretations to published standards that are not vet effective (cont'd)

/FRs 76 Leases (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019' Ėarlier application is permitted
if the Company and the Group also apply IFRS 15.)

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. The Standard eliminates the current dual
accounting modelfor lessees and instead requires companies to bring most leases on-balance sheet under a single
model, e|iminating the distinction between operating and fįnance leases.

Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for
a period of time in exchange for consideration. For such contracts, the new model requires a lessee to recognise a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The right-of-use asset is depreciated and the liability accrues interest. This
will result in a front-loaded pattern of expenses for most leases, even when the lessee pays constant annual rentals.

The new Standard introduces a number of limited scope exceptions for lessees which include:

. leases with a lease term of '12 months or less and containing no purchase options, and

. leases where the underlying asset has a low value ('small-ticket' leases).

Lessor accounting, however, shall remain largely unchanged and the distinction between operating and finance
leases will be retained.

It is expected that the new Standard, when initially applied, will have a significant impact on the financial statements,
since it will require the Company and Group to recognise in the statement of financial position assets and liabilities
relating to operating leases for which the Company acts as a lessee. The maximum exposure so far is related to
the lease of land, for which the Company will recognize new assets and liabilities. As at 31 December 2017, the
Company's and the Group's future minimum lease payments for įrrevocable operating leases amounted to

EUR 1,650 thousand and EUR 4,290 thousand, respectively.

Amendments fo /FRS 10 and tAS 28 Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its assocr,afe or joint

venture (the European Commission decided to defer the endorsement indefinitely.)

The Amendments clarify that in a transaction involving an associate or joint venture, the extent of gain or loss
recognition depends on whether the assets sold or contributed constitute a business, such that:

. a full gain or loss is recognised when a transactlon between an investor and its associate or joint venture
involves the transfer of an asset or assets which constitute a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or
not), while;

. a partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction between an investor and its associate or joint venture
involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.

The Company and the Group do not expect that the amendments, when initially applied, will have material impact
on the financial statements as the Company has no subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

1FRS 17 lnsurance Contracts (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021;to be applied
prospectively. Ealy appl ication is pe rm itted. )

IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4, which was brought in as an interim Standard in 2004. IFRS 4 has given companies
dispensation to carry on accounting for insurance contracts using national accounting standards, resulting in a
multitude of different approaches.

IFRS 17 solves the comparison problems created by IFRS 4 by requiring all insurance contracts to be accounted
for in a consistent manner, benefiting both investors and insurance companies. lnsurance obligations will be
accounted for using current values, instead of historical cost.

The Company and the Group expect that the amendments, when initially applied, will not have a material impact
on the presentation of the financial statements of the Company and the Group because the Company and the

Group do not operate in the insurance industry.
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Grigeo AB, company code 110012450
vilniaus st. 10, Grigiškės' LT-27101 ' vilnius

coNSoLtDATED AND 9ĒPARATE FlNANclAL 9TATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017

(all amounts are in EUR unless otherwisē stated)

2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.2.Going concern

These financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 have been prepared under the assumption that

the Group and the Company will continue as a going concern. Going concern is described in Note 30.

2.3. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include Grigeo AB and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company or the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases. The financial statements
of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting
policies. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
and dividends are eliminated in full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a

defįcit balance. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an

equity transaction. lf the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

r Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
. Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
r Derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity;
. Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
. Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
. Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;
. Reclassifies the parent's share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to

profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

2.4. Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as

the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-

controūinį interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling

interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.
Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses.

lf the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's previously held

equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss. Any
contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.

Subseįuent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability'

will be recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.

lf the contiūgent consideration is classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the

amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

lf this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is

recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of

impairment testūg, gooūwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of

the Group's cash-įenerating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other

assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units (refer to Note 2.24).

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the

goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when

ūetermining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured

based on tĒe relitive values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.5. Measurement and presentation currency

The amounts shown in these financial statements are presented in euro, unless otherwise stated.

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries operating in Lithuania įs euro. The functional currencies
of foreign subsidiaries are the respective foreign currencies of the country of residence. ltems included in the
financial statements of these subsidiaries are measured using their functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency as at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of
exchange as at the date of the statement of financial position. Non-monetary items carried at cost are translated
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into euro at the reporting date using the rate of
exchange as at the date of the statement of financial position, and their statements of comprehensive income are
translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The exchange differences arising on this translation
are recognised in other comprehensive įncome. on disposal of a foreign subsidiary, the deferred cumulative amount
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that foreign operation is recognised in the statement of

comprehensive income.

2.6. lnvestments in subsidiaries (the Company)

lnvestments in subsidiaries in the Company's separate financial statements are carried at cost, less impairment.

2.7. Intangible assets other than goodwill

lntangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is stated at fair value as at the date of acquisition. lntangible assets are recognised if it is
probable that future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the enterprise and the cost of
asset can be measured reliably.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

After initial recognition, intangible assets with finite lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. lntangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives:

Land lease right
Licenses, patents and etc.

Software
Other intangible assets

90 years
3 years
3 years

3{ years

lntangible assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired.

The useful lives, residual values and amortisation method are reviewed annually to ensure that they are consistent
with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items in intangible assets other than goodwill.

The Group and the Company do not have any intangible assets with infinite useful life other than goodwill.

2.8.PropeĖy, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost (or deemed cost - see below) less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Before 31 December 2010, buildings were accounted as follows:
o The Company's buildings, acquired before 1 January 1996, were stated at indexed cost less indexed

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
. The Company's buildings, acquired after '1 January 1996, were stated at acquisition cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses. 
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2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.8. PropeĖy, plant and equipment (cont'd)

As at 31 December 2010, according to the exception available under IFRS 1 , part of buildings, acquired before 1

January 1996, were measured at fair values, determined as at that date by independent property valuer, and these
values were used as deemed cost at that date.

After 31 December 2O'10 all property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses.

The initial cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including non-refundable purchase

taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended

use. Expendiįures incurred after the property, plant and equipment is ready for its intended use, such as repair and

maintenance costs, are normally charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period the costs are
incurred. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basįs over the following estimated usefuI lives:

Buildings and structures
Machinery and equipment

Vehicles
Other equipment and other assets

8-91 years
5-15 years
4-8 years
4-6 vears

The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed annually to ensure that they are consistent
with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items in property, plant and equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of

comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognised.

Construction in progress is stated at cost. This includes the cost of construction, plant and equipment and other
directly attributable costs. Construction-in-progress is not depreciated until the relevant assets are completed and
put into operation.

2.9. Investment propeĖy

lnvestment property, including part of buildings and structures, is held for earning rentals and / or for capital
appreciation rather than for use in the production, provision of services, or for administration purposes or sale.

lnvestment property is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and adjusted for impairment loss, if

any. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write-off the cost of each asset to their residual values
over their estimated useful life: 10-50 years.

Transfers to and from investment property are made only when there is an evidence of change in an asset's use.

For a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting
is the carrying value of investment property at the date of change in use. lf owner-occupied property becomes an

investment property the Company and the Group account for such property in accordance with the policy stated
under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use. The deemed cost for subsequent investment
property accounting is the carrying value at the time of assets' transfer.

2.l0. Emissįon allowances

The EU Emission Allowance Trading Scheme was established by Directive 2003l87lĖc and commenced on 1

January 2005. The first phase ran for the three-year period from 2005 to 2007', the second runs for five years from

2008 to 2012 to coincide with the first Kyoto Commitment Period; the third - for 8 years from 2013 to 2020. The
scheme works on a'Cap and Trade' basis. EU Member States' governments are required to set an emission cap
for each phase for all 'installations' covered by the Scheme; this cap is established in the National Allocation Plan
(NAP), which is issued by the relevant authority in each Member State. The NAP describes the amount of yearly

emissions (measured in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalents) permitted per installation for each phase for which
allowances will be allocated on an annual basis.
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2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.1 0. Emission allowances (cont'd)

Member States are required to allocate allowances to installations by 28 February each year according to the NAP
(a certain number of allowances are kept in reserve for new installations).

Member States must ensure that by 30 April of the following year at the latest, that the operator of each installation

surrenders a number of allowances equal to the total emissions from that installation during the preceding calendar
year.

The Company and the Group apply a net liability approach in accounting for the emission allowances received. lt

records the emission allowances granted to it at a nominal (nil) amount. When actual emissions exceed allocated
emission allowances, the obligation of purchasing additional allowances is recognized as a provision measured at

the market value of the allowances as at the reporting date. The Company and the Group have chosen a system
that measures deficits on the basis of an annual allocation of emission allowances.

The outright sale of emission allowances is recorded as a sale at the fair value of consideration received. Any
difference between the fair value of the consideration received and its carrying amount is recorded as a gain or

loss, irrespecttve of whether this creates an actual or an expected deficit of the allowances held. When a sale
creates an actual deficit an additional liability is recognised in the statement of financial position.

2.11. Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs that the Company and the Group incur in connection with the borrowing

of funds. borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying

asset form part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are recognized as costs when incurred.

A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or
sale.

Borrowing costs may include:
- interest expenses calculated using the effective interest,
- finance charges in respect of finance leases and
- exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are

regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.

The commencement date for capitalization is the date when all of the following three condįtions are met:

- expenditures for the asset are incurred,
- borrowing costs are incurred,
- activities necessary to bring the asset into its intended use or sale are undertaken.

Capitalizing of borrowing costs is ceased when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying

asset for its intended use or sale are complete.

2.12. Financialassets

The Group's and the Company's financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate.
All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,

directly attributable transaction costs.

Financial assets at fair value throuqh profit or Ioss

The category financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes financial assets classified as held for

trading. Flnancial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near
term. Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group and the Company do not have any financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss as at 31

December 2017 and2916. 
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2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.12. Financial assets (cont'd)

Held-to-maturitv i nvestments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classįfied as held-to-

maturity when the Group / the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. lnvestments that

are intended to be heldto-maturity are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

The Group and the Company do not have any held-to-maturity investments as at 3'1 December 2017 and 2016.

Derivative financial instruments and hedqe accounting

The Group and the Company holds derivative financial instruments to hedge their interest rate risk exposures.
Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if certain criteria are met.

Derivatives initially are measured at fair value; any directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or

loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are
generally recognised in profit or loss.

Cash flow hedges

When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion of changes in the fair value
of the derivative is recognised in OCI and accumulated in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective portion of changes
in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The amount accumulated in equity is retained in other comprehensive income and reclassified to profit of loss in

the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast cash flows affect profit or loss or the hedged item

affects profit of loss.

lf the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the hedge no longer meets the criteria for the hedge
accounting, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the designation is revoked, then

hedge acCounting is discontinued prospectively. lf the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the

amount accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted

in an active market. Receivables are initially recorded at the fair value of the consideration given. Loans and

receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss when the loans and receivables are
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. Allowance for doubtful receivables is

evaluatėd when the indications leading to the impairment of accounts receivable are noticed and the carrying
amount of the receivable is reduced through use of an allowance account - refer to Note 2.25 for measurement of

impairment losses. lmpaired debts are derecognised (written ofį when they are assessed as uncollectible.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or liability and of
allocating interest income and expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts
estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period.
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2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.12. Financial assets (cont'd)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-
sale or are not classified in any of the three preceding categories. After initial recognition available-for-sale financial
assets are measured at fair value with unrealized gains or losses (except impairment and gain or losses from foreign

currencies exchange) being recognised in other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognised or
until the investment įs determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in

other comprehensive income is included in the profit or loss.

The Group and the Company do not have any available for sale financial assets as at 3'1 December 2017 and2016.

2.{3. Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally

enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realįse the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.14. Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is

derecognised when:
- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

- the Gioup / the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation

to pay them in fullwithout material delay to a third party under a'pass through' arrangement; or

- the Group / the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group / the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither

transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the

asset is recognised to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that

takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group / the Company could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit of loss.

2.15. lnventories

lnventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the selling price in the

ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion, marketing and distribution. Cost of inventory is determined
by the firsįin, first_out (FlFo) method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress includes the applicable
aįlocation of fįxed and variable overhead costs based on a normal operating capacity.

2.16. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and cash with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that

are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of 3 months or less and that are subject
to an insignificant risk of change in value.
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2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.16. Cash and cash equivalents (cont'd)

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and in current
bank accounts as well as deposits in bank with original term equal to or less than 3 months.

2.17. Borrowings

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the

respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value of proceeds received, less the costs of transaction. They are
subsequently carried at amortised cost, the difference between net proceeds and redemption value being

recognised in the net profit or loss over the period of the borrowings. The borrowings are classified as non-current
if thacompletion of a refinancing agreement before the date of the statement of financial position provides evidence
that the substance of the liability at the date of the statement of financial position was long-term.

2.18. Finance lease and operating lease

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement
at inception date of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets
or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Finance lease - Group and the Company as a lessee

Leases in terms of which the Group and the Company assume substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases.

The Group and the Company recognise finance leases as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position

at amounts equal at the inception of the lease to the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, to the present
value of the minimum lease payments. The rate of discount used when calculating the present value of minimum
payments of finance lease is the interest rate of finance lease payment, when it is possible to determine it, in other
cases, Company's incremental interest rate on borrowings applies. Directly attributable initial costs are included
into the asset value. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease
liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

The depreciation is accounted for finance lease assets and it also gives rise to financial expenses in the Group's
and the Company's statement of profit or loss for each accounting period. The depreciation policy for leased assets
is consistent with that for depreciable assets that are owned. The leased assets cannot be depreciated over the
period longer than lease term, unless the Group or the Company, according to the lease contract, gets transferred
their ownership after the lease term is over.

Operating lease - the Group and the Company as lessee

Leases where the lessor retains all the risk and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The gains from discounts provided by the lessor are recognised as a decrease in lease expenses over the period

of the lease using the straight-line method.

lf the result of sales and lease back transactions is an operating lease and the transaction has been carried out at

fair value, any profit or loss is recognised immediately. lf the sales price is lower than the fair value, any profit or
loss is recognised immediately, except for the cases when the loss is compensated by lower than market prices for
lease payments in the future. The profit is then deferred and it is amortised in proportion to the lease payments over
a period, during which the assets are expected to be operated. lf the sales price exceeds the fair value, a deferral
is made for the amount by which the fair value is exceeded and it is amortised over a period, during which the

assets are expected to be operated.
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2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.18. Finance lease and operating lease (cont'd)

Operating lease - the Group and the Company as Iessor

Assets leased under operating lease in the statement of financial position of the Group and the Company are
accounted for depending on their nature. lncome from operating lease is recognised as other income in profit or loss
within the lease period using the straight-line method. All the discounts provided to the operating lessee are
recognised using straight-line method during the lease period by reducing the lease income. lnitial direct expenses
incurred in order to generate lease income are included in the carrying value of the leased asset.

2.1 9. Non-current employee benefits

According to the requirements of Lithuanian Labour Code, each employee leaving the Group or the Company at the

age of retirement is entitled to a one-off payment in the amount of 2-month salary.

The past service costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis in profit or loss immediately after the

assessment of such liability. Any gains or losses appearing as a result of curtailment and/or settlement are recognised
in profit or loss as incurred.

The above mentioned employee benefit obligation is calculated based on actuarialassumptions, using the projected

unit credit method. Obligation is recognised in the statement of financial position and reflects the present value of

these benefits on the preparation date of the statement of financial position. Present value of the non-current

obligation to employees is determined by discounting estimated future cash flows using the discount rate which
reflects the interest rate of the Government bonds of the same currency and similar maturity as the employment
benefits. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income as incurred.

2.20. Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantees provided for the liabilities of the sister companies (i.e. companies controlled by the same parent)

during tfre initiat recognition are accounted at estimated fair value as distribution to shareholder and financial liability

in the balance sheet.

Subsequent to initial recognition this financial liability is amortised and recognised as income depending on the

related amortisation / repayment of the sister company's financial liability to the bank. lf there is a possibility that the

sister company may fail to fulfil its obligations to the bank, a financial liability of the Company is accounted for at the

higher of amortised value and the value estimated according to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.

2.21. Granįs and subsidies

Grants and subsidies (hereinafter "grants") intended for the purchase, construction or other acquisition of non-current

assets are considered as asset-related grants. Assets received free of charge are also allocated to this group of
grants. The amount of the asset related grants is recognised in profit and loss gradually according to the depreciation
iate of the assets associated with this grant. ln profit or loss, a relevant expenses account is reduced by the amount
of grant amortisation. Grants are accounted for at the fair value of the assets acquired or received.

Grants received as a compensation for the expenses or unearned income of the current or previous reporting period,

also, allthe grants, which are not grants related to assets, are considered as grants related to income. The income-
related grants are recognised as used in parts to the extent of the expenses incurred during the reporting period or
unearned income to be compensated by that grant.

2.22. Trade and other payable

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the

effective interest rate method.

The nominal or cost value of the other payables is assumed to appropriate their fair value, if these are current

liabilities.
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2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.23. lncome tax

The Group companies are taxed individually, irrespective of the overall results of the Group. lncome tax charge is
based on profit for the year and considers deferred taxation. The charge for taxation included in these financial
statements is based on the calculation made by the management in accordance with tax legislation of the Republic
of Lithuania and Ukraine.

lncome tax rate of 15o/o has been introduced starting from '1 January 2010 for companies operating in the Republic
of Lithuania. Standard income tax rate in Ukraine for the year 2017 was 18o/o (2016: 18o/o).

Tax losses can be carried forward for indefinite period, except for the losses incurred as a result of disposal of

securities and/or derivative financial instruments and for the losses accumulated in the Ukrainian company (under

the Ukrainian law, losses can be carried forward for 4 years). Such carrying forward is disrupted if the Company
changes its activities due to which these losses incurred except when the Company does not continue its activities
due to reasons which do not depend on the Company itself. The losses from disposal of securities and/or derivative
financial instruments can be carried forward for 5 consecutive years and can only be used to reduce the taxable
income earned from the transactions of the same nature.

From2014 tax losses carried forward can cover not more than 70 percent of the taxable profit of a taxable period

according to Lithuanian laws.

Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method. Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates expected to apply
to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled based
on tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the date of the statement of financial position.

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in the statement of financial position to the extent the management
believes they will be realised in the foreseeable future, based on taxable profit forecasts. lf it is believed that part of

the deferred tax is not going to be realised, this part of the deferred tax asset is not recognised in the financial
statements.

2.24. Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the

enterprise and thį amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. Sales are recognised net of VAT and discounts.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when delivery has taken place and transfer of risks and rewards has

been completed.

Revenue from services is recognised when services are rendered.

Dividend income from subsidiaries is recognised in the Company's stand-alone financial statements when the

dividends are declared by the subsidiary.

lnterest income is recognised on an accrual basis (using the effective interest rate). lnterest income is included in

financial and investing activities result in profit or loss.

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight line basis over
the lease terms.

Fines and penalties are recognized as income on the date of receipt of inflow.
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2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.25. lmpairment of assets

Financial assets

Financial assets are reviewed for impairment at each date of the statement of financial position

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, whenever it is probable that the Company will not collect all amounts
due according to the contractual terms of loans or receivables, an impairment or bad debt loss is recognised in profit

or loss. The reversal of impairment losses previously recognised is recorded when the decrease in impairment loss
can be justified by an event occurring after the write-down. Such reversal is recorded in profit or loss. However, the

increased carrying amount is only recognised to the extent it does not exceed the amortised cost that would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

lf there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value
because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the

difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

lmpairment of non-financial assets

Non_financial assets, except for goodwill, įnventories and deferred tax, are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. lf any such indication
exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its

recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Reversal of impairment losses recognised in

prior years is recorded when there is an indication that the impairment losses recognised for the asset no longer exist
or have decreased. The reversal is accounted for in the same caption of profit or loss as the impairment loss. An
impairment loss of the goodwill is recognised in profit or loss.

An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that

are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or

CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

2.26. Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with lnternational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
EU requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingencies, at the reporting date and within the next

financial year. The significant areas of estimation used in the preparation of the accompanying financial statements
relate to depreciation (Notes 2.8,2.9,4, 6), amortisation (Note 2.7 and Note 5), impairment of buildings (Note 2.8,

Note 4), non-current employee benefits (Note 2.19 and Note 15), impairment evaluation of goodwill (Note 2.4, Note

5), recognition of deferred income tax asset (Note 2.23, Note 23), and impairment evaluation of other assets (Note

2.25, Note 8). Future events may occur which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change.
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management's experience and other factors,

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to

accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

2.27. Fair value measurement

A number of the Group's and the Company's accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair

value, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous
market to which the Group and the Company have access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its

non-performance risk.
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2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

2.27. Fair value measurement (cont'd)

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group and the Company use market observable data as
far as possib|e. Ēair values are categorised within different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used

in the valuation techniques as follows:

o Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

r Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);

o Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

lf the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised within different levels of the

fair value hierarchy, the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value

hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Group and the Company recognize transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting

period during which the change has occurred.

Fair values have been determined for measurement and / or disclosure purposes based on the following methods.

Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes

specific to that asset or liability:

Note 6 - lnvestment proPertY
Note 3 - Financial instruments - fair values and risk management

2.28. Gontingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements, except for contingent liabilities associated with

acquisūions. They are disclosed ūnless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is

remote.

A contingent asset is not recognised in the financial statements but disclosed when an inflow or economic benefits

are probable.

2.29. Subsequent events

Subsequent events that provide additional information about the Group's / the Company's position at the date of

statements of financial position (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements. Subsequent events that

are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes when material.

3. Financial instruments - fair values and risk management

The Group and the Company are exposed to the financial risk in their operations, i.e. credit risk, liquidity risk and

market risk lforeign currency risk, interest rate risk). To manage these risks, the Group and the Company seek to
mitigate potentiaiadverse effects which could negatively impact the financial performance of the Group and the

Company.

Credit risk

The Group and the Company do not have any significant concentration of trading counterparties. The Group's
receivables from two major cūstomers as at 31 December 2017 amounted to 9.3% and 8'4o/o, respectively (14.2o/o

and6.2o/o as at 3'1 December 2016) of the total Group's trade receivables. The Company's receivables from two

major customers as at 31 December 2017 amounted to 13.3% (paid) and 11.9%, respectively (14.2Yo (paid) and

6.20/o as at 31 December 2016) of the total Company's trade receivables.

The Company has one customer in the segment of paper and paper products whose sales revenue exceeds 10o/o of

the Company's annual sales revenue.
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3. Financial instruments - fair values and risk management (cont'd)

Credit risk (cont'd)

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, consequently,

the Company's management considers that its maximum exposure is reflected by the amount of current and non-

current trade and other receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and cash and cash equivalents recognised

at the date of the statement of financial position, Credit risk or risk that a counterparty will not fulfil its obligations, is

controlled by credit terms and monitoring procedures, using services of external credit insurance and debt recovery

agencies. T-he Company's intent is to maximize the number of insured clients, with clients who are not insured by a

cįdit insurance company, the Company usually only works on the basis of an advance payment.

The Group's and the Company's trade debtors ageing analysis is provided in Note 8.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the Group's and the Company's cash and cash equivalents is equal to the

fair value of cash and cash equivalents classified as cash and cash equivalents at the date of the preparation of the

statements of financial position. The management of the Group and the Company considers that the risk arising from

placement of cash and cash equivalents at bank accounts and other short-term financial instruments is not significant,

as placements are made only in commercial banks in Lithuania, which have high credit ratings.

Liquiditv risk

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at 31 December 2017 and 2016
based on contractual undiscounted payments:

amount
lnterest bearing

borrowings
Finance lease

obligations
Trade payables
Other current

liabilities
Balance as at

31 December 2017
lnterest bearing

borrowings
Finance lease

obligations
Trade payables
Other current

liabilities
Balance as at

31 December2016

35,373,445

221,269

16,430,016

791,959

52,816,689

44,950,281

692,361

18,257,849

844,691

64,745,182

Totalįto5
veanS

More than 5
veanS

On
demand

Less than 3
months

3to 12
monįhs

18,648,037

15,540

36,100,611

222,785

16,430,016

79'1,959

3,408,843

78J30

16,430,016

543,740

14,043,731

129,115

248,219

53,545,37114,172,846 18,663,577248,219 20,460,729

46,030,039

700,669

18,257,849

844,691

27,984,694

223,898

372,761

3,368,003

139,311

17,767,849

471,930

14,677,342

337,460

490,000

29,208,592 65,833,24821,747,093 15,504,802372,761
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3. Financial instruments - fair values and risk management (cont'd)

Liquiditv risk (cont'd)

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company's financial lįabilities as at 31 December 2017 and
2016 based on contractual undiscounted payments:

lnterest bearing
borrowings

Finance lease
obligations

Payables to related
parties

Trade payables
Guarantees issued

for the related
parties

Other current
liabilities

as at
31 December 2017

lnterest bearing
borrowings

Finance lease
obligations

Payables to related
parties

Trade payables
Guarantees issued

for the related
parties

Other current
lia

Balance as at
31 December2015

16,891,723

72,925

1,579,779

8,536,793

3,871,633

269,787

31,222,640

19,749,030

286,758

100,895

9,174,774

4,423,14,9

380,630

34,115,236

The interest payments on variable interest rate loans in the table above reflect average market interest rates at the
period end, and these amounts may change as market interest rates change. lt is not expected that the cash flows

included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.

As disclosed in Note 13, the Group and the Company has a secured bank loans that contains a loan covenant. A
future breach of covenant may require the Group to repay the loan earlier than indicated in the above table. Under
the agreement the covenant is monitored in a regular basis by the Finance team, and regularly reported to the

management to ensure compliance with the agreement.

As at 31 December 2017 the Company had a guarantee issued to the bank to secure the loans of EUR 3,162

thousand of its subsidiary Grigeo Klaipeda AB (as at 3'1 December 2016: the loans of EUR 3,800 thousand) and of

its indirect subsidiary Grigeo Recycling UAB EUR 710 thousand (as at 31 December2016: the loans of EUR 623
thousand).

As described in Note 30, as at 31 December 2017 current liabilities of the Group and the Company exceeded its

current assets. The Company uses overdrafts and other short-term credits; furthermore as described in Note 30,

some repayment terms for the current loans have been already rescheduled subsequently and other are expected
to be rescheduled.

More than
5 vears TotalLess than 3

months
3to 12
months t to 5 yearsOn

demand

17,115,016

73,411

1,579,779

8,536,793

3,871,633

269,787

8,277,583

39,1 57

92,998

7,502,829

6,173

3,871,633

2,909

1,334,604

28,O81

1,579,779

8,536,793

173,880

7,509,002 31,446,4193,874,542 11,653,137 9,409,738

8,712,481

142,190

490,000

10,041,111

73,411

20,109,423

289,649

100,895

9,174,774

4,423,149

380,630

4,423,149

135,935

1,355,831

74,O48

100,895

8,684,774

244,695

10,114,522 34,478,52010,460,243 9,344,6714,559,084
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3. Financial instruments - fair values and risk management (cont'd)

lnterest rate risk

The major part of the Group's and the Company's borrowings (loans and finance lease obligations) are subject to

variable rates, related to LIBOR, EURIBOR, which creates an interest rate risk (Notes 13 and 14).

ln 2016 the Company entered into two interest rate swap agreements with the bank establishing fixed interest rates

on loans. The agreements come into effect on 31 March 2016 and will be effective until 31 December 2020. As at 31

December ZOi tne fair value of the financial instrument, which is calculated by the bank, amounted to EUR 68

thousand for the Company and EUR 120 thousand for the Group (as at 31 December 2016: the fair value of the

financial instrument amounted to EUR 137 thousand for the Company and EUR 225 thousand for the Group). As at

31 December 2017 the Company's financial instruments have a nominal value EUR 12,736 thousand, the Group's -
EUR 24,818 thousand (as at 31 December 2016: the Company's financial instruments have a nominalvalue EUR
15,981 thousand and the Group's - EUR 32,036 thousand).

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group's profit before tax to a reasonably possible change in

interest rates, with all other variables held constant (through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

Effect on the
profit before the

income tax

2017
EUR
EUR

2016
EUR
EUR

(422,073)
422,073

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company's profit before tax to a reasonably possible change
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant (through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

Effect on the
profit before the

income tax
2017
EUR
EUR

2016
EUR
EUR

(184,470)
184,470

Foreiqn exchange risk

The Group's and the Company's monetary assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are mainly

denominated EUR, consequently the management of the Company believes that foreign exchange risk is

insignificant.

(156,742)
156,742

Effect on equityIncrease/decrease
in basis points

(26,964)
26,964

(34,353)
34,353

+1 00
-1 00

+1 00
-100

lncrease/decrease
in basis points Effect on equity

(12,e04)
12,904

(15,888)
15,888

+1 00
-100

+1 00
-1 00
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3. FinanciaI įnstruments _ faįr values and rįsk management (cont'd)

Foreiqn exchange risk (cont'd)

Monetary assets and liabilities of the Group denominated in various currencies as at 31 December 2017 were as
follows (equivalent in EUR):

Grou Other
Receivables

Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings and finance lease

obligations
Payables

Total

Monetary assets and liabilities of the Group denominated in various currencies as at 31 December 2016 were as
follows (equivalent in EUR):

G Other
Receivables

Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings and finance lease

obligations
Payables

Total 22

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in currency exchange rates, with all

other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax:

Effect on the
the income tax

2017
USD
USD

235
(235)

22

UAH
UAH
2016
USD
USD

UAH
UAH

'198

198

Fair value of fįnancial instruments

The carrying values of the Group's and the Company's principal financial instruments, trade and other payables,

longterm and short-term borrowings, approximates their fair values.

EURUAH USD
14,770,903

393,586

(35,594,714)

(16,957,991)
(37,388,216)

353,267
145,119

(263,584)
234,802

(400)
(400)

EURUAH USD
12,077,831

555,1 93

(45,642,642)

(19,269,261)
(52,278,8791

227,917
11,771

(166,721)
72,967

points
rease in basis

+10

-10

+'10

-10

+10

-'10

+10

-10
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3. Financial instruments - fair values and risk management (cont'd)

Fair value of financial instruments (cont'd)

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair

value hierarCny. ffre carrying of financial liabilities not measured at fair value approximates their fair value.

31 December 2017:

Fair value
Group

Total

F l lįabilities at fair
value

lnterest rate swap used for
hedging

Financial liabilities not
measured at fair value

lnterest bearing loans and
borrowings

Finance lease obligations
Total financial Iiabilitįes

(120,324)

(35,373,44s)

(221,26e)
715,

3f December 2016:

Fair value
Group

Total

Financial liabilities at fair
value

lnterest rate swap used for
hedging

Financial Iiabilities not
measured at fair value

lnterest bearing loans and
borrowings

Finance lease obligations
Total financial liabilities

(224,629)

(44,950,281)

31 December 2017

Fair value
Company

Total

Financial liabilities at fair
value

lnterest bearing loans and
borrowings

Financial liabilities not
measured at fair value

Interest bearing loans and
borrowings

Finance lease obligations
Total financial liabilities

(67,831)

(6e2,361)
45,867,271)

(16,891,723)

(72,e25)

Carrying
amount

Level 3Total Level 1 Level 2
Note

(120,324)

(35,373,445)

(221,26e)
(35,7f 5,038))

(120,324)

(35,373,445)

(221,26e)
(35,715,038)

Carrying
amount

Level 2 Level 3
Note

Total Level 1

(224,629)

(44,950,281)

(6e2,361)
(45,867,2711

(224,62e)

(44,950,281)

(692,361)
(45,867,2711

Garrying
amount

Level 3Level 1 Level 2
Note

Total

(67,831)

(16,891,723)

(72,e25)
(17,032,4791

(16,891,723)

(72,e25)

| (17,032,4791

(67,831)

(17,032,4
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Financial liabilities at fair value
lnterest bearing loans and

borrowings
Financial liabilities not
measured at fair value

lnterest bearing loans and
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Finance lease obligations
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 Decembēr 2017

(all amounįs ers in ĖUR unless otherwise stated)

3. Financial instruments - fair values and risk management (cont'd)

Fair value of financial instruments (cont'dl

3l December 2016:

(137,574)

(19,749,030)

(286,758)
17

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments:

a) The carrying amount of current trade and other accounts receivable, current accounts payable and short-

term borrowings approximates fair value;

b) The fair value of non-current borrowings is based on the quoted market price for the same or similar issues
or on the current rates available for borrowings with the same maturity profile.

The fair value of financial instruments įs determined based on observable market inputs, apart from market quoted

prices; therefore, the fair value of interest bearing loans and borrowings as well as finance lease obligatįons is
attributed to Level 2; the value of cash is attributed to Level '1.

(137,574)

(19,749,030)

(286,758)
(20,173,3621

(137,574)

(19,749,030)

(286,758)
(20,173,3621
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TOTAL

129,679,823

29,008,680
(1,393,668)

(156,452)

(1 02,350)

157,036,033

2,482,630
(3,415,153)

(32,813)

(181,987)

155,888,710

53,046,828

1 1,538,159

(1,284,388)

(''us,r.r i
(58,632)

63,086,736

14,371,223

(3,374,961)

(,1r,.'t.)

(130,587)

73,934,598

93,949,297

81,954,112

4. PropeĖy, plant and equipment

Group

Balance as at 31 December
2015

Additions
Disposals and write-offs

Transfer from constructįon in
progress to property, plant and

equipment
RecĮassifications

Transfer to inventories for sale
Effect of foreign currency

translation
Balance as at 31 December

2016
Additions

Disposals and write-offs
Transfer from construction in
progress to property, plant and

equiPment
Reclassifications

Transfer to inventories for sale
Effect of foreign currency

translation
Balance as at 31 December

2017
Accumulated depreciation and

impairment:
Balance as at 3'l December

2015
Depreciation

I mpairment loss/(reversal)
Disposals and write-offs

Reclassifications
Transfer to inventories for sale

Effect of foreign currency
translation

Balance as at 31 December
2016

Depreciation
I mpairment loss/(reversal)
Disposals and write-offs

Reclassifications
Transfer to inventories for sale

Effect of foreign currency
translation

Balance as at 31 December
2017

Net book value as at 31
December 2016

Net book value as at 31
December 2017

Gonstruction
in progress

and
orepavments

Machinery
and

equipment
Vehicles Other

assets
Buildings

and
structures

1,714,767

166,882
(86,800)

114,467

(1,67e)

1,907,637

156,747
(1 18,459)

(4,564)

1,941,361

925,121

265,558

(63,746)

(688)

1,126,245

238,971

(82,133)

(2,20e)

1,280,874

781,392

660,487

2,107,691

128,294
(183,278)

138,686

(1 8,1 52)

(3,33e)

2,169,9O2

204,856
(290,65e)

288,525

(6,002)

2,356,622

1,516,311

320,304

(182,772)
(13,632)

(1 ,e81)

1,638,230

278,899

(28e,926)

(5,202)

1,622,001

531,672

744,621

9,950,727

27,443,760

(27,143,097)

10,251,390

1,932,015

(11,594,882)

10,251 ,390

588,523

588,523

35,208,004

105,963
(40,408)

3,646,237

(57,220)

39,861,863

16,605
(183,871)

2,963,608

(e8,215)

42,559,990

7,347,062

2,053,830

(28,286)
(434)

(27,241)

9,344,931

3,332,456

(183,371i

(57,717)

'12,435,799

30,515,932

30,124,191

(713)

79,698,634

1,163,781
(1,083,182)

23,243,707

18,865
(156,452)

(40,112)

102,845,241

172,407
(2,822,164)

8,342,749

(32,813)

(73,206)

108,432,214

43,258,334

8,898,467

(1,009,584)
'14,066

(155,231)

(28,722)

50,977,330

10,520,897

(2,81e,031)

(17,813)

(65,459)

58,595,924

51,867,911

49,836,290
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TOTAL

75,153,311

12,845,935
(311,051)

(1s6,452)

87,531,743

1,715,480
(2,718,e52)

(32,813)

86,495,458

30,938,831

6,973,830
(280,8e0)

(155,231)

37,476,540

7,834,397
(2,715,867)

(17,813)

42,577,257

50,055,203

43,918,201

390,318
213,202

520

4. PropeĖy, plant and equipment (cont'd)

Company

Balance as at 31
December 2015

Additions
Disposals and write-offs

Transfer from construction in
progress to property, plant

and equipment
Transfer to inventories for

sale
Balance as at 31
December 2016

Additions
Disposals and write-offs

Transfer from construction in
progress to property, plant

and equipment
Transfer to inventories for

sale
Balance as at 31
December 2017

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment:
Balance as at 31
December 2015

Depreciation
Disposals and write-offs

Transfer to inventories for
sale

Reclassifications
Balance as at 31
December 2015

Depreciation
Disposals and write-offs

Transfer to inventories for
sale

Reclassifications
Balance as at 31
December 2017

Net book value as at 31
December 2016

Net book value as at 31
December 2017

Machinery and equipment
Vehicles

Total

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the net book value of the Group's and Company's property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance lease was as follows:

As at 31
December 2016

Vehicles Other
assets

Construction
in progress

and
prepayments

Buildings
and

structures

Machinery
and

equipment

4,576,967

12,604,216

(6,943,372)

10,237,811

1,496,137

(1 1 ,1 54,531 )

10,237,811

579,417

579,417

53,553,861

1,981
(211,773)

4,427,O40

(156,452)

57,614,657

32,547
(2,553,355)

8,221,713

(32,813)

63,282,749

26,885,901

5,619,381
(1e2,447)

(155,231)

32,157,604

6,422,316
(2,553,346)

(17,813)

36,008,761

25,457,053

27,273,988

542,241

71,604
(38,2e6)

578,364

56,200
(28,4e3)

606,07'l

271,057

89,855
(27,4e3)

333,419

65,395
(25,439)

373,375

244,945

232,696

2,815

1 ,1 03,635

95,660
(60,e82)

133,038

1,271,351

130,596
(122,044)

1,279,903

772,135

'190,033
(60,e50)

901,218

175,237
(122,O22)

954,433

370,133

325,470

15,376,607

72,474

2,380,479

17,829,560

(15,060)

2,932,818

20,747,318

3,009,738

1,074,561

4,084,299

1,171,449
(15,060)

5,240,688

'|.3,745,261

15,506,630

Group
As at 3l

December 2016
As at 31

December 2017
As at 3'l

December 20{7
603,062
396,027
999,089

107,194
120,892
228,085

237,504
272,567
510,070
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(all amounts are in ĖĮJR unlēss othērwise stated)

4. PropeĖy, plant and equipment (cont'd)

The depreciation charge of the Group's and the Company's property, plant and equipment for the years 2017 and

2016 is included in the following items of profit or loss:

Gom

Cost of production
General and administrative

expenses
Selling and distribution expenses

Total

Production line and buildings
Reconstruction of manufacturing plant
Modernization of paper manufacturing

machine
Dust removal system for the tissue

machine rewinder
Other projects

Total

As at 31
December 2016

11,242,290

160,742

135,127

1 1 ,538,159

As at 3l
December 2017

7,715,218

33,293

85,886
7

As at 31
December 2016

6,827,775

66,411

79,644
6,973,830

As at 31 December 2017,lhe part of the Group's and the Company's property, plant and equipment with a net book
value of EUR 67,346 thousand and EUR 33,952 thousand, respectively (3'1 December 2016: EUR 69,829 thousand

and EUR 32,109 thousand, respectively) is pledged as a security for repayment of the loans granted by banks
(Note 13).

Property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company with an acquisition cost of EUR 17 ,292 thousand and

EUR 1i,6ZS thousand, respectively, were fully depreciated as at 31 December 2017 (EUR 20,469 thousand and

EUR 11,946 thousand as at 31 December 2016, respectively), but were still in active use.

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets in the cash flow statement are shown together
with the change in the payable amount for loans at the year-end for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

As at 31 December, the Group's and the Company's constructįons in progress and prepayments include unfinished
projects:

2016

Group
Estimated

date of
comple-

tion

8,098,319
1,380,000

875,000

925,900
11 9

2017
2017

2017

245,000

605,000 2017

Grou
As at 3'l

December 2017
14,144,O24

87,904

139,295
1

2017

Estįma-
ted date
of comp-

letion

Carrying
amount

Total
estimated
costs of

the
proiect

Carrying
amount

Total
estimated
costs of

the project

2018

2018

7,964,218
617,907

1,008,323

647,364
10.237,812

239,315

23,296
262,611

39



Grt .:
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coNSoLlDATED AND 9ĖPARATE FINAN0IAL STATEMENTS
tor the year ended 31 Decembēr 2017

(all amounts arē in EUR unless otherwise stated)

2016

Estimated
date of

completion

4. PropeĖy, plant and equipment (cont'd)

Company

Production line and buildings
Reconstructįon of manufacturing plant
Modernization of paper manufacturing

machine
Dust removal system for the tissue

machine rewlnder
Other projects

Total

2017
2017

2017

2017

5. lntangible assets

Gom
As at 31

December
2016

Goodwill
Other intangible assets

Total
229,538

Goodwill

on 1 March 2010, the Company acquired Grigeo investicĮų valdymas UAB, consisting of Grigeo investicijų valdymas
UAB, Avesko UAB, Grigeo Klaipeda AB and Mena Pak PAT.

Atthe acquisition of these subsidiaries goodwill of EUR 3,001,072 has been accounted for. The goodwill appeared
due to expected synergies. Goodwill is not amortised, but tested annually for impairment.

For the purpose of impairment evaluation, the goodwill as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was allocated to Grigeo
Klaipeda AB cash generating unit. The recoverable amount of cash generating unit as at 31 December 2017 and
2016 was determined based on the discounted cash flow projections based on the five-year financial forecasts
prepared by the management. Significant assumptions used for the assessment of the value in use in 2017 and 2016
are described further.

The forecasted revenues were estimated based on the management assumptions as at 31 December 2017 and 20'16

assuming that the growth in revenue will be in line with the estimated inflation rate, ongoing investment in

manufacįuring equipment productivity and efficiency gain and the actions of sale activation. The costs were projected

based on the actual cost level taking into account estimated inflatįon. Cash flows beyond the five-year period were
extrapolated using 1% growth rate that reflects the best estimate of the management based on the current situation

in the respective industry. The discount rate used by the management was estimated for cash generating unit as a
weighted average cost of capitalforthat particularcash generating unit and is equal loTo/oin2017 andSo/oin2016
(pre-tax) for cash generating units located įn Lithuania. The main assumptions app|ied in goodwill impairment
evaluation were the same in 2017 and 2016.

The assessment of the recoverable amount of the CGU as at 3'1 December 2017 and 2016 resulted in no impairment
of goodwill.

With regard to the assessment of the recoverable amount of the above mentioned cash generating unit as at 31

December 2017 and 2Oj6, the management believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the above key
assumptions would cause the carrying value of the unit to materially exceed its recoverable amount.

2017
Total

estimated
costs of

the oroiect

Total
estimated
costs of the

oroiect

Estimated
date of

completion

Garrying
amount

Carrying
amount

245,000

605,000
85o,oo0

2018

2018

7,964,218
617,907

1,008,323

647,364
10,237,812

8,098,319
1,380,000

875,000

925,900
11,279,219

239,315

23,296
262,611

Group
As at 3l

December
2016
3,001,072

942,528
3,943,600

As at 3'l
December

2017

238,552
238,552

As at 31
December

2017
3,001,072
1,338,994
4,340,066
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Total

2,623,467
181,598
(35,841)

(127)
2,769,097

547,746
(8,e5e)

(318)
3,307,566

1,630,873
231,557
(35,833)

(28)
1,926,569

150,994
(8,e58)

(33)
1,968,572

942,528

1,338,994

5. lntangible assets (cont'd)

Other intanqible assets

Group

Cost:
Balance as at 31 December 2015

Additions
Disposals, write-offs

Transfers from property, plant and
equipment

Transfer from prepayments to
intangible assets

Effect of foreign currency translation
Balance as at 31 December 2016

Additions
Disposals, write-offs

Transfers from property, plant and
equipment

Transfer from prepayments to
intangible assets

Effect of foreign currency translation
Balance as at 31 December 2017

Accumulated amortisatįon :

Balance as at 31 December 2015
Amortisation

Disposals, write-offs
Reclassifications

Effect of foreign currency translation
Balance as at 31 December 2015

Amortisation
Disposals, write-offs

Reclassifications
Effect of foreign currency translation
Balance as at 31 December 2017

Net book value as at 31 December
2016

Net book value as at 31 December
2017

Licenses,
patents Software Other assets and

prepayments
Land lease

right

(2,574)

(507,222)

908,296

728,781
149,896

876,103
539,415

653,069
35,665

688,734
35,85',1

724,585

187,369

183,711

695,088

695,088

695,088

95,253
7 72 J

102,976
7,723

110,699

592,112

584,389

59,511
20,972

(11,269)

40,718
14,528

(11,263)

43,983
14,462

74,451

69,214
5,237

58,445

25,231

16,006

1,14O,O97
10,730

(24,572)

2,574

(127)
1,128,692

3,094
(8,e5e)

507,222

(318)
1,629,731

841,833
173,641
(24,570)

(28)
990,876
92,958
(8,e58)

(33)
1,074,843

137,816

554,888

41



Grff,
Grigeo AB, comPanY code110012450

vilniaus st. 1o, Grigiškės' LT-27101 ' vilnius
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(all amounts are in EUR unress otheryise stated)

TOTAL

928,561
93,070

(28,955)

992,676
124,922

1,1',17,598

674,296
117,789
(28,e47)

763,138
115,908

5. lntangible assets (cont'd)

Other intanqible assets (cont'd)

Company

Balance as at 31 December 2015
Additions

Disposals, write-offs
Reclassifications

Transfer from construction in progress
Balance as at 31 December 2016

Addįtions
Disposals, write-offs

Reclassifications
Transfer from construction in progress

Balance as at 31 December 2017

Accumulated amortisation :

Balance as at 31 December 2015
Amortisation

Disposals, wrįte-offs
Reclassifications

Balance as at 31 December 2016
Amortisation

Disposals, write-offs
Reclassifications

Balance as at 31 December 2017

Net book value as at 31 December 2016
Net book value as at 31 December 2017

879,046

229,538

The Group and the Company have not capitalised any internally generated intangible assets. Amortisation expenses
of intangible assets are included in the following captions in profit or loss:

Com

Cost of production
General and administrative

expenses
Selling and distribution expenses

Total

As at 31
December 20{6

62,302

55,487

117,789

Part of the non-current intangible assets of the Group and the Company with the acquisition value of EUR 1,384

thousand and EUR 460 thousand, respectively, as at 31 December 2017 was fully amortised (EUR 1,271 thousand
and EUR 367 thousand as at 3'1 December 2016, respectively) but was still in use.

As at 31 December 2017, įhe Group's land lease rights with a carrying value of EUR 584 thousand (EUR 592

thousand as at 31 December 20'16) are pledged as a security for repayment of the loan granted by banks (Note 13).

238

Software
Other assets

and
prepavments

Licenses,
patents

59,511
20,972

(11,26e)

40,718
14,528

(11,263)

74,451

58,445

69,214
5,237

43,983
14,462

25,231
16,006

661,944
7,144

(17,686)

2,574
653,976

2,550

656,526

500,990
68,064

(17,684)

551,370
65,832

617,202

102,606
39,324

386,621

203,399

207,.06
64,954

(2,574)
269,486
117,135

132,588
35,197

167,785
35,614

101,701
183,222

Group
As at 31

December 20'16
137,710

83,070

10,777
231,557

As at 31
December 20{7

59,658

56,250

l'15,908

As at 3{
December 2017

59,829

83,932

7,233
150,994
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6. lnvestment propeĖy

Cost:

Balance as at 3l December 2015
Additions

Balance as at 31 December 2016
Additions
Disposals

Balance as at 31 December 2017

Accum ulated depreciation :

Balance as at 31 December 2015
Depreciation

Balance as at 3f December 2016
Depreciation

Disposals
Balance as at 3l December 2017

Net book value as at 31 December 2016
Net book value as at 31 December 2017

Com

Cost:

Balance as at 31 December 2015
Additions

Balance as at 3l December 2016
Additions
Disposals

Balance as at 31 December 2017
Accumulated depreciation :

Balance as at 3'l December 2015
Depreciation

Balance as at 3{ December 2016
Depreciation

Disposals
Balance as at 31 December 2017

Grigeo AB, comPanY code 110o12450
vilniaus st. 10, Grigiškės' LT-27101 ' vilnius

coNsoLlDATED AND 9ĖPARATĒ FlNANclAL STATĖMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017

(all amounts are in ĖUR unless othērwise statēd)

TOTAL

1,048,424

1,048,424
557,483

1,605,907

213,441
30,582

244,023
30,582

274,605
804,40',|.
331

TOTAL

1,048,424

1,048,424
557,483

1,605,907

213,441
30,582

244,023
30,582

605

Grou

1

lnvestment property represents buildings, located at Vilniaus St. 10 and Popieriaus St. 15 and Popieriaus St. 25 in

Naujieji Verkiai. Part of the investment properties are rented to third parties. Rent contracts are open-ended.
Depreciation charge is included in general and administrative expenses.

Fair value measurement

The fair value of the investment property was determined based on the cash flows from the investment property for

a 1O-year period, estimated income, estimated current income and costs. A growth of 2.5o/o was applied in the

terminal value. A discount rate of 8% was used to calculate cash flows. According to the calculation, the fair value of
investment property is approximately EUR '1.200 thousand.

Level

Group and Company As at 3l
December

2016
1,000,000lnvestment property

Total 0001

Buildings

|,6ąį,,+zl

1,048,424

557,483
1,605,907

213,441
30,582

244,023
30,582

1 1

274,605
804,401

Construction in
progress and

pąy-!ne-!!ts

557,483
(557,483)

Construction in
progress and
oreoavments

Buildings

1,049,424

1,049,424

557,483
1,605,907

213,441
30,582

244,023
30,582

274,605

557,483
(557,483)

Garrying amount
As at 31

December
2016

804,401
804,401

As at 31
December

2017
1,200,000
1,2oo,ooo

As at 3't
December

2017
1,331,302
1,331,302

Fair value
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7. lnventories

Grou

Grigeo AB, comPanY code 1 10012450
viIniaus St' 1o' Grigiškės, LT-27101' vilnius

coNsoLlDATĒD AND 9EPARATĖ FINAN0IAL STATĖMENTS
for thē year ended 31 Decembēr 2017

(all amounts are in ĖUR unlēss otheruise stated)

Gom
As at 31

December
2016

1,381,170
529,320

1,493,478
19,570
'13,000

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods
Goods in transit

Prepayments
Total:

As at 31 December 2017, įhe cost of the Group's and the Company's inventories was decreased by EUR 262

thousand and EUR 259 thousand, respectively (31 December 20'16: EUR 209 thousand and EUR 204 thousand,
respectively) to net realisable value. Net realisable value adjustment was accounted for under cost of sales.

As described in the Note 13, as at 31 December 2017 the Group and the Company have pledged inventory with a

carrying value of EUR 4,803 thousand and EUR 1,158 thousand respectively (31 December 2016: EUR 4,691

thousand and EUR 1,158 thousand, respectively) as a collateral to the banks for the loans received.

8. Accounts receivable

As at 31
December

2016
Trade receivables, gross

Loans issued to subsidiary
Other non-current receivables

Other receivables, gross

Less: allowance for doubtful trade receivables
Total amounts receivable, net

from this amount:
Total non-current receivables

Total current receivables
817,215

7

lnformation on loans provided to related parties is presented under Note 27.

Change in allowance for doubtful trade receivables for the year 2017 and 2016 has been included into general and

admin istrative expenses.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally collectible on 7-90 days terms. The carrying amount
of the Group's and the Company's trade and other receivables approximates their fair value. lnformation on

receivables from related parties is presented under Note 27.

Movements in the allowance for impairment of the receivables (individually impaired) were as follows:

6

At the beginning of the period
lmpairment for the year

Reversed during the year
Receivables written off as uncollectible

Effect of foreign currency translation

50,231
12,813

(5,778)

266

7,686,604
690,523
126,692
57,042

9,560,861
(57,266)

9,503,595

As at 31
December

2016

As at 3l
December

2017

As at 31
December

2017
3,929,244
'1 ,138,351
3,464,484

64,992
210,584

8,807,655

1,457,733
684,569

2,192,929
156,598
20,822

4,512,651

4,038,863
1,237,088
4,062,856

205,357
420,947

9,965,111

Group
As at 31

December
2016

As at 31
December

2017

As at 3{
December

2017
14,433,469_

287,873
546,441

15,267,783
(143,613)

15,124,170

287,873
14,836,297

302,236
435,311

12,514,797
(20e,027)

12,305,770

11,777,250

302,236
12,003,534

10,234,888

178,755
283,132

10,696,775
(129,015)

10,567,760

178,755
10,389,005

GomGroup
2017 20{6 2017

129,015

57,266
71,749

209,027
71,749

(1 37,1 63)

,l43,613 209,027

226,208
12,813

(24,216)
(5,778)

At the end of the 57
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coNSoLlDATĖD AND SEPARATĖ FINANCIAL 9TATEMĖNTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017

(all amounts are in EUR unlēss otherwise stated)

Total

12,305,770
15,124,170

8. Accounts receivable (cont'd)

lmpairment allowance booked by the Group and the Company is related to receivables as at 31 December 2017 and
2016.

The ageing analysis of the Group's receivables (presented net of allowance for impaired receivables) as at 3'1

December is as follows

Receivables past due but not impaired

2016
2017

Receivables neither
past due nor impaired

10,589,189
13,037,689

Cash at bank
Cash on hand

TOTAL:

The ageing analysis of the Company's receivables (presented net of allowance for impaired receivables) as at 31

December is as follows:

Receivables past due but not impaired

Total

2016
2017

73,447 8,503,595
16,633 567,760

9. Cash and cash equivalents

Com
at 3{

December
2016

566,924
40

2,143 2,122

566 2,143 '|'22

As at 31 December 2017 , bank accounts of the Group amounting to EUR 5 thousand (2016: EUR 18 thousand) and

the Company amounting to EUR 2 thousand (2016. EUR 2 thousand) are pledged to banks for loans, as described
further in Noįe 13. As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, there were no restrictions on USe of cash balances held in the
pledged accounts.

10. Share capital and reserves

Share capital

The share capital of the Company was EUR 19,053,000 as at 31 December 2017 and as at 31 December 2016. lt is

divided įnto 65,7O0 thousand ordinary registered shares wįth the nominal value of EUR 0.29 each.

All shares of the Company are fully paid. The Company does not have any other classes of shares than the

aforementioned ordinary shares, there are no restrictions of share rights or special control rights for the shareholders
set in the Articles of Association of the Company. No shares of the Company are held by itself or its subsidiaries. No

convertible securities, exchangeable securities or securities with warrants are outstanding; likewise, there are no

outstanding acquisition rights or undertakings to increase share capital as at 31 December 2017 and 2O16.

60-90
days

90-360
days

More than
360 days

Less than
30 days

30-60
days

4,394
16,633

73,447
3,630

1,514,341
2,007,107

122,304
58,769

2,095
342

90-360
days

More
than 360

days
Less than
30 days

30-60
days

60-90
days

Receivables neither
past due nor impaired

18,432
58,767 342

607,097
1,126,626

7,804,619
9,365,392

As at 31
December

2017

As at 31
December

2017

Grou
As at 31

December
2016

538 705

538,684
21
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2016
PropoĖion

of
ownership,

otto

10. Share capital and reserves (cont'd)

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 the shareholders of the Company were:

Number of
shares

65

Three major shareholders as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are listed below:

Number of
shares

Lithuanian legal entities
Lithuanian individuals
Foreign legal entities
Forergn individuals

TOTAL:

UAB Ginvildos investicija

Mišeikienė lrena ona
Norimantas Stankevičius

TOTAL:

31,467,706
30,120,594
2,772,465
1,339,235

28,582,407
7,837,585

2,898,628

2016
PropoĖion

of
ownerchip,

oh

47.5
45.9
4.6
2.0
100

43.50
1'1.96

4.41

59.8739 318,620

Share premium

The Company's authorised capital was increased after the additional issue of shares of the total nominal value of

EUR '1,650,834 (LTL5,7OO,O00), following the resolutions of the annual general meeting of shareholders of the

Company held on 26 April 2013. The nominal value per share is EUR 0.29 (before - LTL 1), while the emission of

shares was issued for EUR 0.51 per share (equivalent in LTL -'1.76). Share premium is a difference between the

nominal value and emission price of shares, less expenses related to emission of shares.

Reserves

A legal reserve is a compulsory reserve under Lithuanian legislation. Annual transfers of not less than 5o/o of

distributable retained earnings calculated for statutory reporting purposes are required until the reserve reaches 10%

of the share capital. ln 2016, the legal reserve was fully formed. ln accordance with legislation, the reserye can be

used to cover the company's losses.

The foreign currency translation reserye is used for translation differences arising on consolidation of financial
statements of the foreign subsidiary (Note 2.5).

The reserve for own shares was formed by the decision of shareholders adopted on 29 April 2016 at a general

meeting. The reserve was formed to restrict the use of profit and to cover the acquisition cost of own shares.

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of the hedging

instrumeįt ūsed in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition in profit or loss as the hedged cash flows or

items affect profit or loss.

1't. Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's and the Company's capital management are to ensure that the Group and

the iompahy comply with externally imposed capital requirements and that the Group and the Company maintain

healthy capital ratios in order to support their business and to maximise shareholders' value (capital in the meaning
of IAS 1 comprises equity, attributable to equity holders of the parent, presented in the financial statements).

2017

Number of
shares

PropoĖion of
ownenship,

ot
IO

47.9
45.8
4.2
2.1
100

31 ,186,589
30,149,420
3,047,063
1,316,928

65,700,000

2017

Number of
shares

Proportion of
ownership,

o/o

43.50
11.93

4.41
59.84

28,582,407
7,857,585

2,898,628
39,338,620
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coNsoLlDATĖD AND SĖPARATĖ FlNANclAL STATĖMĖNTS
for the year endēd 31 December 2017

(all amounts are in ĖUR unless othērwise stated)

11. Gapital management (cont'd)

The Group and the Company manage their capital structure and make adjustments to it in the light of changes in

economic conditions and the risk characteristics of their activities. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group and the Company may issue new shares, adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to

shareholders. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes of capital management during the year
ended 31 December2017.

The Group and the Company are obliged to maintain its equity at not less than 50% of its share capital (comprised
of share capital and share surplus), as imposed by the Law on Companies of the Republic of Lithuania. As at 31

December 2017 and 2016, the Company was in compliance with the aforementioned requirement.

The Group and the Company monitor capital using debt to equity ratio. Capital includes ordinary shares, reserves,
and retained earnings attributable to the equity holders of the parent.

Gompa
2017 2016

Non-current liabilities (excluding subsidies,
grants and deferred tax liability)

Current liabilities
Total liabilities

Equity, attributable to equity holders of the
Company

Debt to equity ratio

12. Grants and subsidies

Change in grants and subsidies in the Group and the Company is as follows

Group Company

2,983,606

28,056,716

39,172,838
67,229,554

49,560,527

136%

10,214,815

20,595,875
30,810,690

38,899,468

79o/o

(51 1,817)
2,471,789

154,400
(507,087)
2,119 102

The grants mainly consist of the funds received from the EU for the purpose of construction of structures, acquisition
of machinery and equipment (non-current assets).

On 18 August the Company signed a financing and monitoring agreement with the Lithuanian Environmental
lnvestment Fund for EUR 154,000. ln 2016 the Company and the Group had no subsidized projects.

The amortisation of grants is accounted for under cost of sales in profit or loss and reduces the depreciation of related
asset expenses.

Balance as at 31 December 20{5
Received

Amortisation
Balance as at 3l December 2016

Received
Amortisation

Balance as at 31 December 2017

Group
20162017

18,639,546

37,444,036
56,083,582

56,001,844

100"/o

7,602,882

21,028,185
28,631,067

39,942,891

72o/o

4,484,121

(806,1 1 7)
3,679,004

154,400
(796,1 00)
3,036,304
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coNsoLlDATĖD AND 9EPARATE FlNANclAL STATEMENTS
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(all amounts arē in ĖuR unlēss otherwise stated)

As at 31
December

20'|.6

9,923,551

9 923

9,700,536

124,943

9,825 7g
749

As at 31
December 2016

17,630,883
7,946,429

(3,546,046)
(2,282,236)

349,622
(34e,622)

19

2016
19,749,030

7 030

13. Borrowings

Non-current borrowi ngs :

Bank borrowings secured by the
G s assets

Current borrowings:
Current portion of non-current bank borrowings

secured by the Group's/Company's assets
Current bank borrowings secured by the

Grou assets

TOTAL

Movement of liabilities related to financing activities during the year is presented in the table below:

Company

Opening balance
Loans received
Loans repaid
Received (repaid) credit lines
lnterest calculated
lnterest paid
c balance

Borrowings at the end of the year according to currency:

Grou Gom

EUR
TOTAL:

1

1

As at 3'1 December 2017 the Group and the Company had unused non-current borrowings and overdrafts of
EUR 3,190 thousand and EUR'1,229 thousand, respectively (31 December 2016: EUR 5,'101 thousand and
EUR 3,355 thousand, respectively).

lnformation on borrowings from related parties is presented under Note 27.

Compliance with loan covenants

Based on the terms of the loan and overdraft agreements, the Group and the Company have to comply with certain
financial and non-financial covenants, such as: debt service coverage ratio, EBITDA to financial liabilities ratio, capital
ratio, free cash flow indicator, and a minimum set volume of the Company's and certain of its subsidiaries bank
transactions shall be performed through the bank.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group and the Company were in compliance with all the aforementioned loan
covenants. As at 31 December 2016, the Company was in compliance with all the aforementioned loan covenants.
As at 31 December 2016, the Group was not in compliance with bank terms for the loans which amounted to

EUR 18,465 thousand; however, until 31 December 2016 the management received a confirmation from the bank
that as at 31 December 2016 the loan was not payable on demand.

Group Com
As at 3l

December
2016

As at 3l
December

2017

As at 31
December

2017

18,354,280 27,458,313 7,426,463

18.354,280 27,458,313 7,426,463

15,091 ,13'1

1,928,034

16,743,536

748,432

8,247,202

1,218,058

17.019,165 17,491,968 9,465,260
35.373.445 ų'95o'281 16,891,723

Group

As at 31
December 20{7

44,950,281
1,032,571

(1 1,789,009)
1,179,602

769,1 99
(76e,1 ee)

35.373,445

As at 31
December 2016

33,949,682
20,080,134
(6,631,566)
(2,447,969)

707,132
(707,132')

44p50,281

As at 3{
December 2017

19,749,030
1,032,571

(4,982,993)
1,093,1 '15

331,067
(331,067)

16,891,723

6 20172017
35,373,445

373
44,950,281

281 't6 723
16,891,723
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13. Borrowings (cont'd)

lnterest rates

The Group and the Company face risk due to possible interest rate fluctuation. Actual interest rates are close to

effective interest rates. As aį 31 December 2017 the Company's and the Group's interest rates are variable and

depend on EURIBOR (2016. LIBOR or EURIBOR) and on the margin agreed with the bank which meets the market

conditions. ln 2017 and 2016, the period of re-pricing of floating interest rates on borrowings varies from 1 month to

6 months.

ln 2016 the Group and the Company have entered into a fixed-rate interest swap agreement. At 31 December 2017 ,

the Group loans amounting to EUR 26.964 thousand and the Company's loans amounting to EUR 12.904 thousand
were hedged until2020.

For analysis of liquidity risk please refer to Note 3.

Pledqed assets

For bank loans the Group and the Company have pledged property, plant and equipment (Note 4), intangible assets
(Note 5), inventories (Note 7), trade accounts receivable (Note 8), bank accounts (Note 9). Shares of Grigeo
investicijų valdymas UAB and Grigeo Klaipeda AB are also pledged for the bank loans.

Terms and debt repavment schedule

The following interest rate bases are set for the borrowings as at 31 December 2017:

Group
Nominal interest Repayment Carrying

amountCurrency rate base
Overdraft
Overdraft

Secured bank
Secured bank
Secured bank
Secured bank
Secured bank
Secured bank
Secured bank
Secured bank
Secured bank
Secured bank

loan
loan
loan
loan
loan
loan
loan
loan
loan
loan

2018
2018
2018
2020
2021
2018
2019
2018
2021
2018
2020
2018

709,976
1,218,058
1,055,556
4,717,544
4,736,841

456,693
1,257 ,031
3,450,000

14,060,089
1,161,657
2,000,000

TOTAL
550 000

35.373.45

EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR

Overdraft
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan

Company Currency Nominal interest
rate base

Carrying
amount
'1,2'18,058

1,055,556
4,717,544
4,736,841

456,693
1,257 ,031
3 000

16.891.723

Repayment
period

EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR

2018
2018
2020
2021
2018
2019
2018

EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

TOTAL
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13. Borrowings (cont'd)

The following interest rate bases are set for the borrowings as at 31 December 20'16:

Group

6vērdraft
Overdraft

Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan

Company

Overdraft
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan

TOTAL:

Terms of repayment of non-current debt are as follows

Within one year
ln the period of two to five years

Grigeo AB, comPanY code 110012450
vilniaus st' 10, Grigiškės, LT-27101, vilnius

coNsoLlDATED AND SEPARATĖ FINANoIAL STATĖMĖNTS
for the year encled 31 Dēcember 2017

(all amounts are in EUR unless otherwise stated)

Carrying
amount

124,943
623,489

1,337,037
6,570,857
5,059,905
1,141,732
1,257 ,031
4,257,525

18,465,089
1,799,657

313 016
950 1

amount
124,943

1,337,037
6,570,857
5,059,905
1,141,732
1,257 ,031
4 257 525

19 7 030

Gom
As at 31

December 20{6
9,700,536
9,923,551

After 5

TOTAL: 19,624,087

14. Finance lease obligations

The assets leased by the Group and the Company under finance lease contracts mainly consist of vehicles,
machinery and equipment. The terms of the finance lease agreements are from 1 to 5 years. The currency of the

finance lease agreements is EUR.

As at 31 December 2017, the interest rate on the finance lease obligatįons is 6-month EURlBoR or 6-month

EUR LIBOR (as at 31 December 2016: fluctuates from 6-month EURIBOR or 6-month EUR LIBOR).

Repayment
pęttod
2017
2017
2018
2017
2021
2018
2018
2018
2021
2018
2018

Nominal interest
rate base
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR

Currency

EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

TOTAL:

Gurrency
Repayment

period
Nominal interest

rate base
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR
EURIBOR

2017
2018
2017
2021
2018
2018
2018

EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

Group
As at 3l

December 2017
As at 31

December 2016
As at 31

December 2017
16,743,536
27,458,313

8,247,202
7,426,463

15,091 ,131
'18,354,280

33,445,411 44,201,849 15,673,665
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coNso Ll D ATĖD AND sĖP ARATĒ FIN ANcl AL sT AT EMENTS
tor the year ended 31 December 2017

(all amounts are in EUR unless otheruise stated)

As at 3'l
December 2016

216,238
73,411

289,649

(2,8e1)

286,758

213,833
72,925

92,855
(12,0e0)

80,765
21,361

102 126

1.04o/o

5.00%

14. Finance lease obligations (cont'd)

Future minimal lease payments under the above mentioned finance lease contracts are as follows:

Within one year
From one to five years

Total finance lease obligations

lnterest
Present value of finance Iease

obligations

Finance lease obligations are
accounted for as:

- current
- non-current

As at 3'1 December 20'15

Change during the year 2016
Asat31 December2016

Change during the year 2017
As at 31 December 2017

annual
Discount rate

increase

The fair value of the Group's and the Company's finance lease liabilities approximate their carrying amount. The

Group's and the Company's obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor's charge over the leased
assets (Note 4).

15. Non-current employee benefits

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group and the Company accounted for non-current employee benefits for

employees leaving the Group or the Company at the age of retirement. Related expenses are included into operating
expenses in profit or loss.

Com

Actuarial gains and losses during 2017 and 2016 were insignificant; therefore, they were not separated and disclosed
in other comprehensive income.

Main assumptions applied while evaluating the Group's and the Company's non-current employee benefits are as
follows:

As at 31
December 2016

Group
As at 3l

December 2017
As at 3l

December 2017
As at 3{

December 2016

66,763
6,162

67,238
6,173

73,411

(486)

72,925

205,769
15,500

207,244
15,540

222,784

(1 ,515)

221,269

469,974
222,387

476,771
223,898
700,669

(8,308)

692,361

Group
163,263
(1 1,876)
151,387
(1,e45)

149,442

As at 31
December 2017

0.31o/o

5.00%
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coNsoLlDATED AND 9EPARATE FlNANclAL STATEMĒNTS

for thē yēar ended 31 December 2017
(all amounts are in EUR unless othērwise stated)

As at 3{
December

2016

16. Trade payables and other current liabilities

Terms and conditions of the financial liabilities other than borrowings are as follows:

- Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on '10 to 120-day terms,

- Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of one month.

Com
As at 31

December
2017

Trade payables
Taxes, salaries and social insurance

Advances received

10,116,572
1 ,043,163

47,916

9,275,669
860,654
39,610

Other 269 787 380 630

TOTAL 11,477 ,438 10,556,563

From this amount:
Financial liabilities Note 386 359 9 656 299

Non-financial liabilities 091 079 900 264

17. Segment information

Operating segments

For decision taking purposes, the Group and the Company are organized into three operating business units based
on their products produced and have three reportable segments: paper and paper products, hardboard and wood
processing, raw material for corrugated cardboard and related production. The Group and the Company analyse
segment information only up to gross profit, as other operating income and finance income and expenses are not

attributed to any segment. Segment information about these business segments is presented below:

1

Group
2017

Sales
Sales between

segments
Unconsolida-
ted segment

sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Depreciation

and
amortisation

Segment
property, plant

and
equipment,
investment

properŲ and
intangible

assets
Goodwill
Segment
capital

Paper and
paper

products
TOTAL

129,867,083

'129,867,083

(105,670,868)
24,196,215

14,552,799

84,624,408

3,001,072

3,587,859

Group
As at 31

December
2017

As at 3l
December

2016
'16,430,0'16

2,050,348
599,082
79'1,959

18,257,849
1,948,504

159,829
844,691

19,871,405 2',1,210,873

19,102.54017,221,975
2,649,430 2,108,333

Raw
material for
corrugated
cardboard
and related
oroduction

Total
disclosed
segments

EliminationUnallocatedHardboard

1,190,467

(3,368,950)

4,559,417

(1,000,244)
190,223

1,169,246

5,535,558

876,460

20,187,887

(20.187,887)

66,832,0'13

(16,2e8,210)

83,130,223

(52,842,366)
13,989,647

5,982,671

41,427,224

3,O01,072

1 ,583,184

128,676,616

(16,818,937)

145,495,553

(104,67O,624)
24,O05,992

13,383,553

79,088,850

3,001,072

2,71,399

46,257,256

16,108,074

2,026,215

5,383,97432,277,652

1,023,354 104,861

I

5,374,667

46,257,256

15,587,347

(520,727)

3,515,778)
2,071,569

(38,312,480)
7,944,776
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Unallocated Elimination TOTAL

102,461,347

17. Segment information (cont'd)

Group
2016

Sales
Sales between

segments
Unconsolidated
segment sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Depreciation

and amortisation
Segment

property, plant
and equipment,

investment
property and

intangible assets
Goodwill

Segment capital

Sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Depreciation and amortisation
Segment property, plant and

equipment, investment propeĄ
and intangible assets

nt ca nditure

Company 2016

Sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Depreciation and amortisation
Segment property, plant and

equipment, įnvestment properŲ and
intangible assets

ment

89,8'16,451 5,879,775

3,001,072

28,352,990

101,485,591

(8,223,535)

109,709,126

(84,260,e28)
17,224,663

10,623,713

975,756

(4,128,487)

5,104,243

(711,236)
264,520

1 , 176,585

102,461,347

(84,s72,164)
17,489,',183

1 1,800,298

95,696,226

3,001,072

29,190,278

70,976,100
(5e,562,705)

1 1,413,395
7,980,887

diture
837,288

Unallocated sales include sales not attributable to either of the listed segments, namely sales of heating energy (steam) (as the

Company has its own steam house) and other utilities.
2 Unallocated cost of sales includes costs related to unallocated sales, identifiable as expenses for purchases of wood and gas
needed for energy production.
3 Unallocated depreciation and amortisation, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, and capital expenditure are
related to energy and other utilities services sales

Company 2017 TOTAL

46,257,256
(38,312,480)

7,944,776
5,374,667

32,277,652

354

Paper and
paper

products

36,935,434
(30,616,729)

6,318,705
4,722,262

36,576,583

952 793

4,559,417
(4,445,763)

113,654
1,169,246

Raw material for
corrugated

cardboard, and
related

n
14,919j62

(1 1,eeo,983)
2,928,179
1,223,354

5,535,558 45,488,055

2 397 885

Unallocated TOTAL

56,958,839
(47,538,469)

9,420,370
7,122,201

51,089,142

51,854,596
(42,607,712)

9,246,884
5,945,616

8,632,784 45,209,367

101 717 I 005iture
1 Unallocated sales include sales not attributable to either of the listed segments, namely sales of heating energy (steam) (as the

Company has its own steam house) and other utilities services.
2 Unallocated cost of sales includes costs related to unallocated sales, identifiable as expenses for purchases of wood needed for

energy production and other utilities servįces.
3 Una-lįocated depreciation and amortisation, property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets, and capital
expenditure are related to energy and sales of other utilįties services.

53

Raw
material for
corrugated
cardboard
and related
oroduction

Total
disclosed
segments

Paper and
paper

products
Hardboard

48,570,557

(7,454,072)

56,024,629

(40,378,545)
8,192,012

4,605,646

45,915,745

3,OO1,072

17,715,824

12,3s2,022

(12,3s2,022)

36,935,434

36,935,434

(30,616,72e)
6,318,705

4,722,262

36,576,583

9,952,793

15,979,600

(76e,463)

16,749,063

(13,265,654)
2,713,946

1,295,805

7,324,123

684,373

Unallocated

Raw material for
corrugated

cardboard, and
related

production

Total
disclosed
segments

Paper and
paper

products

20,159,427
(16,804,462)

3,354,965
1,436,974

7,674,845

498.071

39,952,497

1,521,425

66,416,683
(55,116,942)

11,299,741
6,81'1,641

Total
disclosed
segments

837 288

5,879,775

5,104,243
(4,930,757)

173,486
1,176,585
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coNSoLlDATED AND 9ĒPARATE FlNANclAL STATEMĖNTS
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(all amounts are in ĖUR unless othērwise statecl)

17. Segment information (cont'd)

Payroll related expenses included in the Group's and the Company's cost of sales in2017 amount to EUR 11,642
thousand and EUR 5,258 thousand, respectively (in 2016: EUR 9,931 thousand and EUR 4,394 thousand,
respectively).

Split by countries

The following tables present information on revenue based on the location of the customers' information for the year
ended 31 December:

Com
6

26,810,661Domestic market (Lithuania)
Foreign market

Poland
Estonia
Latvia

Ukraine
Finland

Denmark
Sweden
Belarus

Great Britain
The Netherlands

Germany
Czech Republic

Austria
Russia

ItalY
Hungary

other countrįes
France
Norway
Slovakia

6,074,902
5,131,982
5,905,137
1,045,844
2,859,806
4,867,678
2,069,647

401,272
802,648
91,298
43,756

417,306

Forei n market total
TOTAL

Property, plant and equipment and investment property location

148 178

201
50,859,604

2016

89,331
221,511

1,908
107,527
16,625

142,400
73,1 08

18,920

16,549
57,475

Grou

Lithuania
Ukraine
TOTAL:

18. Other operating income

Profit from sale of emission allowances
Rental income

Gain from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Gain on sale of scrap
I nsurance compensations

Other income

50

156 70
464,822

Group
2017 2016 2017

34,589,918

23,899,010
6,558,'128
6,324,566
5,329,575
6,127,619
5,989,184
4,220,585
1,502,867
2,491,890

853,834
783,089

1,462,675
94,911

830,533
97,1 38

431,863
484,500
171,543
107,527
110,392

67.871.429

29,013,564

14,822,653
6,365,046
7,186,229

693,336
3,447,550
4,206,459
3,198,520

734,383
39,770

536,991
68,783
5,224

304,979
20,000
59,314

153,053
15,652

104,594

41,962,536

43,081,573

37,966,578
8j86,775
7,656,728
6,424,902
6,190,635
5,189,986
4,656,662
2,035,387
1,742,553
1 ,389, 1 53
1,356,596
1,311,823

796,627
762,421
336,129
295,133
228,719
154,110
104,594

86,785,5f 1

r29,867,083 102,461,347 70,976,100

2016 t 20172017
83,026,077

259.337
45,249,50394,356,972

396,726
94,753,698 45,249,50383,285,4',14

Group
20172017 2016

258,825
19,329

303,049

66,864
70,081

197,677

284,800
82,097

64,003

163,787
81,987

238,647

179,075
15,608

17 5,071

20,3s2
10,747

446,336
915,321 847,189915,825TOTAL
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2016
2,854

60,554
168 635
232,043

Com
2016
1,879,421

1,316,595

874,494
128,933
79,644

789
876

Com
2016

19. Other operating expenses

Expenses related to rented property
Expenses from insured events

Other ses
AL:

20. Selling and distribution expenses

Fuel and transportation services
Mediation, marketing, promotion and

representation
Salaries and social insurance
Asset repair and maintenance
Depreciation and amortisation

Other sales nses
TOTAL:

21. General and administrative expenses

Salaries and social insurance
Taxes, except for income tax
Asset repair and maintenance
Depreciation and amortisation

Security services
lnsurance services

Bank charges
Advertising and representation

Professional services
Consulting services

Fuel and transportation services
Listing of securities and related costs

Support
Commun ication services

Allowance (reversal) for impairment of doubtful
receivables

Other administrative
TOTAL:

52,373
911

2,425,325
537,587
297,538
179,482
247,743
90,305
35,423

116,055
85,439
18,8'16
45,752
33,979

1 19,003
23,933

70,749

938 001
130

1,111,342
204,747
'1 '13,943

152,480
61,599
22,117
18,560
35,602
20,154
'16,000

22,549
34,018

231,682
7,996

12,813

301 237
2

Group
2016 20172017

100,147
211,562

714
6,522

395,064
311,709 402,300

G
2017 2016 t 2017

1,606,227
193,493
146,528
444,933

1,297,801
132,072
1 45,905
462,361

1,130,892
191,'103
85,886

270,959

6,047,584

1,977 ,330

4,762,272

'1,383,963

2,698,501

1,961,975

10,416,095 8,184,374 6,339,316

Group
2017 2016 2017

2,240,256
529,521
263,460
243,812
226,896
98,304
62,875
79,464
61,733
34,286
45,968
34,018

238,709
27,138

11,813

636,632

1,336,721
228,870
166,201
97,'189
61,751
18,617
12,869
54,'135
44,551
14,400
24,875
33,979

118,426
9,266

71,749

464,095
4,834,885 2,757,694
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coNsoLlDATĖD AND SĖPARATE FlNANclAL STATĖMĖNTS
I tor įhe

(all amounts are in
year
ĖUR

ended 31 December 2017
u nless otherwise stated)

22. Finance income and expenses

lnterest income
Foreign exchange gains, net value

Dividends received
Other finance income
Total finance income

lnterest on loans and leases
Net foreign exchange losses

Other finance expenses
Total finance expenses

Current income tax
Correction of income tax for previous periods

Deferred income tax (income)
lncome tax expenses (income) recorded in

Profit before tax
lncome tax expenses computed at 15o/o

Effect of higher tax rate in Ukraine
Effect of change in tax rate

Change in not recognised deferred tax asset
Use of investment exemption for the current

year
Correction of income tax for previous periods

Non-deductible exPenses
Non-taxable income

lncome tax expenses (income) repoĖed in

Com

Finance income and net 591 133

The Group and the Company capitalise borrowing costs for all qualifying assets where construction was commenced
on or after 1 January 2009. ln 2017 lhe Group and the Company capitalised borrowing costs of EUR 13,767 and

13,767, respectively (in 2016: EUR '116,503 and EUR 51,236, respectively). lnterest rate is 1.35% + 6-month
EUROLIBOR.

Foreign exchange profit in the Group in2017 and 2016 is generated by subsidiary Mena Pak PAT, which is operating
in Ukraine.

23. lncome tax

Com
Components of income tax exPenses 2016

2016
28,718

898,000
1,220

927,938

(335,469)
(204)

(1,132)
(336,805)

'178,506

29,207
(42,543)

165,170

3,274,567
491 ,1 85

(290,553)

29,207
79,029

(143,6e8)

165,170

or loss

The reported amount of income tax expenses attributable to the year can be reconciled to the amount of income tax

expenses that would result from applying statutory income tax rate to pre-tax income as follows:

2016

or loss

The biggest impact of the change in the Company's unrecognized corporate income tax is the investment exemption
which aš at 31 December 2017 amounts to EUR 1,040 thousand for the Company, and EUR 2,196 thousand for the

Group (31 December 2016: EUR 171 thousand for the Company and EUR 547 thousand for the Group).
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2017 2016 2017

(717,625)

(3,481)
(721,106)

(687,758)

7,980
14,156

11,212
33,348

(5e0,734)

(1,731)
(592,465)

(575,053)

11,626
3,610

2,176
17,412

475,051
5,849

503,775

(318,ee4)
(463)

(2,740)
(322,1971

22,875

l8f ,578

Group
2016 20172017
441,769
(2,240\

(425,536)

13,993

229,407
(7,323)

(880,e12)

(658,828)

852,888
(5e,55e)

(1,645,2e6)

(851,967)

Group
2016 20172017

8,449,773
1,267,466

5,668

(2,317,035)

(5e,55e)
262,451
(10,958)

(851,967)

4,498,483
674,772

272

(611,e45)

(199,917)

(2,240)
166,848
(13,7e7)

13,993

2,942,852
441,428

(1,1 10,319

(7,323)
90,640

(73,254)

(658,828)

)



23. lncome tax (cont'd)

ncome tax asset
Allowance for accounts receivable

lnvestment incentive
Write-down of inventorįes to net realisable

value
Non-current employee benefits

Vacation accrual
Tax loss carry forward

Other accruals
Deferred income tax asset
Less: not recognised amount

Deferred income tax asset, net of
valuation allowance

Deferred income tax liability
lntangible assets (land lease right)

Property, plant and equipment (investment
incentive)

Property, plant and equipment revaluation
(deemed cost)

Property, plant and equipment (repairs
incentive)

Capitalised borrowing costs
Deferred income tax liability

Deferred income tax, net

Grigēo AB, company codē 110012450
vilniaus st. 10, Grtgiškės' LT-27101, vilnius

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for thē year anded 31 December 2017

(all amounts are in EUR unless otherwise stated)

8,590
4,011,341

30,558

12,115
78,822

4,141,429
(3,510,789)

630,637

{1,727)

(146,563)

(13,e43)

(32,161)
(194,394)

436,243

The Group's deferred tax asset and liability were set-off to the extent they related to the same tax administration
įnstitution and the taxable entity.

19,352
3,850,635

38,776

15,319
98,557

4,022,639
(2,558,463)

1,464,176

(13,454)

(36,133)
(147,0211
1,317,155

(1,025)

(e6,409)

21,542
5,770,984

39,339

22,408
152,508

24,483
6,031,264

(3,388,767)

2,642,497

(603,84e)

('13,454)

(36,133)
(755,878)
1,996,6f 9

(87,658)

(14,784)

31,354
6,269,232

31,327

22,708
't31,865

6,278
6,492,764

(5,403,493)

1,099,271

(88,817)

(15,485)

(6ee,544)

('13,943)

(32,161)
(849,950)

239,321
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23. lncome tax (cont'd)

The changes of temporary differences before and after tax effect in the Group were as follows

Group

lntangible assets
Property, plant and

equipment
(investment incentive)
Property, plant and

equipment
lnvestment incentive
Property, plant and
equipment (repairs

incentive)
Non-current employee

benefits
Allowance for accounts

receivable
Write-down to net

realisable value
Vacation accrual

Tax loss carry forward
Capitalised borrowing

costs
Other

Totaltemporary
differences

Not recognised amount
Totaltemporary

differences
recognised

Grigeo AB, company codē 1 10012450
vilniaus st' 10, Grigiškės' LT-27101 ' vilnius

coNsoLtDATED AND SĖPARATE FlNANclAL sIATEMElvIs
for the year ended 31 December 2017

(all amounts are in EUR unless otherwise stated)

As at 3{
December 2017

(584,388)

(e8,559)

(4,025,655)

38,473,225

(8e,694)

'149,390

143,613

262,258

1,016,720

(240,888)

163,217

35,169,239

(22,s91,786)

',2,577,453

Deferred income tax,
net

Change in temporary
differences

l,gg6,6{ 9

As at 3'1 December 2017, the Group has an unrecognized deferred income tax of EUR 22,591,786 from the temporary
differences (as at 31 December 2016: EUR 36,023,283). The biggest part of this is related to an investment incentive
(EUR 22,185,915 as at 31 December 2017 and EUR 35,605,412 as at 31 December 2016), as well as the decrease
in the carrying amount of receivables and the write-down of inventories to net realizable value (EUR 405,871 as at

31 December 2017 and EUR 208.936 as at 31 December 2016). The increased use of the investment incentive has

been calculated due to changed legislation as starting from '1 January 2018 it is allowed to cover 100% of tax loss

for the current year with the investment incentive (50% was allowed before). The remaining part of deferred tax is

not recognized because the Company and the Group management does not have sufficient evidence that enough
tax profit will be earned.

Recognised in
orofit or loss

As at 3{ Recognised in
December 20{6 r profit or loss

As at 31
Dęcember 20{5

7,724

26,754

467,638

22,055,056

3,259

(1 1,876)

(17,181)

(131 ,106)

58,289

4,343

(115,388)

2,716,492

(19,510,604)

2,836,908

425,536

425,536

(592,112)

(103,239)

(4,663,627)

41,794,880

(e2,e53)

151,387

209,027

208,844

879,1 03

7,724

4,680

637,972

(3,321,655)

3,259

(1,e97)

(65,414)

53,414

137,617

239 ,32',,

10,981,979

(214,405)

41,852

37,618,757

(36,023,283)

1,595,474

1,647,297

1,647,297

(26,483)

121,365

{2,449,5181

13,431,497

(599,836)

(129,9e3)

(5,131,265)

19,739,824

(e6,212)

163,263

226,208

339,950

820,814

(218,748)

157,240

(703,1471

(16,512,679)

(1,241,434)

(186,216)
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(all amounts are in ĖUR unless otherwise stated)

As at 31
December

2017

(6,834)

(642,72s)
25,670,898

(89,694)

102,126

129,015

258,508

657,044
(240,88e)

25,837,450

(17,056,421)

23. lncome tax (cont'd)

The changes of temporary differences before and after tax effect in the Company were as follows

Company

Property, plant and equipment
(investment incentive)

Property, plant and equipment
lnvestment incentive

Property, plant and equipment
(repairs incentive)

Non-cu rrent employee benefits
Allowance for accounts

receivable
Write-down of inventories to net

realisable value
Vacation accrual

Capitalised borrowing costs
Total tem porary d ifferences

Not recognised amount

Total temporary differences
recognised

9,791,029

Deferred income tax, net 1,317,155
Cha etn differences

Deferred income tax asset and liability, related to entities operating in Lithuania, Were accounted for aį 15o/o rate in

2017 and 2016. The deferred tax of the company operating in Ukraine was calculated using 18o/otaxratein2017,
1 8% in 201 6. The expiry date of the use of deferred tax asset from investment incentive applied to entities operating
in Lithuania is five years.

24. Basic and diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares issued and paid during the year. The Company has no diluting instruments,
therefore basic and diluted earnings per share are equal. Calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is
presented below:

l6
Net profit (loss) attributable to the shareholders 4,419,415

number of ord shares 700 000
Earnį share EU 0.07

20'|.6

Net profit (loss) attributable to the shareholders 3,109,397
number of 000

0.05

Recognised
in profit or

loss

As at 31
December

2016

Recognised
in profit or

loss

As at 3l
December

2015

4,680

334,367
(1,071,377)

3,259

21,361

71,749

54,790

131,566
(26,484)

(476,088)

6,348,838

5,872,750

980,912
880.912

(16,728)

(1,276,931)
'19,619,392

(e6,212)

92,855

50,231

332,27s

495,426
(218,748)

18,981,560

(16,356,898)

2,624,662

393,700

5,214

299,839
7,122,883

3,259

(12,0e0)

7,035

(128,557)

30,052
4,343

7,331,978

(7,048,361)

283,617

42,543
42.543

(11,514)

(e77,0e2)
26,742,275

(e2,e53)

80,765

57,266

203,718

525,478
(214,405)

26,313,538

(23,405,259)

2,gog,27g

436,243

2017
9,157,420

65,700,000
0.'|.4

Compan
2017

3,601,680
65,700,000

0.05
We

Earnings pe r share (EUR)
shares 700
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(all amounts are in EUR unlēss otheryise stated)

2017 2016
1,314,000

6 700 000

25. Dividends per share

Approved dividends*
Number of shares**

dįvidends per share 0.02

" The year when the dividends are approved
** At the date when divįdends are approved.

26. Adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (adjusted EBITDA)

The Management of the Group and the Company measure adjusted EBITDA as they monitor this performance

measure at a consolidated level and on individual company level. They believe this measure is relevant to an

understanding of the Group's and the Company's financial performance. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by adjusting
profit from continuing operations to exclude the impact of taxation, net finance costs, depreciation, amortisation,

impairment losses/reįersals related to goodwill, intangible assets, property plant and equipment. Amortisation of

subsidies related to non-current assets which has an impact on net profit is also included.

Adjusted EBITDS is not a defined performance measure in IFRS. The Group's definition of adjusted EBITDA may
not be comparable with similar titled performance measures and disclosures by other entities.

Com
As at 31

December
2016

Net profit
lncome tax

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Net finance costs

Depreciation
Amortisation

Amortisation of subsidies (?)

Adjusted EBIDTA

9,301,740
851,967

9,449,773

(687,758)
(14,390,051)

(162,748)
796,1 00

22,894,230

4,484,490
(13,ee3)

4,498,483

(575,0s3)
(11,568,741)

(231,557)
806,1 1 7

16,067,717

3,60{,680
658,828

2,942,952

181,578
(7,864,927)

(1 15,e08)
507,087

10,235,022

3,109,397
(1 65,1 70)
3,274,567

591 ,1 33
(7,004,412)

(117,78e)
511,817

9,293,818

27 ' Related paĖy transactions

The related parties of the Group and the Company are the following

- Ginvildos investicija UAB - the main shareholder of the Company;

- Subsidiaries of Grigeo AB (for the list of the subsidiaries, see also Note 1);

- Didma UAB, Statybų namai UAB' Technikos namai UAB (companies related to the members of Supervisory
Board).

Transactions with related parties include sales and purchases of goods and services in the ordinary course of

business.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group had no guarantees or pledges given or received in respect of the

related party payables and receivables.

As at 31 December 2017 , the Company had issued a guarantee of EUR 3.'162 thousand to secure the bank loans of

its subsidiary Grigeo Klaipeda AB (31 December 2016: EUR 3.800 thousand). The Company issued a guarantee of
EUR 710 tnousand to secure the bank loans of its subsidiary Grigeo Recycling UAB (31 December 2016: EUR 623
thousand).

2,628,000
65,700,000

0.04

Group
As at 3,|

December
2017

As at 31
December

2016

As at 3l
December

2017
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(all amounts are in EUR unless otherwise stated)

27. Related paĖy transactions (cont'd)

Related party receivables and payables are expected to be settled in cash or set-off against payables / receivables
to / from a respective related party.

Group 2017
Amounts
payable

Entities with significant influence 3,267

Other related com ies
TOTAL:

Group 2016
Amounts
payable

Entities with significant influence
Other related co tes 1 618

TOTAL 1 8

* Amounts receivable include prepayments for goods and services

Gompany 2017
Amounts
payable **

3,267
1,579,779

Other related ies
TOTAL: 583

Company 2016
Amounts
payable **

Entities with significant influence
Subsidiaries 100,895

Other related com res 618
TOTAL 667,641 831 487 102,513

* Amounts receivable include prepayments for goods and services and loans issued to subsidiaries.
** Amounts payable also include loans received from subsidiaries.

Sales to Grigeo Baltwood UAB mainly include sales of heating energy (steam) and other utilities services. Purchases
from Grigeo Baltwood UAB include purchases of biofuel and waste water treatment services.

Purchases from Grigeo Klaipeda AB include purchase of test liner and fluting used as raw materials in the production.

Accounts receivable and accounts payable to the related parties bear the same terms and conditions as receivables
and payables to external customers and suppliers.

The Company had no loans from related parties as at 31 December 2017 . The Company had a loan receivable from

subsidiary Grigeo Klaipeda AB amounting to EUR 69'1 thousand as at 31 December 2016. The loan was with a fixed
annual interest rate, which approximates to the interest rate payable to the bank.

Entities with significant influence
Subsidiaries

1

Purchase of
goods and
services

Amounts
receivable *

Sale of goods
and services

1,75310,479
38,908

38,908 1,75310,479

Amounts
receivable *

Sale of goods
and services

Purchase of
goods and
services

36,446
19,413 1,296

31
22,271

1,29622,302 55,859

Purchase of
goods and
services

Amounts
receivable *

Sale of goods
and services

265,1 89
1.753

4,222,173
9,600

21,082
11,227,541

11,248,623 266,9424,231,773

Sale of goods
and services

12 749

hase of Amounts
receivable *

830,570
917

goods and
services

21,820
8,1 15,551

3'1

4,651,825
15,785

9,150,120
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2016

333,733

5

(2,363)
35,060

(e,487)
(32,000)
(8,790)
33,589

(7,344)
(24,700)

27' Related paĖy transactions (cont'd)

Remuneration of the kev manaqement personnel

For the year ended 31 December, the remuneration of the management was as follows:

Remuneration of the key
management personnel

610,586

10number of man

ln 2017 and 2016 the key management personnel of the Company did not receive any guarantees; no other payments

or property transfers were made or accrued. ln 20'16 the Company paid bonuses to its Supervisory Board and

Management Board in totalamount of EUR 120 thousand (in 2016: EUR 100 thousand).

As at 31 December 2017 and 20'16, the Group and the Company issued loans to the key management personnel of

the Company and the Group, amounting to EUR 214 thousand and EUR 1'14 thousand, respectively (in 2016:

EUR 344 thousand and EUR 157 thousand). Loans bear fixed interest rate and mature in 2017-2019. Loans are not

secured.

28. Off-balance sheet items

lnformation on emission allowances

Emission allowances that were granted to the Company are reflected in the permission to emit greenhouse gasses.

Emission allowances are granted free of charge and are recognised at zero value.

The Company received 275,082 units of emission allowances for the period 2013-2020. This period is divided down

to the amount of each subsequent year, respectively, from 39,6'14 emission allowances in 2013 to29,327 emission
allowances in2020.

aud
Emission allowances

As at 31 December 2015
Emission allowances allocated

Purchase of emission allowances
Emission allowances used

Sale of emission allowances
As at 3l December 2016

Emission allowances allocated
Purchase of emission allowances

Emission allowances used
Sale of emission allowances
As at 31 December 2017

29. Subsequent events

On 22 March 2017 the management received a letter from the bank confirming the bank's decision to extend

repayment terms for two short-term loans of the Company until 2021. The carrying amount of these loans as at 31

December 2017 is EUR 4,505,556.

After the end of the financial year until the date of approval of these financial statements, no other events occurred
which would have a material effect on the financial statements or require disclosure.

Group
2016 20172017

352,415

5

593,465

'10

Group

( 1 8,5e1 )
(64,000)
(7,830)
56,924

(1e,45e)
(35,700)
(6,065)

15,916
58,845
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(all amounts are in EUR unless otherwisē stated)

30. Going concern

As at 3'1 December 2017, current liabilities of the Group and the Company exceeded their current assets by

EUR 11,726 thousand and EUR 5,8'16 thousand, respectively (2016: EUR'17,395 thousand and EUR 9,253

thousand, respectively). ln 2016 the net current liability position was influenced by significant investments made to

the property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company, and in 2017 projects were completed and the

investments made were relatively small.

The Group's and the Company's policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents or have available funding

through an adequate amount of credit facilities to meet their commitments at a given date in accordance with its

strategic plans. Under effective loan agreements, financial liabilities mature from 2018 to 2021 .

Furthermore,asdisclosedinNote'l3,asat3'1 December2017 theGroupandtheCompanyhadunusedborrowings
and overdrafts of EUR 3,190 thousand and EUR 1,229 thousand, respectively (2016: EUR 5,10'1 thousand and
EUR 3,355 thousand, respectively). Also, as disclosed in Note 29, on 22March 2018 the Group and the Company
received a letter from the bank confirming the intention to extend the repayment terms of loans with a residual value
of EUR 4,505 thousand as at 31 December 2017 until2021.

Liquidity management pĮans are based on further stability of the Group's and the Company's results and on extension
of repaįment šchedules of current liabilities. The Company has prepared a forecast of the Group's operations for
2018. The forecasted EB|TDA of Grigeo AB is expected to reach EUR 1 '1.6 million in 2018, whįle the EB|TDA of the

Group is planned to reach EUR 22.9 million in 2018.

Due to the aforementioned reasons, the management believes that the Group and the Company can prepare the

financial statements based on the going concern principle.
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1. Reporting period for which this information has been prepared

Reports have been prepared for the twelve months of 2017.

2. Audit information

The consolidated annual management report of Grigeo AB for the year 2017 has been prepared by the Management.
The compliance of the financial data presented in the consolidated annual management report with the set of
consolidated financial statements for the year 2017 has been checked by an independent auditor.

3. Group companies and their contact details

As at 3'1 December 2017 , rhe Company had nine subsidiaries: Grigeo Klaipėda AB, Grigeo Baltwood UAB, Grigeo
Recycling UAB, Grigeo Recycling SlA, Mena Pak PAT, Grigeo investicijų valdymas UAB, Naujieji Verkiai UAB'
Grigeo Packaging UAB and Grigiškių energija UAB.

Status Subsidiary

Name Grigeo Baltwood UAB

Company's lD No.

Authorised capital

Shares directly or indirectly
controlled by Grigeo AB

Address

Phone

Fax

E-mail

lnternet address

Legal form

Date of registration

Administrator of the register

Status

Name

Company's lD No.

Authorised capital

Shares directly or indirectly
controlled by Grigeo AB

Address

Phone

Fax

E-mail

lnternet address

Legal form

Date of registration

Administrator of the register

Subsidiary

126199731

6,100,000 Eur

10Oo/o*

Vilniaus str. 10, Grigiškės,
Vilnius

+370 5 243 59 00

+370 5 243 59 10

i nfo. baltwood@grigeo. lt

http;//www. qrigeo. lUen

Private Limited Liability
Company

1O April, 2003

State Enterprise Centre of

Subsidiary

Mena Pak PAT

00383260

4,O11,470 UAH

97.92o/o*"*

Koshevovo str. 6, Chernihiv
region, Mena, Ukraine

+380 4644 21341

+38O 4644 21084

menapack@ukr. net

www. menapack.com.ua

Public Limited Liability
Company

30 December, 1993

Chernihiv region, Mena distr
Public administration

lssuer Subsidiary

110012450

19,053,000 Eur

Company has not acquired
any shares of itself

Vilniaus str. 10, GrigiŠkes,
Vilnius

+370 5 243 58 01

+370 5 243 58 02

info@origeo.lt

http://vrww. q rigeo. lt/en

Public Limited Liability
Company

23 May, 1991

State Enterprise Centre of
Reqisters

Grigeo AB Grigeo Klaipėda AB

141011268

11,890,550.55 Eur

97.670/o**

Nemuno str. 2, Klaipeda

+370 46 39 56 01

+37O 46 39 56 00

info. klaipeda@grigeo. lt

http:/iwww. qriqeo. lt/en

Public Limited Liability
Company

22 September,1994

State Enterprise Centre of
Registers

Subsidiary
Grigeo Recycling SIA

40203001091

2,800 Eur

I 007o****

Kērla Ulma1a str. 3, Riga'
Latvia

+370 5 243 3393

info. recvclinq@griqeo. lt

Private Limited Liability
Company

16 June, 2016

Latvian Republic register of
enterprises

Grigeo Recycling UAB

302529158

2,960,000 Eur

1 00o/o*****

Vilniaus str. 1O' GrigiŠkes'
Vilnius

+370 5 243 3393

info. recyclinq@qriqeo. lt

http : //www. g riq eo. lUen

Private Limited Liability
Company

16 July, 2010

State Enterprise Centre of
Registers
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SubsidiaryStatus

Name

Company's lD No.

Authorised capital

Shares directly or
indirectly controlled

by Grigeo AB

Address

Phone

Fax

E-mail

lnternet address

Legal form

Date of registration

Administrator of the
register

Grigeo investicijų
valdymas UAB

302416687

3,709,776 Ėur

lOOo/o*

Vilniaus str. 10,
GrigiŠkes, Vilnius

+370 5 243 5933

+370 5 243 58 02

vigmantas. kazukauskas
@qriqeo.lt

Company

1O July, 2009

NaujiejiVerkiai UAB

300015674

28,962Ėur

100%*

Popieriaus str. 15,
Vilnius

+370 5 243 59 33

+370 5 243 58 02

info@grigeo.lt

Company

6 April, 2004

Grigeo Packaging
UAB

302329061

2,900 Eur

lOOo/o*

Vilniaus str.'10,
GrigiŠkes, Vilnius

+370 5 243 58 01

+370 5 243 58 02

info@qriqeo.lt

Private Limited Liability
Company

10 April, 2009

State Enterprise Centre

Grigiškių energija
UAB

302674488

2,900 Eur

lOOo/o*

Vilniaus str, 10,
GrigiŠkes, Vilnius

+370 5 243 5933

+370 5 243 58 02

vigmantas. kazukauskas
@qriqeo.lt

Private Limited Liability
Company

7 October, 2011

State Enterprise Centre
of Registers

Prlvate Limited Liability Prįvate Limited Liability

State Enterprise Centre State Enterprise Centre
of of Registers of rS

* - Shares directly controlled by Grigeo AB.
*" - Shares directly controlled by Grigeo investicijų valdymas UAB.
*** - Shares directly controlled by Grigeo Klaipeda AB.
**** - Shares directly controlled by Grigeo Recycling UAB.
***** - Shares directly controlled by Grigeo investicijų valdymas UAB and Grigeo Klaipeda AB.

4. Mission, vision, values of the companies

We create and deliver our products with a mind of You: our customers, employees, partners and colleagues. We do

care on the things that matter to You and the ways we can contribute to Your quality of life enhancement.

Mission - to create and deliver sustainable products enhancing the quality of life.

Vision - to become recognised European manufacturer.

Values

:

:

n

|ĒJl+

[+.
h.
ti, -,

H\****'.r
5. Nature of core activities of the group companies

Core business activities of Grigeo AB are as follows: manufacturing of toilet paper, paper towels and paper napkins,

corrugated board, products from corrugated board.

Core business activįties of Grigeo Klaipėda AB are as follows: manufacturing of the raw materials for production of

corrugated board - Testliner and Fluting. Beside the main activity, Grigeo Klaipeda AB also produces paper

honeycomb used in furniture industry.

Core business activities of Grigeo Baltwood UAB are as follows: manufacturing of wood fibre boards.

Core business activities of Mena Pak PAT (ln Ukrainian _ ny6nivne axųionepne ToBapį4cTBo ,,MEHA l-lAK") are as
follows: manufacturing of corrugated board, products from corrugated board.

Core business activities of Grigeo Packaging UAB are as follows: manufacturing of corrugated board, products from

corrugated board. The company has not been operating in year 2017.

Core business activities of Naujieji Verkiai UAB are as follows: building and development of real estate.

SubsidiarySubsidiary Subsidiary

PASSION FOR
PERFORMANCE

Pf,oFEssloNAĮl9įį
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Core business activity of Grigiškių energija UAB is planned to be a business of heat production and sale. The
company has not been operating in year 2017.

Core business activity of Grigeo Recycling UAB are as follows: second-hand paper collection and preparation for

recycling.

Core business activity of Grigeo Recycling SIA are as follows: second-hand paper collection and preparation for
recycling. The company has not been operating in year 2017.

Core business activities of Grigeo investicijų valdymas UAB are as follows: investment activities and corporate
governance.

6. Contracts with intermediaries of public trading in securities and credit institutions

The Company has signed a contract with Finasta AB (financial brokerage company) on payment of dividend to the

shareholders for 2004 and subsequent financial years. On21 December 2015 Finasta AB was joined to Siauliu
bankas AB, which from that date became successor to all assets, rights and obligations of Finasta AB.

The Company has signed a contract with orion Securities UAB (financial brokerage company) (A.Tumėno str. 4,

Vilnius, tel. (8-5) 231 3833, fax: (8-5) 231 3840, info@orion.lt) on the handling of securities issued by the Company
and for making the market for the shares of Grigeo AB.

7. Authorised capital of the issuer

7.1. The authorized capital registered at the Register of Legal Entities

7.1 .1 . Table. Structure of the authorized capital as at 31 December 20'17.

lnterest in the
Tape of shares authorised ca %

Ordinary registered '100

All shares of Grigeo AB are fully paid up.

7.2. tnformation on the prospective increase of the authorized capital by converting issued debt securities or
derivative securities into shares

Grigeo AB has not issued any debt securities or derivative securities to be converted into shares.

7.3. Rights and obligations conferred by the shares

The shareholders have the following property and non-property rights:
1) to receive a part of the Company's profit - dividend;
2) to receive the Company's funds when the authorized capital of the Company is being reduced with a view to

paying out the Company's funds to the shareholders;
3) to receive shares without payment if the authorized capital is increased out of the Company funds, except in

cases specified in the Law on Companies of the Republic of Lithuania;
4) to have the pre-emption right in acquiring shares or convertible debentures issued by the Company, except

in cases when the general meeting decides to withdraw the pre-emption right in acquiring the Company's
newly issued shares or convertible debentures for all the shareholders in the manner prescribed by Law on
Companies of the Republic of Lithuania;

5) to lend to the Company in the manner prescribed by laws of the Republic of Lithuania; however, when
borrowing from its shareholders, the Company may not pledge its assets to the shareholders. When the
company borrows from a shareholder, the interest may not be higher than the average interest rate offered
by commercial banks of the locality where the lender has his place of residence or business, which was in

effect on the day of conclusion of the loan agreement. ln such a case the Company and shareholders shall
be prohibited from negotiating a higher įnterest rate;

6 to receive a part of assets of the Company in liquidation;
7 to bequeath all or a part of the shares to the ownership of the other people;
8 to transfer all or part of the shares to ownership of other people;
o to attend the general meetings of shareholders;
10) to vote at general meetings of the shareholders according to voting rights carried by their shares (each fully

Tota! value, EURNumber of shares Par value, EUR

0.29 19,053,00065,700,000

paid share of the nominal value of EUR 0.29 gives its holder one vote at the general meeting);
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11) to receive information on the Company according to the procedure laid down in the laws of the Republic of

Lithuania and the Articles of Association of the Company;
'12) to file a claim with the court for reparation of damage resulting from nonfeasance or malfeasance by the

Company manager and Board members of their obligations prescribed by the Law on Companies and other
laws of the Republic of Lithuania and the Articles of Association of the Company as well as in other cases
laid down by laws of the Republic of Lithuania,

13) to authorize a person to vote on his/her behalf at the general meeting of the shareholders;
'14) to exercįse other property and non-property rights provided by laws of the Republic of Lįthuania.

8. Shareholders

8.1. Number of shareholders of the Company

As at 31 December 2017 there were 2,725 shareholders of Grigeo AB.

8.2. Main shareholders owning rn excess of 5 per cent of the authorised capital of the lssuer

8.2. Table. Shareholders owning in excess of 5 per cent of the authorised capital of the lssuer as at 31 December
2017 andlor 31 December2016.

31 December 2017 3l December2016

Shareholder's name
(company's name, Ųpe'
headquaĖers address,
corporate lD number)

Votes granted
shares held

by the right of
ownershlp, %

UAB GINVILDOS
INVESTICIJA

Turniškių str' 10a-2,
Vilnius, 125436533

lRrruR oruR MtŠrtxtErue

43.50

11.96

lnformation about shareholders of Ginvildos lnvesticija UAB is further disclosed in chapter 12.

8.3. Shareholders holding special controlling rights

There are no shareholders holding special controlling rights.

8.4. Restrictions of the voting rights

There are no restrictions of the voting rights.

8. 5. Ag re e m e nt s betwee n/am o n g th e sh a re h ol d e rs

The lssuer is not aware of any agreements between/among the shareholders likely to result in the restriction of

securities transfer and (oį voting rights.

9. lnformation on trading with issuer's securįties on the regulated markets

Registered ordinary shares of Grigeo AB are listed in the main list of Nasdaq Vilnius, AB (ticker - GRGl L).

9.1. Key characteristics of the shares of the Company

9.1. Table. Key characteristįcs of the shares of the Company.

Total par value,
EUR

Votes granted
by shares held
by the right of
ownership, %

Number of
ordinary

registered
shares owned

by the
shareholder

lnterest in the
authorised
capital, %

Number of
ordinary

registered
shares owned

by the
shareholder

lnterest in the
authorised
capital, %

1 '1.93 7,857,585

28,582,40743.50 43.50

'11.96

28,582,407

7,837,585

43.50

11.93

Number of
shares Par value, EURSecurities lSlN

codeType of shares

0.291T00001 02030 65,700,000Registered ordinary shares 19,053,000
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9.2. Share trading information

9.2. Table. Share trading information

Pri E
Reported

period

2013
2014, I Q

2014, llQ
2014, ilr Q
2014, tVQ

2014
2015, I Q
20'15, il Q
2015, ilt Q
2015, rV Q

2015
20'16, r Q
2016, il Q
20'16, ill Q
2016, tV Q

2016
2017,I Q
2017, llQ
2017, ilt Q
20'17, lV Q

2017

9.2. Figure. Share price and turnover 01.01 .2004 - 31.12.2017
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Turnover EUR Total turnover

EUR

2,179,859
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996,743
621,547
929,449

3,425,422
649,240
738,494

1,624,843
519,606

3,532,183
881,33'1

1,201,738
443,588
703,627

3,230,284
546,1 88

537,049
1,663,852

1,271,658
4,018,748

Max. Min. Last
session UnitsMin.

Last
se-

ssion

Ave-
rageMax.

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
'116

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

454

27,847

1,992
'1,995

0

1,323
1,323
8,086

56,780
212,477
13,903
13,903

10,596

12,207

12,582
15,898
15,898

3,017
4,209
10,143
3,636
3,636

3,490,316
1,173,593
1,340,247

757,732
1,073,638

4,345,210

619,999
639,333

1,498,711
487,498

3,245,541

845,479
1,065,079

379,397
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2,887,745
496,998
488,357
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906,'108
3,196,666

0.560
0.690
0.695
0.798
0.8'11

0.690
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'1 .100
1.040
1.030
0.982
1 .010

1.070
1.140
1.120
1.0r 0

1.080

1.080

1.150

1.340
{.080

0.707
0.730
0.798
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1 .160

1.170
'1.070
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1 .180

1.'130

1.f 30

1.090

1.130

1.350

1.390
1.390

0.624
0.748
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0.788
1.047

1.155
'1.084

1.066
f .088

1.042
1.128
1 .169

1.177

1 .119

1.099

1.100

1.275

1.403
1.257

252,972
97,600

243,318
77,804
144,805
243,318

76,624
56,780

33'1,209

53,523
33{,209
102,188
'183,659

56,960
63,348
183,659

39,634
47,155
251,837
107,228
251,837

0.707
0.795
0.814
0.845
0.997
0.997
1.160

1 .190

1.170
1 .100
1.190

1.090

1 .'180

1.220

1.250
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'1 .130

1.130

1.380
'1.490
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'1.00
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9.3. Capitalisation of the Company's shares

9.3. Table. Capitalisation of the Company's shares.

Last session date
31.12.2013
31.03.2014
30.06.2014
30.09.2014
31.12.2014
31 .03.20'15

30.06.2015
30.09.2015
31.12.20'.t5

31.03.2016
30.06.2016
30.09.2016
31.12.2016
31.03.2017
30.06.2017
30.09.20'17

31.12.2017

coNsoLlDATED ANNUAL MANAGEMĖNT REPoRT FoR THĖ YEAR 2017

Capitalisation, EUR
46,447,000
47,970,000
52,422,000
55,18't ,000
64,391,000

76,212,000
76,869,000
70,299,000
72,270,000

70,956,000
75,555,000
77,526,000
74,241,000
71,6'13,000

74,241,000
88,695,000
91,323,000

9.4. lssuer's share trading on other stock exchanges and regulated markets

The Company's shares are not traded on other stock exchanges and regulated markets.

9.5. Own shares buy out

The Company has not bought out own shares.

9.6. Restrictions on shares transfer

There are no restrictions on shares transfer.

9.7. Official takeover bid

Official takeover bid for the Company's shares has not been declared. The Company also hasn't declared official

takeover bid for shares of other companies.

9.8. lnvestments made

lnformation about the main investments made in the reporting period and its size is provided in Note 4 to the financial
statements and Chapters 13.1-13.2 of the consolidated annual management report on material events.

10. Employees

ln 2017, there were no significant changes in number of employees or salary. Over the twelve months of the year
2017 įhe number of the Group employees fluctuated naturally. The change of average salary was mostly caused by

the following factors: labour market factors and the need and recruitment of workers of higher competences after
investment projects were implemented.

10.1. Table. Number of employees of the Group.

31.12.2016

804

10.2. Table. Number of employees of the Company

31.12.2016

31.12.2017

809Number of employees

31.12.2017

371Number of employees 357
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10.3. Table. Average number of employees, salary and grouping of employees by education of the Group during the
twelve months of 2017.

Em education
Employees Basic
Workpeople
Specialists
Managers

Total

Workpeople
Specialists
Managers

Total

Employees

1,042
1,329
2,825
1,282

Average
salary, EUR

65
126
70
261

203
27
2

232

270
23
4

297

17

1

18

16

16

10.4. Table. Average number of employees, salary and grouping of employees by education of the Group during the
twelve months of 2016.

ucation
Employees Basic

10.5. Table. Average number of employees, salary and grouping of employees by education of the Company during
the twelve months of 2017.

Em education
Employees Un Seconda Basic
Workpeople
Specialists
Managers

Total

10

10

10.6. Table. Average number of employees, salary and grouping of employees by education of the Company during
the twelve months of 2016.

293
10

6
309

educationEm
Basic

Workpeople
Specialists
Managers

Total

121 11

8

130 11
* - information on the average wage is provided without Mena Pak PAT data to show the precise Group average
wages unaffected by fluctuations of Ukrainian currency.

11. Amendments to the articles of association of the issuer

The Articles of Association of Grigeo AB are amended in the procedure prescribed by legal acts of the Republic of
Lithuania.

12. lnformation on the managing bodies of the issuer

The Company has the general meeting of shareholders, the sole-person managing body - the head of the Company
(the President), the collegial managing bodies - supervisory counciland audit committee and the collegial managing
body - the board.

The supervisory council is comprised of 5 members. The members to the supervisory council are elected by the
general meeting of shareholders for a period of 4 years. The supervisory council elects and revokes the members of

the board. The board of the Company consists of 5 members. The supervisory council elects and revokes the
members of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee of the Company consists of 3 members.

The Supervisory Council represents the shareholders and together with the Audit Committee performs supervisory
functions.

Employees b
Secondary

Average
salary, EUR* University College

6'1

126
69
256

172
29
4

205

907
1,226
2,894
1,184

College
Average

salary, EUR
85
11

2

98

105
15

3
123

1,065
1,378
3,094
1,362

34
66
35
135

University Gollege Secondary
74
11

3

88

885
1,285
2,942
1,194

29
62
33
124
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The board of the Company elects and revokes the head of the Company, fixes his salary, approves his job

description, awards bonuses to and imposes penalties on the head of the Company.

12.1. Members of the managing bodies

12.1. Table. Members of the supervisory council, board and administration, education and their capital share and
votes.

Full names Positions
Capital share
and votes, 7o

0.24

0.85

0.30

SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Norimantas Stankevičius
Vilius oškeliūnas

Romualdas Degutis

Tautvilas Adamonis
Daiva Duksienė

4.41

0.03

Auorr Comutrree

Norimantas Stan kevičius

Tautvilas Adamonis

Daiva Duksienė

4.41

BoARD

Gintautas Pangonis

Nina Šilerienė
Vigmantas KaŽukauskas

Vytautas JuŠka
Normantas Paliokas

ADMINISTRATION

Gintautas Pangonis
Nina Šilerienė 0.24

0.85Vigmantas Kažukauskas

Vytautas Juška

Robertas Krutikovas

12.2. tnformation of the Chairman of the Board, President and Vice President, Finance

Gintautas Pangonis - Chairman of the Board, president. Education - university degree. Profession - multichannel
telecommunication engineer. Workplaces during the last 10 years:

Employers Positions
Grigeo AB Director general, chairman of the board

President, chairman of the board

Nina Šilerienė - Vice President, Finance, Education _ university degree, Profession - economist for accounting,
control and analysis of economic activities, Workplaces during the last 10 years:

Positions
Grigeo AB Finance Director, member of the board

Vice president, Finance, member of the board

12.3. tnformation on the participation in the activities of other enterprises, agencies and organisations (name of the

enterprise, agency or organisation and position thereat, capital interest and votes rn excess of 5 per cent)

73

G AB

G AB

TenureEducation

University
University

University
University
University

Since 30 April 2015
untilthe annual

General Meeting, to
be held in 2019

Chairman
Member

Member
Member
Member

University
University

University

Since 30 April 2015
untilthe annual

General Meeting, to
be held in 2019

Member
Member

Member

Since 30 April 2015
untilthe annual

General Meeting, to
be held in 2019

Chairman
Member
Member
Member

Member

University
University
University
University

University

University
University

University

University

University

President
Vice President, Finance

Vice President,
Business Development

Vice President,
Purchasing & Logistics

Director General
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12.3. Table. Participation of the members of the supervisory council, board and administration in the activities of other
enterprises, agencies and organisations.

Gapital interest

Namē, surname Capitalshare
and votes, 7o

Norimantas
Stankevičius

Vilius oškeliūnas

Romualdas
Degutis

Tautvilas Adamonis

Daiva Duksienė

Gintautas
Pangonis

Grigeo AB

Telesat sprendimai UAB

Antena UAB
lnComSystems UAB
lnComSystems UAB

Grigeo AB

Autodina UAB
Vilturas UAB

Ginekologijos ir šeimos
klinika UAB
Grigeo AB

Ginvildos investicija UAB

Grigeo AB
Grigeo Klaipeda UAB
NaujiejiVerkiai UAB

Grigeo Baltwood UAB
Grigeo Packaging UAB
Grigiškių energija UAB
Grigeo Recycling UAB

Grigeo investicijų
valdymas UAB

Member of the
supervisory council
Chief accountant

Chief accountant

Chief accountant

President

Director

Chairman of the board

Chairman of the board

Chairman of the board

Chairman of the board

Chairman of the board

Chairman of the board

Chairman of the board

Chairman of the board

Ginvildos investicija
UAB

4.41

51.0

62.0

62.0

50.0

50.0

0.03

50.0

35.0

60.0

100.0

Business paĖicipation

Positions
Name of enterprise,

agency and
organisation

Name of enterprise,
agency and
organisation

Chairman of the
supervisory council

Project director Didma UAB
Statybų namai UAB
Technikos namai

UAB

Grigeo ABGrigeo AB

Didma UAB

Member of the
supervisory council

Director

Member of the board

Wealth manager
Director

Chairman of the board

Atelier lnvestment
Management UAB
Gerovės valdymas

UAB

Grigeo AB

Atelier lnvestment
Management UAB
Atelier lnvestment
Management UAB

Gerovės valdymas UAB
lM investment UAB
Ars Lab Limited, lE

Grigeo AB

Telesat sprendimai
UAB

Antena UAB
lnComSystems UAB

Member of the
supervisory council

Member of the board

Chairman of the board

Chairman of the board

Project director

Grigeo AB Member of the
supervisory council
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Chairman of the
supervisory council

Chaįrman of the
supervisory council

Mena Pak PAT

Grigeo Recycling SIA

Director
Member of the board

Elnorma UAB
Grigeo AB

Grigeo ABGrigeo AB

Grigeo AB
Grigeo Klaipeda AB

Grigeo Baltwood UAB
NaujiejiVerkiai UAB
NaujiejiVerkįai UAB

Grigeo Packaging UAB
Grigeo Packaging UAB
Grigiškių energija UAB
Grigiškių energija UAB

Grigeo investicijų
valdymas UAB

Grigeo investicijų
valdymas UAB

Grigeo Recycling SIA

Vice president,
Business Development

Member of the board

Member of the board

Member of the board

Director

Member of the board

Director

Member of the board

Director

Member of the board

Member of the board

Member of the
supervisory council

Director

Vice president,
Purchasing & Logįstics
Member of the board

Member of the board

Member of the board

Member of the board

Member of the board

Deputy Chairman of the
Supervisory council

Grigeo AB

Grigeo AB
Grigeo Klaipeda AB

Grigeo Baltwood UAB
Grigeo Recycling UAB
Grigiškių energĮa UAB

Grigeo Recycling SIA

Grigeo ABVice President,
Finance

Member of the board

Member of the board

Member of the board

Member of the board

Member of the board

Member of the board

Member of the board

Grigeo AB

Grigeo AB
Grigeo Klaipėda AB
NaujiejiVerkiai UAB

Grigeo Baltwood UAB
Grigeo Packaging UAB
Grigiškių energĮa UAB

Grigeo investicijų
valdymas UAB
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0.85

0.24
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12.4. Data on the commencement and expiration of the tenure of each managing body

The Supervisory Council of Grigeo AB was elected on 30 April 2015 for a 4 years' period (ending in 201 9), The Board

of the Company was elected on 30 April 2015 for a 4 years' period (ending in 2019).

12.5. lnformation about payments to the members of the managing bodies

12.5. Table. lnformation on the salaries, tantiemmes and other payments from profit paid by the lssuer within the

2017.

payments,
EUR

Totally for all members of the
council

ln average per one member of the
su council
Total for all members of the board
ln one member of the board
Totally for all members of the
administration
ln average per one member of the
administration

13. Review of activity of the group companies

13.1. Material events in the lssuer's activities

This section contains summary of all Grigeo AB published reports on material event. Full text of reports could be

found on the Company's website:
http://www.grigeo.lUen/for-investors/notices-on-material-events12017 .

28.02.2017 During 2016, the Group achieved the consolidated sales turnover of EUR 102.5 million. During the

same period the Company's sales amounted to EUR 57 million.
During the reporting period, the Group earned EUR 4.5 million and the Company earned EUR 3.3

31.03.2017
million.
The Annual Genera| Meeting of Shareholders of Grigeo Grigiškes AB is convened by initiative and

the decision of the Board of the Company on the 25 April,2017, at '11 a.m. lt was also decided to
propose to allocate EUR 2,628,000 to dividends, i.e. EUR 0.04 for each share, twice the amount of

the previous year.
During the three months of 2017, the Group achieved the consolidate sales turnover of EUR 30.2

million. During the same period the Company's sales amounted to EUR 16.3 million.
The General Meeting of shareholders of Grigeo Grigiškes AB made the following decisions:
. To approve the set of consolidated and separate financial statements of the Company for the year

2016.
. To approve the appropriation of the Company's profit for the year 2016 according to the draft of
profit appropriation presented for the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
. To change the name of the Company Grigeo Grigiškes AB to Grigeo AB.
. With reįard to the adopted decision above, to amend clauses 'l.1. and 1'4' of the Articles of

Association of the CompanY.
The amended Articles of Association of Grigeo AB were registered.
During the three months of 2017, the Group achieved the consolidated sales turnover of EUR 30.2

million. During the same period, the Company's sales amounted to EUR 16.3 million.

During the reįorting period, the Group earned EUR 1.5 million and the Company earned EUR 1.'1

million profit before taxes.
During įrre t st half of 2017 , the Group achieved the consolidated sales turnover of EUR 62.3 million.

During the same period, the Company's sales amounted to EUR 33.8 million.

Durinį the reporting period, the Group earned EUR 3.4 million and the Company earned EUR 2

million profit before taxes.
AB Grigeo invested in one of the most high-tech hygiene paper converting lines in the European
market, which is in conformity with high safety at work standards.

24.04.2017

25.04.2017

02.05.2017
08.05.2017

03.08.2017

Tantiemme,
EUR

Dividends,
EUR

Salaries,
EUR

116,62416,200

3,240 23,325

'103,800

20,760

36,613352,415

7,32370,483

31.08.2017
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21.09.2017

07.11.2017

AB Grigeo and UAB Grigeo Baltwood signed a letter of intent with the German company Homanit
Holding GmbH regarding the sale of 100% of the shares of UAB Grigeo Baltwood.
During the nine months of 2017 , the Group achieved the consolidated sales turnover of EUR 96.2

million. During the same period, the Company's sales amounted to EUR 52.2 million. During the

reporting period, the Group earned EUR 6.2 million and the Company earned EUR 2.6 million profit

before taxes
20.12.2017 The Board of AB Grigeo approved the budget of 2018.
29.12.2017 AB Grigeo presented preparation of lnterim information and financial results release dates in 2018.

13.2. Newest events in the lssuer's activities

This section contains summary of all Grigeo AB published reports on material event. Full text of reports could be

found on the Company's website:
http://www.grigeo.lUen/for-investors/notices-on-material-events/2018.

02.02.2018 AB Grigeo, UAB Grigeo Baltwood and the German company Homanit Holding GmbH agreed to
terminate the letter of intent regarding the sale of 100o/o of the shares of UAB Grigeo Baltwood.

08.02.2018 During 2017, the Group achieved the consolidated sales turnover of EUR 129.9 million. During the

same period, the Company's sales amounted to EUR 71 million.
During the reporting period, the Group earned EUR 8.4 million and the Company earned EUR 2.9

million.

13.3. Offices and branches

The Company has Country marketing representatives operating in Latvia and Estonia. No new offices or branches
are planned to be opened in 2018.

13.4. Group's markets and riskfactors

lnformation about financial risk management is provided in notes to the audited consolidated financial statements.

Economic risk factors

paper production. The share of GRITE brand of Grigeo AB in terms of value (without other private labels products

produced by the Company) increased by 1.1o/o and accounted for 23.5% of the Baltic hygienic paper market. Toilet
paper market share grew to 26.90/o, and of paper towels to 15.6%.

ln 2017 , we aimed to make maximum use of the new paper machine at work and to significantly increase the quantity

of semi-produced paper sold. During the year, 15.700 tonnes of various semi-produced paper were sold to other
paper processors.

It is forecasted that in 20'18 the hygienic paper market of the Baltic countries will increase by up to 2-3o/o,likely,
mostly in the category of paper towels. lt is also planned that the updated range of products and investments into

brand awareness in Latvian and Estonian markets will help to increase GRITE brand market share.

It is likely that the retail chains will strengthen product quality and increase the areas on their shelves for their own

brands. The quality of private brands is increasing; therefore, they will be increasingly competing with other brands
owned by the Company.

ln 2018, significant focus will be put on the increase of sales of household and business products, especially those
made from cellulose, to end-users (owned brands), at the same time reducing sales of semi-produced paper.

ln the export markets, we plan to expand the client base both by offering production of private brand products and

by selling GRITE brand products.

Gorrugated cardboard packaging products market. ln2017, GrigeoAB sold 35% more packaging than in 2016.

lncreašing sales were driven by annual investments into new equipment and modernization, focus on ensuring and

improvinį quality, as well as continuous process optimization to increase labour productivity, employee trainings,

improvement of their qualifications and competences.

lnvestments are planned in 2018 into modernization, search of new markets and development to help further increase
sales, to guarantee high quality of goods and to be among the leading producers of corrugated cardboard packaging
products in Lithuania.

77



coNsoLtDATĖD ANNUAL MANAGEMENT REPoRT FoR THE YEAR 2017

Grigeo AB Group of companies has a complete packaging processing cycle: we purchase waste paper, produce raw

carūboard paper, then corrugated cardboard from raw cardboard paper, and finally, packaging from cardboard
according to individual needs. The complete packaging processing cycle enables us to offer our customers stable
supply anO nigfrest quality assurance and traceability from the packaging up to the paper from which the packaging
was manufacįured as well as competitive prices. ln 2017, the main packaging markets included Lithuania, Latvia,

Estonia, Finland, and Russia.

Since the main export sales currency is euro, exchange rate risk is at a minimum.

Main risks of this business come from changes in raw materials' prices.

Raw cardboard paper market. ln2017, Grigeo Klaipeda AB generated revenue of EUR 49,701 thousand from

operating activities. The main sales plan was exceed ed by 2o/o. lf compared to the previous year, sales volumes from

operating activities decreased by EUR '14,055 thousand or 39%.

The Company's sales in the Baltic countries in 2017 accounted for 51o/o of total sales (2016: 47o/o), in the region of

Western and Central Europe, sales accounted for 45o/o of total sales (2016: 460/o), in the CIS countries markel - 4o/o

of totalsales (2016: 7%)

Wood products market. ln2017, thesales revenueof Grigeo Baltwood UAB amountedto EUR'16.1 million. 34%

of production was exported. Other 16% was sold in local market. The main wood product export markets included
the Poland, Sweden, United Kingdom and Finland. ln 2018, the company plans further expansion in foreign markets.

The main buyers of hardboard production are cabinet and cushioned furniture manufacturers, special packaging

manufacturers and users, the DIY (Do-lt-Yourself) sector, and construction companies.

Since the main export sales currency is euro, exchange rate risk is at a minimum.

The main risks related to this business arise from potential rise in prices of raw materials.

Ukrainian Business Environment Ukraine's political and economic situation has deteriorated significantly since the

Government's decision not to sign the Association Agreement and the Deep and Comprehensive Free Trade
Agreement with the European Union in late November 2013. ln February 20'14, following the devaluation of the

nJtional currency, the National Bank of Ukraine introduced certain administrative restrictions on currency conversion
transactions and also announced a transition to a floating foreign exchange rate regime. High inflation and drastic
changes in local currency rate impedes business management and efforts to sustain profitability.

The period of the reporting year saw stabilisation of production orders, improved settlement for the goods produced

and smaller changes in currency rates.

The management of the Group companies believes it is taking all appropriate measures to support the sustainability
of the Groįp's business. Although the impact of the ongoing instability of the business environment is difficult to

evaluate, but the Group's management believes that it will not have a significant negative impact on the Group's
results.

Socra/ risk factors

Salaries are paid in terms set in collective agreement.

Technical - technological risk factors

ln order to improve the technical production assurance level, the Company continuously modernizes its equipment
and facilities, purchases new equipment, and automates process management.

ln 2017, the Company launched a new paper processing line. This investment will result in an increase of production

of household products, widening of product range and quality improvement.

Ecological risk factors

The Company carrying out business activities, follows "Pollution integrated prevention and control" principles.

Rational use of energy and natural resources, applying modern production and environmental components cleaning
technologies without compromising product quality.

The Company pays taxes for used natural resources (wateį and for environment pollution (air pollution caused by

steam shop, technological equipment and mobile pollution sources, water pollution caused by rain outflows).

Polluted water is cleaned in mechanįcal way and pumped to Vilnius city biological cleaning complex.
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The Company operates the biodegradable waste composting site, which enables natural composting of organic
waste in the field environment with the use of industrial and domestic wastewater treatment sludge and wood chips
for compost production. The produced compost is used for the reclamation of quarries and other needs.

Management system operating in accordance with ISO 14001 was implemented in 2012. The recertification audit of
manaįement systems performed in 2015 by DNV GL Lietuva UAB confirmed that the Company's management
systems comply wįth the requirements of LST EN lso 9001 and LST EN lso 14001.

13.5. Suppliers

13.5.1 Table. Countries of suppliers' of main raw materials and materials for the Company over the twelve months of

the year

Lithuania
Finland
Poland
Estonia
Sweden
Germany
Austria
Latvia
Italy

Russia
Other countries

TOTAL

53.6
6.6
5.0

6.5
7.9

3.1

0.0

0.9

11.1

0.0

5.3
't00.0

13.6. Strategy of the activiŲ and plans for the close future

It is planned that the Group which consists of companies Grigeo AB, Grigeo Baltwood UAB, Grigeo Klaipeda AB,
Mena Pak PAT and Grigeo Recycling UAB in the year 2018 will reach a turnover of EUR 142.8 million. The Group's
profit before taxes wįll reach EUR 8.6 miIlion. lt is also planned that EB|TDA of the Group will reach EUR 22.9 million

in 2018.

It is planned that Grigeo AB in the year 2018 will reach a turnover of EUR 8'1.3 million. The Company will earn a profit

before taxes of EUR3.4 million. lt is also planned that EBITDA of Grigeo AB will reach EUR 1 '1.6 million in 2018.

These forecasts are not audited

56.5
19.7
7.2

4.2
3.8

2.7

2.3
'1.6

0.8

0.4

0.8
{00.0
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1 3.7. Financial indicators
13.7.1. Table. Group's financial and performance indicators

Financial
EBITDA

EBITDA profitability
Gross margin

Operating margin
Net margin

ROE profitability
ROA profitability

Current ratio
Quick ratįo

Cash to current liabilities
PlĖ

Earnings per share
Dividend per share

Dividend payout ratio
Debt to equity ratio

Debt to total assets ratio
* - įndicator for the year 2017 will be calculated after the ordinary General Shareholders' Meeting has approved
dividends for the year 2017.

13.7.2. Table. Company's financial and performance indicators.

ratios 2017

EBITDA
EBITDA profitability

Gross margin
Operating margin

Net margin
ROE profitability
ROA profitability

Current ratio
Quick ratio

Cash to current liabilities
Earnings per share
Dividend per share

Dividend payout ratio
Debt to equity ratio

Debt to total assets ratio
* - indicator for the year 2017 will be calculated after the Ordinary General Shareholders' Meeting has approved
dividends for the year 2017.

The indicators are calculated in accordance with Nasdaq Vilnius AB recommended formulas:

EBITDA profitability = EBITDA / Revenue
Gross margin = Gross profit / Revenue
Operating margin = Profit from operations / Revenue
ROE profitability = Net profit / average equity
ROA profitability = Net profit / average assets
Current ratio = Current assets / current liabilities
Quick ratio = (Current assets - lnventories)/ current liabilities
Cash to current liabilities = cash / current liabilities
P/E = the market price of share / Total of attributable profit

Earnings per share = (Net profit - preferred stock dividends)/ weighted average number of ordinary shares in

circulation
Debt to equity ratio = liabilities / Equity
Debt to total assets ratio = liabilities / assets

22.894.230
17.6%
18.60/o

7.0o/o

7.1%
17.2%
7.7%
0.69
0.42
0.014
9.97
0 

13e

1

0.77
0.43

1.05
0.51

10,235,022
14.4o/o

16.1%
3.9o/o

5.1%
9.1o/o

s.0%
0.72
0.5't
0.000
0 0.55

2015 20162013 2014
15.857.428

15.9%
18.5%
7.9o/o

6.9%
17.6%
7.6%
0.71
0.44
0.049
9.49

0.1 03
0.020
0.19
1.20
0.52

18.311.228
17.7%
19.8%
8,7o/o

7.5%
17.4%
7.7%
0.81
0.46
0.026
9.35

0.1 18
0.020
0.17
1.13
0.51

16.067.717
15.7o/o

17.1o/o

5.0%
4.3o/o

9.1Yo
3.9%
0.56
0.33
0.014
16.80
0.067
0.040
0.59
1.34
0.56

12.608.884
13.2%
15.8o/o

5.2%
4.0o/o

11.3o/o
4.8%
0.79
0.51
0.028
12.29
0.061
0.014
0.25
1.20
0.52

2014 2016 20162013
8,046,730

16.60/o

17,4o/o
7.7%
7.0o/o

9.9o/o

5.70/o

0.54
0.38
0.017
0.052
0.020
0.39
0.77
0.41

8,422,541
15.6%
16.4o/o
5.4%
5.3%
7.8%
4.2o/o

0.79
0.44

0.001
0.043
0.020
0.46
0.81
0.43

9,293,818
16.3Yo
16.5%
4.7o/o

5.5%
8.2%
4.4Yo
0.55
0.38
0.000
0.047
0.040
0.85
0.79
0.43

6,585,359
15.3%
15.9%
5.2%
4.5%
6.2%
3.8%
0.88
0.61
0.008
0.032
0.014
0.49
0.54
0.33
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13.8. Patents, licenses, surveys

The Company and the Group have no patents and licenses

13.9. Related party transactions

All transactions with related persons were carried out at market prices.
Grigeo Klaipeda AB - subsidiary of Grigeo AB.
Grigeo Baltwood UAB - subsidiary of Grigeo AB.
Mena Pak PAT - subsidiary of Grigeo AB.
Grigeo investicijų valdymas UAB - subsidiary of Grigeo AB.
Ginvildos lnvesticija UAB - main shareholder of Grigeo AB.
Didma UAB and Naras UAB - companies related to companies related to the members of Supervisory Council.
Grigeo Packaging UAB - subsidiary of the Group not subject to consolidation.
Naujieji Verkiai UAB - subsidiary of the Group not subject to consolidation.
Grigeo Recycling UAB - subsidiary of Grigeo AB.
Grigeo Recycling SIA - subsidiary of Grigeo AB.
GrigiŠkių energija UAB - subsidiary of the Group not subject to consolidation.

i3.9.1. Table. The Group's transactions with related parties over the twelve months of 2017. Balances of amounts
receivable/payable in relation thereto as at 31 December 2017.

Group 2017
Amounts
payable

Entities with significant influence 3,267
Other related com nres

TOTAL: 267

* Amounts receivable include prepayments for goods and services.

1g.g.2. Table. The Company's transactions wįth related parties over the twe|ve months of 2017. Balances of amounts

receivable/payable in relation thereto as at 31 December 2017.

Gompany 2017
Amounts
payable

3,267
1,579,779

Other related com ies
TOTAL: 11 623 3

Entities with significant influence
Subsidiaries

1

13'10. Coutį and arbitration proceedings

Over the twelve months of 2017 the Group and the Company were not involved in court or arbitration proceedings
which would have a material impact on the financial position of Grigeo AB.

14. Social responsibility rePort

The activitįes of socia| responsibility of the Company and the Group are based on its values and define the Company's
and Group's attitude towards their activity, inclusion of social, environmental protection and transparency principles

in the internal processes of the Company and the Group, as well as in the relationship with interested parties.

Led by principles of sustainable activity, in its operation the company group is developing the culture and practice of

a sociaily responsible business of the company group developed in a sustainable manner. The Company and the

Group implement social responsibility through targeted and coherent activity in the following areas: relationship with

staff and society, environmental protection, dayto-day activity.

14.1 Relationship with staff

lncreasing involvement of staff. Every year we conduct the Employees' survey whereby their satįsfaction and

involvement are measured.

ln2017 , the employee involvement (if to compare with that in 2016) went up by 10 percentage points and 8 percentage

points in AB Grigeo and the Group, respectively.

We see the employee involvement as one of the core aspects of success of the organizatįon, thus we analyse carefully

the results received, present them to our employees, discuss opportunities of improvement with them, implement the

foreseen measures.

Purchase of
goods and
services

Amounts
receivable *

Sale of goods
and services

1.75310,479
38,908

38,908 1,75310,479

Amounts
receivable *

Purchase of
goods and
services

Sale of goods
and services

21,082
11,227 ,541 265,1 89

1,753
4,222,173

9,600
266,9424,231,773
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Recognition of employees. As every year, in 2017 the Group companies organized the awards of the employees of

the year. The nominations included the best manager, specialist, technical employee, production operator, production

employee. The employees were awarded with recreationaltrips to the Lithuanian and foreign resorts.

Remuneration system. Seeking to maintain and attract talented people, we use a fair remuneration system which is

competitive from the perspective of the market. We perform market surveys, follow the changing situation and, according
to this, periodically revįew salaries. ln 2017, the base salary, taking into account the external and internal

competitiveness, was reviewed and raised two times.

ln 2017 , the performance evaluation system of specialists' rank, linking it up to additional remuneration, was renewed in

the Company and the Group. Depending on the employee himself and the performance of the whole organization, the

employees have an opportunity receive bonuses to their base salaries once in a quarter.

Periodical setting of goals and discussion of results with the staff allow the managers to ensure that the staff's activity is
targeted. Ongoing feedback maintains employees' motivation and involvement.

lmprovement of staff's competences. The Company and the Group have implemented a system of non-formal

vocationaltraining which involves allthe necessary fields and targeted groups:

'1) New employees . ln 2017, the system for adaptation of new employees was updated in the Company and the Group.
NorĖormat vocational training programmes were developed for work with production machinery. Their implementation
is managed by training coordinators, teachers of practice and theory. Thereby, safe and effective work from the first day

at work is ensured for a new employee.

2) Current employees. Perįodical certification of qualification is organized, which allows updating the knowledge and
skills and maintaining the professional qualification of employees.

3) Manaqers. Seeking to ensure high management standards focused on the efficiency of the everyday operation and

involvement of staff, in 2017 a continuous educational programme was initiated for managers of the company group.

Trainings of the company group were attended by the total of 751 employees, the total number of teaching hours is more

than 16.5 thousand.
Occupational safety. Occupational safety is one of the main priorities of the organization. We give a special focus on
prevention seeking to eliminate any risks of occupational safety or health from our environment. The employees
continuously monitor the environment by themselves, record unsafe situations which are immediately eliminated by us.

The most active team members are awarded for their initiative with prizes. During 2017, as much as 25o/o of the
Company's employees identified such situations.

Special focus is given to education of employees in 2017 , trainings related to safety and health of more than 450 hours

took place in the company group.

Every year, we organize the week of occupational safety during which various events take place in relation to employees'
safety and health at work.

Healthy lifestyle. We encourage our employees to participate in sports activities: in2017, traditional basketball and

football tournaments took place, where 4 teams of employees of the company group competed; '17 members of the

Company's team actively participated in the marathon organized by Danske Bank, and women joined the running which
took place in spring. During the week of occupational safety and health, the internal table tennįs championship took
place.

All the employees of the Group are offered a partial compensation of membership in a gym. Also, we provide with free-

of-charge influenza and tick-borne encephalitis vaccination, partially finance medical blood testing.

Social activity. The social activity is encouraged within the company group.

ln spring of 2017, our staff helped in forest planting. ln the area of 1.2ha we planted 3,700 seedlings (900 firs and 2,800

oaks).
This tradition has continued for 7 years already during which we have planted the area of 9.4 ha in which 33,700 trees
are growing today.

During the week of occupational safety we also organized a donorship campaign.

14.2 Relationship with community
Promoting sense of community. The roots of GrigiŠkes town are closely related to AB Grigeo: back in the day, the

settlement started around the factory. A large part of current employees working for the group is residents of Grigiškes.
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Seeking to maintain and strengthen our ties with community, in2017, as every year, we gave the Christmas tree as a
present for the town.

AB Grigeo is one of the largest sponsors of a newly built church in Grigiškes, the need for which occurred due to a
growing congregation of the parish, which currently has 8,000 members.

The spring campaign was mentioned before, during which we seek to make our neighbourhood greener, thus we plant

trees.

Educational activity and apprenticeship oppoĖunities. AB Grigeo positively and free-of charge accepts to tours to

objects managed by it. The trained guides - employees of the Company - are able to present the company and its
activity in an interesting and modern manner both to students of secondary and higher schools and teachers. During

these tours visitors have a unique opportunity to find out and see how everyday consumption goods are made of waste
paper and cellulose.

The Company actively cooperates with educational institutions. ln 2017, 7 students from Vilnius Gediminas Technical
University, Vįlnius College of Technology and Design took apprenticeship in the Company. 3 of them remained for
permanent employment.

ln March 2017, colleagues of the Company's Technical Department visited Vilnius Gediminas Technical University,
where they made a presentation on maintenance of innovative machinery in the modern business. We also presented
the Company during the career days of Vilnius College of Technology and Design.

1 4.3 Environmental protection

The priority focus of the group is paid to environmental protection. Our goal is to use the natural resources to the optimal
extent. All acquired timber is used for production of valuable goods needed and used by various industries or segments
of consumers. Whereas, biofuel made of waste goes to the boiler houses of the company.

Paper for production of sanitary and household goods as well as corrugated paperboard are manufactured by
reprocessing secondary materials, i.e. waste paper, thereby reducing the amount of waste in Lithuania, in the

neighbouring countries and contributing to saving of forests.

Actively contributing to the international obligations of Lithuania to increase the use of renewable energy resources in

the production of energy, also, seeking to optimize the production costs, companies of AB Grigeo Group have
implemented modern biofuel boiler houses in their production cycle, which provide own companies in Lithuania with

almost all needed steam/heat energy, and, at the same time, use industrial waste allowed for incineration. All biofuel
boilers managed by the company group are characterized by exceptionally high economic and ecological indicators.

Since 2012, the Company and the Group have implemented the Environmental Protection Management System ISO
14001, ensuring continuous environmental efficiency in our Company.

Ecology of production. We are the first company in Lithuania which was granted the ecology mark EU 'flower', aimed

at implementation of the EU policy of sustainable consumption and productron, which seeks to reduce negative impact

of consumption and production on the environment, health, climate and natural resources.

Having implemented allthe requirements of standards FSC@ FSC-STD-4O-004V2-1; FSC-STD-50-001 V1-2, AB Grigeo
was granted a FSC@ Chain-of-Custody certificate.

Pollution management. ln cooperation with the Lithuanian Environmental Protection lnvestment Fund (LAAIF), since
2009 we have invested more than 640 thousand EUR in projects related to reduction of air and water pollution.

ln 2017, we have implemented (using the LAAIF funding) the air cleaning system for paper production with the value of

219 thousand EUR. With the help of the system, every year the emission of particulate pollutants will be less by 500 kg.

ln November2017, the company received the award of "Crystal Chimney" in the nomination of the project promoter

which implemented a largest number of projects.

14.4 Business efhlcs and transparency

ln every day work employees of the company group are led by the activity standards established in the code of ethics
of the group, which are the basis of the whole business. ln accordance with these standards we also create and maintain
our relationship with clients, partners, state authorities. AB Grigeo code of ethics can be found here:

www. grigeo. lt/lt/verslo-tvaru mas/g rigeo-verslo-etikos-kodeksas.

The Company publishes all the essential information in Nasdaq Baltic system .|n2017, the Company was ranked among

the three award winning companies in the awards of Nasdaq Baltic, the nomination "Best company of interactive
relationship with investors according to the market professionals".

The Company has joined the initiative of marking transparent entrepreneurship "White Wave". Thereby, we emphasize
our exclusively transparent and fair approach to accounting of working time and remuneration, intolerance to wages paid

in illegalforms.
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INFORMATION ON COMPLIANCE WITH GOVERNANCE CODE

The public company Grigeo AB (hereinafter - "the Company"), following Article 22(3) of the Law on Securities of the

Republic of Lithuania and item 24'5 of the Trading Rules of the stock exchange NASDAQ Vilnįus AB, discloses its

compliance with the Governance Code, approved for the companies listed on the regulated market, and its specific
provisions. ln the event of non-compliance with the Code or with certain provisions thereof, it must be specified which
provisions are not complied with and the reasons of non-compliance.

PRINCIPLES/ RECOMMENDATIONS COMMENTARY

Principle l: Basic Provisions
The overriding objective of a company should be to operate in common interests of all the shareholders by

optimizing over time shareholder value
1.1. A company should adopt and make public the
company's development strategy and objectives by
clearly declaring how the company intends to meet the
interests of its shareholders and optimize shareholder
value.

1.2. All management bodies of a company should act
in furtherance of the declared strategic objectives in

view of the need to optimize shareholder value.

1.3. A company's supervisory and management
bodies should act in close co-operation in order to
attain maximum benefit for the company and its
shareholders.

1.4. A company's supervisory and management
bodies should ensure that the rights and interests of
persons other than the company's shareholders (e.9.

employees, creditors, suppliers, clients, local
community), participating in or connected with the

The Company fully complies with this
recommendation. Plans and forecasted result of
the Company are published on an annual basįs.

All supreme managing and supervision bodies
of the Company are focused on the
implementation of the main objectives and tasks
of the Company.
The one-person managing body - the head of
the Company, the collegial managing body -
the management board and the supervisory
body - the council of observers (supervisory
board) cooperate in view of seeking the best
benefit for the Company and its shareholders.

The Company fully
recommendations.

complies with these

The Company fully complies with this
recommendation, as its bodies consist of the
single-person managing body (the head of the
Company), the collegial managing body (the
management board) and the supervisory body
(the council of observers).

The management board is responsible for
strategic management of the Company and
parries out other essential managerial functions
in the Company. The council of observers
(supervisory board) is responsible for the
efficient supervision of the managing bodies of

company's operation, are duly respected
Principle ll: The corporate governance framework

The corporate governance framework should ensure the strategic guidance of the company, the effective
oversight of the company's management bodies, an appropriate balance and distribution of functions

between the company's bodies, protection of the shareholders' įnterests.
2.1. Besides obligatory bodies provided for in the Law
on Companies of the Republic of Lithuania - a general
shareholders' meeting and the chief executive officer,
it is recommended that a company should set up both
a collegial supervisory body and a collegial
management body. The setting up of collegial bodies
for supervision and management facilitates clear
separation of management and supervisory functions
in the company, accountability and control on the part
of the chief executive officer, which, in its turn, facilitate
a more efficient and transparent management
process.

2.2. A collegial management body is responsible for
the strategic management of the company and
performs other key functions of corporate governance.
A collegial supervisory body is responsible for the
effective supervision of the company's management
bodies.

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

YES/NO
/NOT

APPLIC
A.BLE

Yes

the Com
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2.3. Where a company chooses to form only one
collegial body, it is recommended that it should be a
supervisory body, i.e. the supervisory board. ln such a
case, the supervisory board is responsible for the
effective monitoring of the functions performed by the
company's chief executive officer.
2.4.fhe collegialsupervisory body to be elected by the
general shareholders' meeting should be set up and
should act in the manner defined in Principles lll and
lV. Where a company should decide not to set up a
collegial supervisory body but rather a collegial
management body, i.e. the board, Principles lll and lV
should apply to the board as long as that does not
contradict the essence and purpose of this body.l

2.5. Company's management and supervisory bodies
should comprise such number of board (executive
directors) and supervisory (non-executive directors)
board members that no individual or small group of
individuals can dominate decision-making on the part
of these bodies.2

2.6. Non-executive directors or members of the
supervisory board should be appointed for specified
terms subject to individual re-election, at maximum
intervals provided for in the Lithuanian legislation with
a view to ensuring necessary development of
professional experience and sufficiently frequent
reconfirmation of their status. A possibility to remove
them should also be stipulated however this procedure
should not be easier than the removal procedure for
an executive director or a member of the management
board,
2.7. Chairman of the collegial body elected by the
general shareholders' meeting may be a person
whose current or past office constitutes no obstacle to
conduct independent and impartial supervision. Where
a company should decide not to set up a supervisory
board but rather the board, it is recommended that the
chairman of the board and chief executįve officer of the
company should be a different person. Former
company's chief executive officer should not be
immediately nominated as the chairman of the
collegial body elected by the general shareholders'
meeting. When a company chooses to departure from
these recommendations, it should furnish information
on the measures it has taken to ensure impartiality of
the supervision.
Principle lll: The order of

Not
applica-
ble

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

the formation of a collegial body to be elected by a gen

lProvisions of Principles III and IV are more applicable to those instances when the general shareholders' meeting elects the supervisory board, i.e. a body that is

essentially formed to ensure oversight of the company's board and the chief executive officer and to represent the company's shareholders. However, in case the

company does not form the supervisory board but rather the board, most of the recommendations set out in Principles III and IV become imPortant and applicable to the

board as well. Furthermorą it should be noted that certain recommendations, which are in their essence and nature applicable exclusively to the supervisory board (e,g.

formation of the committees), should not be applied to the board, as the competence and functions of these bodies according to the Law on Companies of the Republic

of Lithuania (o/iciąĮ Gazette,2003,No 123-5574) are different. For instance, item 3'1 of the Code concerning ovelsight of the management bodies apPlies to the extent it

concerns the oversight of the chief executive officer of the company, but not of the board itself; iiem 4.1 of the Code concerning recommendations to the management

bodies applies to the extent it relates to the Provision of recommendations to the company's chief exerutįve officefi item 4.4 of the Code concerning independence of the

collegial body elected by the general meeting from the company's management bodies is applied to the extent it concerns independence from the chief exeotįve officer.
,Definitions 'executiue director' and'non-executįae director' areused in cases when a company has only one collegial body.
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Both the council of observers (supervisory
board) and the management board are formed
in the Company.

The collegial supervisory body, as elected by
the general meeting of shareholders, is formed
and operates in the procedure laid down in
guidelines lll and lV; guidelines lll and lV also
apply to the management board, insofar this
does not contradict the essence and purpose of
the mentioned body.

The management board of Company consists
of 5 members. The council of observers
(supervisory board) also consists of 5 members.
This is set forth in the Articles of Association of
the Company. The Articles of Association shall
be approved by the supreme managing body of
the Company, i.e., the general meeting of
shareholders.

ln accordance with the Articles of Association of
the Company, the council of observers shall be
elected by the general meeting of shareholders
for the maximum period of 4 years. This is the
maximum period permitted by the legislation of
the Republic of Lithuania. The general meeting
of shareholders is entitled to revoke all or
individual members of the council of observers
before expiration of their tenure.

The chairperson of the council of observers, as
formed in the Company, has not been the head
of the Company.

eral shareholders' meeting
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The order of the formation a collegial body to be elected by a general shareholders' meeting should ensure
representation of minoriŲ shareholders' acco

monitoring of the comPanY's

3.1. The mechanism of the formation of a collegial
body to be elected by a general shareholders' meeting
(hereinafter in this Principle referred to as the'collegial
body') should ensure objective and fair monitoring of
the company's management bodies as well as
representation of minority shareholders.

3.2. Names and surnames of the candidates to
become members of a collegial body, information
about their education, qualification, professional
background, positions taken and potential conflicts of
interest should be disclosed early enough before the
general shareholders' meeting so that the
shareholders would have sufficient time to make an
informed voting decision. All factors affecting the
candidate's independence, the sample list of which is
set out in Recommendation 3.7, should be also
disclosed. The collegial body should also be informed
on any subsequent changes in the provided
information. The collegial body should, on yearly basis,
collect data provided in this item on its members and
disclose this in the company's annual management
report.
3.3. Should a person be nominated for members of a
collegial body, such nomination should be followed by
the disclosure of information on candidate's particular
competences relevant to his/her service on the
collegial body. ln order shareholders and investors are
able to ascertain whether member's competence is
further relevant, the collegial body should, in its annual
management report, dįsclose the information on its
composition and particular competences of individual
members which are relevant to their service on the
collegialbody.
3.4 ln order to maintain a proper balance in terms of
the current qualifications possessed by its members,
the desired composition of the collegial body shall be
determined with regard to the company's structure and
activities, and have this periodically evaluated. The
collegial body should ensure that it is composed of
members who, as a whole, have the required diversity
of knowledge, judgment and experience to complete
their tasks properly, The members of the audit
committee, collectively, should have a recent
knowledge and relevant experience in the fields of
finance, accounting and/or audit for the stock
exchange listed companies. At least one of the
members of the remuneration committee should have
knowledge of and experience in the field of

to the shareholders and objective
agement bodies.3

untability
operation

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

of this body
and its man

The collegial body elected by the general
meeting of shareholders is elected in

compliance with the procedure prescribed by
the legislation of the Republic of Lithuania.
Concurrently, the interests of small
shareholders, disinterested and unbiased
supervision of the managing bodies are
ensured.

The Company discloses information about the
nominees to the collegial bodies to
shareholders immediately after it receives
proposals for candidates to the collegial body.
lnformation about the members of the council of
observers and the management board is
disclosed by the Company in its periodical
reports.
Accordingly, there is enough time for the
shareholders to decide on which nominee they
willvote.

The Company complies with the provisions laid
down in this recommendation.
lnformation about the members to the council of
observers is disclosed by the Company in its
periodical reports.

The members to the collegial body of the
Company, as formed by the general meeting of
shareholders, are elected taking into
consideration the structure and types of
activities of the Company; the members have
versatile knowledge, opinions and experience
necessary for the proper performance of their
tasks.

remuneration

3Attention should be drawn to the fact that in the sįtuation where the collegial body elected by the general shareholders' meeting is the board, it is natural that being a

management body it should ensure oversight not of all management bodies of the company, but only of the single-person body of management, i.e. the company's chief

executįve officer. This note shall apply in respect of item 3.1 as well.
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3.5. All new members of the collegial body should be
offered a tailored program focused on introducing a
member with his/her duties, corporate organization
and activities. The collegial body should conduct an
annual review to identify fields where its members
need to update their skills and knowledge.

3.6. ln order to ensure that all material conflicts of
interest related with a member of the collegial body are
resolved properly, the collegial body should comprise
a sufficienta number of independents members.

3.7. A member of the collegial body should be
considered to be independent only if he is free of any
business, family or other relationship wįth the
company, its controlling shareholder or the
management of either, that creates a conflict of
interest such as to impair his judgment. Since all cases
when member of the collegial body is likely to become
dependent are impossible to list, moreover,
relationships and circumstances associated with the
determination of independence may vary amongst
companies and the best practices of solving this
problem are yet to evolve in the course of time,
assessment of independence of a member of the
collegial body should be based on the contents of the
relationship and circumstances rather than their form.
The key criteria for identifying whether a member of
the collegial body can be considered to be
independent are the following:
He/she is not an executive director or member of the
board (if a collegial body elected by the general
shareholders' meeting is the supervisory board) of the
company or any associated company and has not
been such during the last fįve years;
He/she is not an employee of the company or some
any company and has not been such during the last
three years, except for cases when a member of the
collegial body does not belong to the senior
management and was elected to the collegial body as
a representative of the emPloyees;
He/she is not receiving or has been not receiving
significant additional remuneration from the company
or associated company other than remuneration for
the office in the collegial body. Such additional
remuneration includes participation in share options or
some other performance based pay systems; it does
not include compensation payments for the previous
office in the company (provided that such payment is
no way related with later position) as per pension plans

coNsoLlDATED ANNUAL MANAGĖMENT REPoRT FoR THE YEAR 2017

New members elected to the collegial bodies of
the Company are made familiar with the
Company, its organization, activity specifics,
etc.

lndependency of the members of the council of
observers has not been evaluated in the
Company so far', the Company has not
discussed the contents of the concept of
"sufficiency" of independent members.

According to the criteria laid down in paragraph
3.7, there is an independent member in the
council of observers of the Company.

Yes

No

Yes

nclusive of deferred

aThe Code does not provide for a concrete number of independent members to comprise a collegial body. Many codes in foreign countries fix a concrete number of

independent members (e.g. at least 1/3 or 1/2 of the members of the collegial body) to comprise the collegial body. However, having regard to the novelty of the

instiįution of independent members in Lithuania and potential problems in finding and electing a concete number of independent members, the Code provides for a

more flexible worūi.g and allows the companies themselves to decide what number of independent members is sufficient. Of course, a larger number of independent

members in a collegial body is encouaged and will constįtute an example of more suitable corporate governance.
5It is notable that in some companies all members of the collegial body may, due to a very small number of minority shareholders, be elected by ūe votes of the majority

shareholder or a few major shareholders. But even a member of the collegial body elected by the majority shareholders may be considered independent if he/she meets

the independence criteria set out in the Code.
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He/she is not a controlling shareholder or
representative of such shareholder (control as defined
in the Council Directive 83/349/EEC Article I Part 1);

He/she does not have and dįd not have any material
business relations with the company or associated
company within the past year directly or as a partner,
shareholder, dįrector or superior employee of the
subject having such relationship. A subject įs
considered to have business relations when it is a
major supplier or service provider (inclusive of
financial, legal, counselling and consulting services),
major client or organization receiving significant
payments from the company or its group;
He/she is not and has not been, during the last three
years, partner or employee of the current or former
external audit company of the company or associated
company;
He/she is not an executive director or member of the
board in some other company where executive
director of the company or member of the board (if a
collegial body elected by the general shareholders'
meeting is the supervisory board) is non-executive
director or member of the supervisory board, he/she
may not also have any other materįal relationships with
executive directors of the company that arise from theįr
participation in activities of other companies or bodies;
He/she has not been in the position of a member of

the colfegial body for over than 12years;
He/she is not a close relative to an executive director
or member of the board (if a collegial body elected by
the general shareholders' meeting is the supervisory
board) or to any person listed in above items 1 to 8.

C|ose relative įs considered to be a spouse (common-
law spouse), chįldren and parents.
3.8. The determination of what constitutes
independence is fundamentally an issue for the
collegial body itself to determine. The collegial body
may decide that, despite a particular member meets all
the criteria of independence laid down in this Code, he
cannot be considered independent due to special
personal or company-related circumstances.
3.9. Necessary information on conclusions the
collegial body has come to in its determination of
whether a particular member of the body should be
considered to be independent should be disclosed.
When a person is nominated to become a member of
the collegial body, the company should disclose
whether it considers the person to be independent.
When a particular member of the collegial body does
not meet one or more criteria of independence set out
in this Code, the company should disclose its reasons
for nevertheless considering the member to be
independent. ln additįon, the company should annually
disclose which members of the collegial body it

considers to be independent.
3.10. When one or more criteria of independence set
out in this Code has not been met throughout the year,
the company should disclose its reasons for
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The Company has not defined the concept of
independency.

The Company has not applied so far the
practice of evaluation and announcement of
independency of the members of the council of
observers.

The Company has not applied so far the
practice of evaluation and announcement of
independency of the members of the council of
observers.

No

No

No

consideri a lar member of the ial
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to be independent. To ensure accuracy of the
information disclosed in relation with the
independence of the members of the collegial body,
the company should require independent members to
have their independence periodically re-confirmed.
3.11. ln order to remunerate members of a collegial
body for their work and participation in the meetings of
the collegial body, they may be remunerated from the
company's funds6. The general shareholders' meeting
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Members of the collegial bodies were
remunerated for their work from the funds of the
Company by tantiemes.

The council of observers makes
recommendations to the managing bodies of
the Company and monitors their activities.

To the best knowledge of the Company, all
members of the council of observers act in a
good will in respect of the Company, comply
with the interests of the Company (not those of
third parties) and take efforts to maintain
independency in decision making.

Members of the collegial body properly perform
the functions delegated to them: actively
participate at the sitting of the collegial body and
devote sufficient time for the performance of
their duties as the members of the collegial
body.

should approve the amount of such remuneratįon'
Principle lV: The duties and liabilities of a co llegial body elected by the general shareholders' meeting

The corporate governance framework should ensure proper and effective functioning of the collegial body
elected by the general shareholders' meeting, and the powers granted to the collegial body should ensure

effective monitoringT of the company's management bodies and protection of interests of all the
shareholders.

4.1. The collegial body elected by the general
shareholders' meeting (hereinafter in this Principle
referred to as the 'collegial body') should ensure
integrity and transparency of the company's financial
statements and the controlsystem. The collegial body
should issue recommendations to the company's
management bodįes and monitor and control the
company's management performance.s
4.2. Members of the collegial body should act in good
faith, with care and responsibility for the benefit and in

the interests of the company and its shareholders with
due regard to the interests of employees and public
welfare. Independent members of the collegial body
should (a) under all circumstances maintain
independence of their analysis, decision-making and
actions (b) do not seek and accept any unjustified
privileges that might compromise their independence,
and (c) clearly express their objections should a
member consider that decision of the collegial body is
against the interests of the company. Should a
collegial body have passed decisions independent
member has serious doubts about, the member should
make adequate conclusions. Should an independent
member resign from his office, he should explain the
reasons in a letter addressed to the collegial body or
audit committee and, if necessary, respective
company-not-pertaining body (institution).
4.3. Each member should devote sufficient time and
attention to perform his duties as a member of the
collegial body. Each member of the collegial body
should limit other professional obligations of his (in
particular any directorships held in other companies)
in such a manner they do not interfere with proper
performance of duties of a member of the collegial

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

ln the event a member of the ial

6It is notable that currently it is not yet completely clear, in what form members of the supervisory board or the board may be remunerated for their work in these bodies.

The Law on Companies of the Republic of Lithlania (ot'fciaĮ Gazette,2003, No 123-5574) provides that members of the supervisory board or the board may be

remunerated for their work in the supervisory boad or the board by payment of annual bonuses in the manner prescibed by Article 59 of this Law, i.e. from the

company's profit. The curent wording, conhary to the wording effective before 1 January 2004, eliminates the exclusive requirement that annual bonuses should be the

ozly form of the company's compensatįon to members of the supervisory board or ihe board. So it seems that the Law contains no Prohibition to remunerate members of

the supervisory board or the board for their work in other {orms, besides bonuses, although this possibility is not expressly stated either.
TSee Footnote 3.
8 See Footnote 3. In the event the colĮegial body elected by the general shareholders' meeting is the board, ii shouId provide recommendations to the company's single-

person body of management, i.e. the company's chief executive officer.
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should be present in less than a halP of the meetings
of the collegial body throughout the financial year of
the company, shareholders of the company should be
notįfied.
4.4. Where decisions of a collegial body may have a
different effect on the company's shareholders, the
collegial body should treat all shareholders impartially
and fairly. lt should ensure that shareholders are
properly informed on the company's affairs, strategies,
risk management and resolution of conflicts of interest.
The company should have a clearly established role of
members of the collegial body when communicating
with and committing to shareholders.
4.5. lt is recommended that transactions (except
insignificant ones due to their low value or concluded
when carrying out routine operations in the company
under usual conditions), concluded between the
company and its shareholders, members of the
supervisory or managing bodies or other natural or
legal persons that exert or may exert influence on the
company's management should be subject to approval
of the collegial body. The decisįon concerning
approval of such transactions should be deemed
adopted only provided the majority of the independent
members of the collegial body voted for such a
decision.
4.6. The collegial body should be independent in

passing decisions that are significant for the
company's operations and strategy. Taken separately,
the collegial body should be independent of the
company's management bodies.lo Members of the
collegial body should act and pass decisions without
an outside influence from the persons who have
elected it. Companies should ensure that the collegial
body and its committees are provided with sufficient
administrative and financial resources to discharge
their duties, including the right to obtain, in particular
from employees of the company, all the necessary
information or to seek independent legal, accounting
or any other advice on issues pertaining to the
competence of the collegial body and its committees.
When using the services of a consultant with a view to
obtaining information on market standards for
remuneration systems, the remuneration committee
should ensure that the consultant concerned does not
at the same time advice the human resources
department, executive directors or collegial
management organs of the company concerned.
4.7. Actįvities of the collegial body should be organized
in a manner that independent members of the collegial
body could have major influence in relevant areas
where chances of occurrence of conflicts of interest
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The collegial body treat all shareholders in a fair
and unbiased manner. There have been no
conflicts of interests so far.

The Company complies with the provisions laid
down in this recommendation.

The collegial body is independent in making
decision important for the activities and strategy
of the Company. Also, there are no restrictions
for the collegial body to receive information of
the Company's employees.

An Audit committee is formed in the Company
and is responsible for issues related to the
company's audit control and evaluation and is
not responsible for issues related to the

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

are h h. Such areas to be considered as

elt is notable that companies can make this requirement more stringent and provide that shareholders should be informed about failure to Participate at the meetings of

the collegial body iį for instance, a member of the collegial body participated at less than 2/3 or 3/4 of the meetįngs. Such measures, which ensuįe actįve partįciPation in

the meetings of the collegial body, are encouraged and will constitute an example of more suitable corporate Sovernance.
1oln the event the coĮlegial body elected by the general shareholders' meeting is the board, the recomendatįon concerning its independence from the company's

management bodies applies to the extent it relates to the independence from the company's chief executive officer.
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relevant are issues of nomįnatįon of company's
directors, determination of directors' remuneration and
control and assessment of company's audit. Therefore
when the mentioned issues are attributable to the
competence of the collegial body, it is recommended
that the collegial body should establish nomination,
remuneration, and audit committeesll. Companies
should ensure that the functions attributable to the
nomination, remuneration, and audit committees are
carried out. However they may decide to merge these
functions and set up less than three committees. ln
such case a company should explain in detail reasons
behind the selection of alternative approach and how
the selected approach complies with the objectives set
forth for the three different committees. Should the
collegial body of the company comprise small number
of members, the functions assigned to the three
committees may be performed by the collegial body
itself, provided that it meets composition requirements
advocated for the committees and that adequate
information is provided in this respect. ln such case
provisions of this Code relating to the committees of
the collegial body (in particular with respect to their
role, operation, and transparency) should apply, where
relevant, to the collegial body as a whole.
4.8. The key objective of the committees is to increase
efficiency of the activities of the collegial body by
ensuring that decisions are based on due
consideration, and to help organize its work with a view
to ensuring that the decįsions it takes are free of
material conflicts of interest. Committees should
exercise independent judgment and integrity when
exercising its functions as well as present the collegial
body with recommendations concerning the decisions
of the collegial body. Nevertheless the final decision
shall be adopted by the collegial body. The
recommendation on creation of committees is not
intended, in principle, to constrict the competence of
the collegial body or to remove the matters considered
from the purview of the collegial body itself, which
remains fully responsible for the decisions taken in its
field of competence.
4.9. Committees established by the collegial body
should normally be composed of at least three
members. ln companies with small number of
members of the collegial body, they could
exceptionally be composed of two members. Majority
of the members of each committee should be
constįtuted from independent members of the collegial
body. ln cases when the company chooses not to set
up a supervisory board, remuneration and audit
committees should be entirely comprised of non-
executive directors. Chairmanship and membership of
the committees should be decided with due regard to
the need to ensure that committee membership is
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company's directors and the appointment of
directors' remuneration determination.
Conflicts of interests in the fields relating to audit
control and evaluation of the Company have
been avoided so far.

Yes An Audit committee is formed in the Company

Yes
An Audit committee of the Company is
composed of 3 members of the Company's
Supervisory Council.

refreshed and that undue reliance is not laced on

llThe Law on Audit of the Republic of Lithuania (officiat Gazette,2008, No 82_53233) determines that an Audit Commįttee shall be formed in each public interest entity

(including, but not limited to public companies whose securities are traded in the regulated markei of the Republic of Lithuania and/or any other member state).
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particular individuals. Chaįrmanship and membership
of the committees should be decided with due regard
to the need to ensure that committee membership is
refreshed and that undue reliance is not placed on
particular indivįduals.
4.10. Authority of each of the committees should be
determined by the collegial body. Committees should
perform their duties in line with authority delegated to
them and inform the collegial body on their activities
and performance on regular basis. Authority of every
committee stipulating the role and rights and duties of
the committee should be made public at least once a
year (as part of the information disclosed by the
company annually on its corporate governance
structures and practices). Companies should also
make public annually a statement by existing
committees on their composition, number of meetings
and attendance over the year, and their main activities.
Audit committee should confirm that it is satisfied with
the independence of the audit process and describe
briefly the actions it has taken to reach this conclusion.
4.11.ln order to ensure independence and impartiality
of the committees, members of the collegial body that
are not members of the committee should commonly
have a right to participate įn the meetings of the
committee only if invited by the committee. A
committee may invite or demand participation in the
meeting of particular officers or experts. Chairman of
each of the committees should have a possibility to
maintain direct communication with the shareholders.
Events when such are to be performed should be
specified in the regulations for committee activities.
4. 1 2. Nomination Committee.
4.12,1. Key functions of the nomination committee
should be the following:
ldentify and recommend, for the approval of the
collegial body, candidates to fill board vacancies. The
nomination commįttee should evaluate the balance of
skills, knowledge and experience on the management
body, prepare a description of the roles and
capabilities required to assume a particular office, and
assess the time commitment expected. Nomination
committee can also consider candįdates to members
of the collegial body delegated by the shareholders of
the company;
Assess on regular basis the structure, size,
composition and performance of the supervisory and
management bodies, and make recommendations to
the collegial body regarding the means of achieving
necessary changes;
Assess on regular basis the skills, knowledge and
experience of individual directors and report on this to
the collegial body;
Properly consider issues related to succession
planning;
Review the policy of the management bodies for
selection and appointment of senior management.
4.12.2. Nomination committee should consider
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The authority of the Audit committee is
determined by Supervisory Council by
approving the Audit committee's internal rules.

According to the Audįt Committee's internal
rules the Audit Committee has the right to invite
to its meetings the Chairman of the Supervisory
Board and certain employees of the Company,
the externalauditor.

No nomination committee has been formed in

the Company so far.

Yes

Yes

No

other includ ent and
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shareholders. When dealing with issues related to
executive directors or members of the board (if a
collegial body elected by the general shareholders'
meeting is the supervisory board) and senior
management, chief executive officer of the company
should be consulted by, and entitled to submit
proposals to the nomination committee.
4. 1 3. Remuneration Commįttee.
4.13.1. Key functions of the remuneration committee
should be the following:
1) Make proposals, for the approval of the collegial
body, on the remuneration policy for members of
management bodies and executive directors. Such
policy should address all forms of compensation,
including the fixed remuneration, performance-based
remuneration schemes, pension arrangements, and
termination payments. Proposals considering
performance-based remuneration schemes should be
accompanied with recommendations on the related
objectives and evaluation criteria, with a view to
properly aligning the pay of executive director and
members of the management bodies with the long-
term interests of the shareholders and the objectives
set by the collegial body;
2) Make proposals to the collegial body on the
individual remuneration for executive directors and
member of management bodies in order their
remunerations are consistent with company's
remuneration policy and the evaluation of the
performance of these persons concerned. ln doing so,
the committee should be properly informed on the total
compensation obtained by executive directors and
members of the management bodies from the affiliated
companies;
3) Ensure that remuneration of individual executive
directors or members of management body is
proportionate to the remuneration of other executive
directors or members of management body and other
staff members of the company;
4) Periodically review the remuneration policy for
executive directors or members of management body,
including the policy regarding share-based
remuneration, and its implementation;
S)Make proposals to the collegial body on suitable
forms of contracts for executive dįrectors and
members of the management bodies;
6)Assist the collegial body in overseeing how the
company complies with applicable provisions
regarding the remuneration-related information
disclosure (in particular the remuneration policy
applied and įndivįdual remuneration of directors);
7) Make general recommendations to the executive
directors and members of the management bodies on
the level and structure of remuneration for senior
management (as defined by the collegial body) with
regard to the respective information provided by the
executįve dįrectors and members of the management
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No remuneration committee has been formed in

the Company so far.
No

bodies.
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4.13.2. With respect to stock options and other share-
based incentives which may be granted to directors or
other employees, the committee should:
Consider general policy regarding the granting of the
above mentioned schemes, in particular stock options,
and make any related proposals to the collegial body;
Examine the related information that is given in the
company's annual management report and documents
intended for the use during the shareholders meeting;
Make proposals to the collegial body regarding the
choice between granting options to subscribe shares
or granting options to purchase shares, specifying the
reasons for its choice as well as the consequences that
thįs choice has.
4.13.3. Upon resolution of the issues attributable to the
competence of the remuneration committee, the
committee should at least address the chairman of the
collegial body and/or chief executive officer of the
company for their opinion on the remuneration of other
executive directors or members of the management
bodies.
4.13.4. The remuneration committee should report on
the exercise of its functions to the shareholders and be
present at the annual general meeting for this purpose.
4.14. Audit Committee.
4.14.1. Key functions of the audit committee should be
the following:
1)observe the integrity of the fįnancial information
provided by the company, in particular by reviewing
the relevance and consistency of the accounting
methods used by the company and its group (including
the criterįa for the consolidation of the accounts of
companies in the group);
2)At least once a year review the systems of internal
control and risk management to ensure that the key
risks (inclusive of the risks in relation with compliance
with existing laws and regulations) are properly
identified, managed and reflected in the information
provided;
3) Ensure the efficiency of the internal audit function,
among other things, by making recommendations on
the selection, appointment, reappointment and
removal of the head of the internal audit department
and on the budget of the department, and by
monitoring the responsiveness of the management to
its findings and recommendations. Should there be no
internal audit authority in the company, the need for
one should be reviewed at least annually,
4) Make recommendations to the collegial body related
with selection, appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor (to be done by the
general shareholders' meeting) and with the terms and
conditions of his engagement. The committee should
investigate situations that lead to a resignation of the
audit company or auditor and make recommendations
on required actions in such situations;
5)Monitor independence and impartiality of the
external auditor, in particular by reviewing the audit
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The Company has formed an audit committee
whose main functions are in line with these
recommendations.

Yes

s iance with icable idance
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relating to the rotation of audit partners, the level of
fees paid by the company, and similar issues. ln order
to prevent occurrence of material conflicts of interest,
the committee, based on the auditor's disclosed inter
alia data on all remunerations paid by the company to
the auditor and network, should at all times monitor
nature and extent of the non-audit services. Having
regard to the principals and guidelines established in

the 16 May 2002 Commission Recommendation
2002l590lĖc, the committee should determine and
apply a formal policy establishing types of non-audit
services that are (a) excluded, (b) permissible only
after review by the committee, and (c) permissible
without referralto the committee;
6) Review efficiency of the external audit process and
responsiveness of management to recommendations
made in the external auditor's management letter.
4.14.2. All members of the committee should be
furnished with complete information on particulars of
accounting, financial and other operations of the
company. Company's management should inform the
audit committee of the methods used to account for
significant and unusual transactions where the
accounting treatment may be open to different
approaches. In such case a special consideration
should be given to company's operations in offshore
centers and/or activities carried out through special
purpose vehicles (organizations) and justification of
such operations.
4.14.3. The audit committee should decide whether
participation of the chairman of the collegial body, chief
executive officer of the company, chief financial officer
(or superior employees in charge of finances, treasury
and accounting), or internal and external auditors in

the meetings of the committee is required (if required,
when). The committee should be entitled, when
needed, to meet with any relevant person without
executive directors and members of the management
bodies present.
4.14.4. lnternal and external auditors should be
secured with not only effective working relationship
with management, but also with free access to the
collegial body. For this purpose the audit committee
should act as the principal contact person for the
internal and external auditors.
4.14.5. The audit committee should be informed of the
internal auditor's work program, and should be
furnished with internal audit's reports or periodic
summaries. The audit committee should also be
informed of the work program of the external auditor
and should be furnished with report disclosing all
relationships between the independent auditor and the
company and its group. The committee should be
timely furnished information on all issues arising from
the audit.
4'14'6' The audit commįttee should examine whether
the company is following applicable provisions
regarding the possibility for employees to report

ificant larities in the
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way of complaints or through anonymous submissions
(normally to an independent member of the collegial
body), and should ensure that there is a procedure
established for proportionate and independent
investigation of these issues and for appropriate
follow-up action.
4.14.7. The audit committee should report on its
activities to the collegial body at least once in every six
months, at the time the yearly and half-yearly
statements are approved.
4.15. Every year the collegial body should conduct the
assessment of its activities. The assessment should
include evaluation of collegial body's structure, work
organization and ability to act as a group, evaluation of
each of the collegial body member's and committee's
competence and work efficiency and assessment
whether the collegial body has achieved its objectives.
The collegial body should, at least once a year, make
public (as part of the information the company annually
discloses on its management structures and practices)
respective information on its internalorganization and
working procedures, and specify what material
changes were made as a result of the assessment of
the collegial body of its own activities.
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Such practice has not been applied in the
Company.

The Company fully
recommendations.

Sittings of the collegial bodies of the Company
are held at such įntervals as are necessary to
ensure uninterrupted tackling of essential
issues relating to the management and
supervisory of activity of the Company.

No

Principle V: The working procedure of the company's collegial bodies
The working procedure of supervisory and management bodies established in the company should ensure

efficient operation of these bodies and decision-making and encourage active co-operation between the
s bodies.

5.1. The company's supervisory and management
bodies (hereinafter in this Principle the concept
'collegial bodies' covers both the collegial bodies of
supervision and the collegial bodies of management)
should be chaired by chairpersons of these bodies.
The chairperson of a collegial body is responsible for
proper convocatįon of the collegial body meetings. The
chairperson should ensure that information about the
meeting being convened and its agenda are
communicated to all members of the body. The
chairperson of a collegial body should ensure
appropriate conducting of the meetings of the collegial
body. The chairperson should ensure order and
working atmosphere during the meeting.
5.2. lt is recommended that meetings of the company's
collegial bodies should be carried out according to the
schedule approved in advance at certain intervals of
tįme. Each company is free to decide how often to
convene meetings of the collegial bodies, but it is
recommended that these meetings should be
convened at such intervals, which would guarantee an
interrupted resolutton of the essential corporate
governance issues. Meetings of the company's
supervisory board should be convened at least once in

a quarter, and the company's board should meet at
least once a month.12

complies with theseYes

Yes

12The frequency of meetings of the collegial body provided for in the recommendation must be aPPlied įn those cases when both additional collegial bodies are formed at

the company, the board and the supervisory board. In the event only one additional collegial body is formed in the company, ihe frequency of its meetings may be as

esiablished for the supervisory board, i.e. at least once in a quarter.
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5.3. Members of a collegial body should be notified
about the meeting being convened in advance in order
to allow sufficient time for proper preparation for the
issues on the agenda of the meeting and to ensure
fruitful discussion and adoption of appropriate
decisions. Alongside with the notice about the meeting
being convened, all the documents relevant to the
issues on the agenda of the meeting should be
submitted to the members of the collegial body. The
agenda of the meeting should not be changed or
supplemented during the meeting, unless all members
of the collegial body are present or certain issues of
great importance to the company require immediate
resolution.
5.4. ln order to co-ordinate operation of the company's
collegial bodies and ensure effective decision-making
process, chairpersons of the company's collegial
bodies of supervision and management should closely
co-operate by co-coordinating dates of the meetings,
their agendas and resolving other issues of corporate
governance. Members of the company's board should
be free to attend meetings of the company's
supervisory board, especially where issues concerning
removal of the board members, their liability or
remuneration are discussed.

6.1. lt is recommended that the company's capital
should consist only of the shares that grant the same
rights to voting, ownership, dividend and other rights to
all their holders.

6.2. lt is recommended that investors should have
access to the information concerning the rights
attached to the shares of the new issue or those issued
earlier in advance, i.e. before they purchase shares.
6.3. Transactions that are important to the company
and its shareholders, such as transfer, investment, and
pledge of the company's assets or any other type of
encumbrance should be subject to approval of the
general shareholders' meeting.l3 All shareholders
should be furnished with equal opportunity to
familiarize with and participate in the decision-making
process when significant corporate issues, including
approval of transactions referred to above, are
discussed.
6.4. Procedures of convening and conducting a
general shareholders' meeting should ensure equal
opportunities for the shareholders to effectively
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Members of the collegial bodies are notified on
the sitting in advance by sending them the
agenda and all needed materials of the
meeting, so that they'd have enough time to
properly prepare for consideration of the issues
to be addressed at the meeting and share in

useful discussions leading to adoption of proper
resolutions.

ln order to coordinate operations of the collegial
bodies of the Company and to ensure efficient
decision-making process, chairpersons of the
collegial supervisory and managing bodies of
the Company agree upon the dates and
agendas of future sittings, closely cooperate in

tackling other issues relating to the
management of the Company.

The authorized capital of the Company is
comprised of 65.700.000 ordinary shares. The
par value of one share is EUR 0.29. All
shareholders of the Company enjoy equal
rights.

The Company fully
recommendation.

complies with this

ln order to ensure continuous and effective
actįvities of the company and to avoid
unnecessarily frequent consideration of
transactions at the meeting of shareholders,
transactions that are important to the company
and its shareholders, such as transfer,
investment, mortgage or other encumbrance
are approved by the decision of the board
without the approval of the meeting
shareholders.
Procedures of convocation and holding the
general meetings of shareholders of the
Company create the shareholders equal

Principle Vl: The equitable treatment of shareholdens and shareholder rights
The corporate governance framework should ensure the equitable treatment of all shareholders, including
minority and foreign shareholders. The corporate governance framework should protect the rights of the

shareholders.

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

at the s and shouĮd not rce nities to attend the meetin and do not

į3The Law on Companies of the Republic of Lithu ania (offcial Gazetfą 2003, No 123-5574) no longer assigns resolutions concerning the investment, transfer, lease,

mortgage or acquisition of ihe long-terms assets accounting for more than 1/20 of the company's authorised capital to the competence of the general shareholders'

meeting. However, transactions that are important and material for the company's activity should be considered and approved by the general shareholders' meeting.

The Law on Companies contains no prohibition io this effect either. Yet, in order not to encumber the company's activity and escape an unreasonably frequent

consideration of transactions at the meetings, companies are free to establish iheir own criteria of material transactions, which are subject to the approval of the meetinS.

While establishing these criteria of material hansactions, comPanies may foĮlow the criteria set out in items 3, 4,5 and' 6 ol paragraph 4 of Ariicle 34 of the Law on

Companies or derogate from them in view of the specįfic nature of their oPeration and their attemPt to ensule uninterrupted, efficient functionin8 of the comPany.
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the rights and interests of the shareholders. The
venue, date, and time of the shareholders' meeting
should not hinder wide attendance of the
shareholders.

6.5. lf possible, in order to ensure shareholders living
abroad the right to access to the information, it is
recommended that documents on the course of the
general shareholders' meeting should be placed on
the publicly accessible website of the company not
only in Lithuanian language, but in English and /or
other foreign languages in advance. lt is
recommended that the minutes of the general
shareholders: meeting after signing them and/or
adopted resolutions should be also placed on the
publicly accessible website of the company. Seeking
to ensure the right of foreigners to familiarize with the
information, whenever feasible, documents referred to
in this recommendation should be published in

Lithuanian, English and/or other foreign languages.
Documents referred to in this recommendation may be
published on the publicly accessible website of the
company to the extent that publishing of these
documents is not detrimental to the company or the
company's commercial secrets are not revealed.
6.6. Shareholders should be furnished with the
opportunity to vote in the general shareholders'
meeting in person and in absentia. Shareholders
should not be prevented from voting in writing in

advance by completing the generalvoting ballot.
6.7. With a view to increasing the shareholders'
opportu n ities to participate effectively at shareholders'
meetings, the companies are recommended to expand
use of modern technologies by allowing the
shareholders to participate and vote in general
meetings via electronįc means of communication. |n

such cases security of transmitted information and a
possibility to identify the identity of the participating
and voting person should be guaranteed. Moreover,
companies could furnish its shareholders, especially
shareholders living abroad, with the opportunity to
watch shareholder meetings by means of modern
techno
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violate their rights and interests. Notices of
convocation of the general meeting are
published following the procedure established
by the Republic of Lithuania Law on Securities
in the Central database of regulated information
administrated by Nasdaq Vilnius AB, on the
Company's website. The general meetings of
shareholders of the Company are convened at
the address of the Company's registered and
operational address at Vilniaus str. 10,

Grigiškės, Vilnius, the place, date and time do
not preclude the active shareholders'
participation at the meeting.

The Company fully complies with this
recommendation.

The Company fully complies with this
recommendatįon.

The Company does not comply with the
provisions of this recommendation, because
there have been no such request on the part of
the shareholders.

Yes

Yes

No
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Principle Vll: The avoidance of conflicts of interest and their disclosure

The corporate governance framework should encourage members of the corporate bodies to avoid
conflicts of interest and assure transparent and effective mechanism of disclosure of conflicts of interest

members of the bodies.
7,1. Any member of the company's supervisory and
management body should avoid a situation, in which
his/her personal interests are in conflict or may be in

conflict with the company's interests. ln case such a
situation did occur, a member of the company's
supervisory and management body should, within
reasonable time, inform other members of the same
collegial body or the company's body that has elected
him/her, or to the company's shareholders about a
situation of a conflict of interest, indicate the nature of
the conflict and value, where possible.
7.2. Any member of the company's supervisory and
management body may not mix the company's assets,
the use of which has not been mutually agreed upon,
with his/her personal assets or use them or the
information which he/she learns by virtue of his/her
position as a member of a corporate body for his/her
personal benefit or for the benefit of any third person
without a prior agreement of the general shareholders'
meeting or any other corporate body authorized by the
meeting.
7.3. Any member of the company's supervisory and
management body may conclude a transaction with
the company, a member of a corporate body of which
he/she is. Such a transaction (except insignificant
ones due to their low value or concluded when carrying
out routine operations in the company under usual
conditions) must be immediately reported in writing or
orally, by recording this in the minutes of the meeting,
to other members of the same corporate body or to the
corporate body that has elected him/her or to the
company's shareholders. Transactions specified in

this recommendation are also subject to
recommendation 4.5.
7.4. Any member of the company's supervisory and
management body should abstain from voting when
decįsions concerning transactions or other issues of

complies with these

complies with these

personal or business interest are voted on.

The Company fully complies with
recommendations.

these

The Company fully complies with these
recommendations.

The Company fully
recommendations.

The Company fully
recommendations.

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Principle Vlll: Compan y's remuneration policy
Remuneration policy and procedure for approval, revision and disclosure of directors' remuneration
established in the company should prevent potential conflicts of interest and abuse in determining

remuneration of directors, in addition it should ensure publicity and transparency both of company's
remuneration and remuneration of directors.

8.1 . A company should make a public statement of the
company's remuneration policy (hereinafter the
remuneration statement) which should be clear and
easily understandable. This remuneration statement
should be published as a part of the company's annual
statement as well as posted on the company's
website.
8.2. Remuneration statement should mainly focus on
directors' remuneration policy for the following year
and, if appropriate, the subsequent years. The

Such practice has not been applied in the
Company so far,

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

statement should contain a summa of the
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implementation of the remuneration policy in the
previous financial year. Special attention should be
given to any significant changes in company's
remuneration policy as compared to the previous
financialyear.
8.3. Remuneration statement should leastwįse include
the following information :

Explanation of the relative importance of the variable
and non-varįable components of directors'
remuneration;
Sufficient įnformation on performance criteria that
entitles directors to share options, shares or variable
components of remuneration ;

An explanation how the choice of performance criteria
contributes to the long-term interests of the company;
An explanation of the methods, applied in order to
determine whether performance criterįa have been
fufifled;
Sufficient information on deferment periods with
regard to variable components of remuneration;
Sufficient information on the linkage between the
remuneratįon and performance;
The main parameters and rationale for any annual
bonus scheme and any other non-cash benefits;
Sufficient information on the policy regarding
termination payments;
Sufficient information with regard to vesting periods for
share-based remuneration, as referred to in point 8.'13
of this Code;
Sufficient information on the policy regarding retention
of shares after vesting, as referred to in point 8.'15 of
this Code;
Sufficient information on the composition of peer
groups of companies the remuneration policy of which
has been examined in relation to the establishment of
the remuneration policy of the company concerned;
A description of the main characteristics of
supplementary pension or early retirement schemes
for directors;
Remuneration statement should not include
commercially sensitive information.
8.4. Remuneration statement should also summarize
and explain company's policy regarding the terms of
the contracts executed with executive directors and
members of the management bodies. lt should
include, inter alia, information on the duration of
contracts with executive directors and members of the
management bodies, the applicable notice periods and
details of provisions for termination payments linked to
early termination under contracts for executive
directors and members of the management bodies.
8.5. Remuneration statement should also contain
detailed information on the entire amount of
remuneration, inclusive of other benefits, that was paid
to indįvidual directors over the re|evant financial year.
This document should list at least the information set
out in items 8.5.1 to 8.5.4 for each person who has
served as a director of the company at any time during
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The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

No

No

the relevant financial

No
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8.5.1 . The following remuneration and/or emoluments-
related informatįon should be disclosed:
The total amount of remuneration paid or due to the
director for services performed during the relevant
financial year, inclusive of, where relevant, attendance
fees fixed by the annual general shareholders
meeting;
The remuneration and advantages received from any
undertaking belonging to the same group;
The remuneration paid in the form of profit sharing
and/or bonus payments and the reasons why such
bonus payments and/or profit sharing were granted;
lf permissible by the law, any significant additional
remuneration paid to directors for special services
outside the scope of the usual functions of a director;
Compensation receivabĮe or paid to each former
executive director or member of the management body
as a result of his resignation from the office during the
previous fįnancial year;
Total estimated value of non-cash benefits considered
as remuneration, other than the items covered in the
above points.
8.5.2. As regards shares and/or rights to acquire share
options and/or all other share-įncentive schemes, the
following information should be disclosed:
The number of share options offered or shares granted
by the company during the relevant financial year and
their conditions of applicatįon;
The number of shares options exercised during the
relevant financial year and, for each of them, the
number of shares involved and the exercise price or
the value of the interest in the share incentive scheme
at the end of the financial year;
The number of share options unexercised at the end
of the financial year; their exercise price, the exercise
date and the main conditions for the exercise of the
rights;
All changes in the terms and conditions of existing
share options occurring during the financial year.
8.5.3. The following supplementary pension schemes-
related information should be disclosed:
When the pension scheme is a defined-benefit
scheme, changes in the directors' accrued benefits
under that scheme during the relevant financial year;
When the pension scheme is defined-contribution
scheme, detailed information on contributions paid or
payable by the company in respect of that director
during the relevant financial year.
8.5.4. The statement should also state amounts that
the company or any subsidiary company or entity
included in the consolidated annual financįal report of
the company has paid to each person who has served
as a director in the company at any time during the
relevant financial year in the form of loans, advance
payments or guarantees, including the amount
outstanding and the interest rate.
8.6. Where the remuneration policy includes variable
components of remuneration, companies should set
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The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice

limits on the variable The non-variable
No

has not been in the so far
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component of remuneration should be sufficient to
allow the company to withhold variable components of
remuneration when performance criteria are not met.
8.7. Award of variable components of remuneration
should be subject to predetermined and measurable
performance criteria.
8.8. Where a variable component of remuneration is
awarded, a major part of the variable component
should be deferred for a minimum period of time. The
part of the variable component subject to deferment
should be determined in relation to the relative weight
of the variable component compared to the non-
variable component of remuneration.
8.9. Contractual arrangements wįth executive or
managing directors should include provisions that
permit the company to reclaim variable components of
remuneration that were awarded on the basis of data
which subsequently proved to be manifestly misstated.
8.'10. Termination payments should not exceed a fixed
amount or fixed number of years of annual
remuneration, which should, in general, not be higher
than two years of the non-variable component of
remuneration or the equivalent thereof.

8.11. Termination payments should not be paid if the
termination is due to inadequate performance.

8.12. The information on preparatory and decision-
making processes, during which a policy of
remuneration of directors is being established, should
also be disclosed. lnformation should include data, if

applicable, on authorities and composition of the
remuneration committee, names and surnames of
external consultants whose services have been used
in determination of the remuneration poltcy as well as
the role of shareholders' annual general meeting.

8.13. Shares should not vest for at least three years
after their award.

8.14. Share options or any other right to acquire shares
or to be remunerated on the basis of share price
movements should not be exercisable for at least three
years after their award. Vesting of shares and the right
to exercise share options or any other right to acquire
shares or to be remunerated on the basis of share
price movements, should be subject to predetermined
and measurable performance criteria.
8.15. After vesting, directors should retain a number of
shares, until the end of their mandate, subject to the
need to fįnance any costs related to acquisition of the
shares. The number of shares to be retained should
be fixed, for example, twice the value of total annual
remuneration (the non-variable plus the variable
components).

8.16. Remuneration of non-executive or supervisory
directors should not include share options.

8.17. Shareholders, in particular institutional
shareholders, should be encouraged to attend general
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The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its repoĖ on
remuneratįon policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.
The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No
has not been a in the so far
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meetings where appropriate and make considered use
of their votes regarding directors' remuneration.
8.'18. Wįthout prejudice to the role and organization of
the relevant bodies responsible for setting directors'
remunerations, the remuneration policy or any other
significant change in remuneration policy should be
included into the agenda of the shareholders' annual
general meeting. Remuneration statement should be
put for voting in shareholders' annual general meeting.
The vote may be either mandatory or advisory.
8.19. Schemes anticipating remuneration of directors
in shares, share options or any other right to purchase
shares or be remunerated on the basis of share price
movements should be subject to the prior approval of
shareholders' annual general meeting by way of a
resolution prior to thelr adoption. The approval of
scheme should be related with the scheme itself and
not to the grant of such share-based benefits under
that scheme to individual directors. All significant
changes in scheme provisions should also be subject
to shareholders' approval prior to their adoption; the
approval decision should be made in shareholders'
annual general meeting. ln such case shareholders
should be notified on all terms of suggested changes
and get an explanation on the impact of the suggested
changes.
8.20. The following issues should be subject to
approval by the shareholders' annual general meeting:
Grant of share-based schemes, including share
options, to directors;
Determination of maximum number of shares and
main conditions of share granting;
The term within which opttons can be exercised;
The conditions for any subsequent change in the
exercise of the options, if permissible by law;
All other long-term incentive schemes for which
directors are eligible and which are not available to
other employees of the company under simįlar terms.
Annual general meeting should also set the deadline
within which the body responsible for remuneration of
directors may award compensations listed in this
article to individual directors.
8.21. Should national law or company's Articles of
Associatįon allow, any discounted option arrangement
under which any rights are granted to subscribe to
shares at a price lower than the market value of the
share prevailing on the day of the price determination,
or the average of the market values over a number of
days preceding the date when the exercise price is
determined, should also be subject to the
shareholders' approval.
8.22. Provįsions of Articles 8.19 and 8.20 should not
be applicable to schemes allowing for participation
under similar conditions to company's employees or
employees of any subsidiary company whose
employees are eligible to participate in the scheme
and which has been approved in the shareholders'
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The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneratįon policy; therefore' such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.
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No

No
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8.23. Prior to the annual general meeting that is
įntended to consider decision stipulated in Article 8.19,
the shareholders must be provided an opportunity to
familiarize with draft resolutįon and project-related
notice (the documents should be posted on the
company's website). The notice should contain the full
text of the share-based remuneration schemes or a
description of their key terms, as well as full names of
the participants in the schemes. Notice should also
specify the relatįonship of the schemes and the overall
remuneration policy of the directors. Draft resolution
must have a clear reference to the scheme itself or to
the summary of its key terms. Shareholders must also
be presented with information on how the company
intends to provide for the shares required to meet its
obligations under incentive schemes. lt should be
clearly stated whether the company intends to buy
shares in the market, hold the shares in reserve or
issue new ones. There should also be a summary on
scheme-related expenses the company will suffer due
to the anticipated application of the scheme. All
information given in this article must be posted on the
company's websįte.

interest in the
9.1. The corporate governance framework should
assure that the rights of stakeholders that are
protected by law are respected.
9.2. The corporate governance framework should
create conditions for the stakeholders to participate in

corporate governance in the manner prescribed by
law. Examples of mechanisms of stakeholder
participation in corporate governance include:
employee participation in adoption of certain key
decisions for the company; consulting the employees
on corporate governance and other important issues;
employee participation in the company's share capital;
creditor involvement in governance in the context of
the company's insolvency, etc.
9.3. Where stakeholders participate in the corporate
governance process, they should have access to
relevant information.
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The Company does not publish its report on
remuneration policy; therefore, such practice
has not been applied in the Company so far.

company concerned
The Company complies with all statutory
requirements aimed at ensuring the rights of
interest holders.

Principle lX: The role of stakeholders in corporate governance
The corporate governance framework should recognize the rights of stakeholders as established by law
and encourage active co-operation between companies and stakeholders in creating the company value,
jobs and financial sustainability. For the purposes of this Principle, the concept "stakeholders" includes

investors, employees, creditors, suppliers, clients, local community and other persons having certain

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

The Company complies with all statutory
requirements aimed at ensuring the rights of
interest holders.

The Company complies with all statutory
requirements aįmed at ensuring the rights of
interest holders.
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Principle X: lnformation disclosure and transparency
The corporate governance framework should ensure that timely and accurate disclosure is made on all

material information regarding the company, including the financialsituation, performance and governance
of the com

'10.1. The company should disclose information on:
The financial and operating results of the company;
Company objectives;
Persons holding by the right of ownership or in control
of a block of shares in the company;
Members of the company's supervisory and
management bodies, chief executive officer of the
company and their remuneration;
Material foreseeable risk factors;
Transactions between the company and connected
persons, as well as transactions concluded outside the
course of the company's regular operations;
Materįal issues regarding employees and other
stakeholders;
Governance structures and strategy.
This list should be deemed as a minimum
recommendation, while the companies are
encouraged not to limit themselves to disclosure of the
information specified in this list.
10.2.lĮ is recommended to the company, which įs the
parent of other companies, that consolidated results of
the whole group to which the company belongs should
be disclosed when information specified in item 1 of
Recommendation 10.1 is under dįsclosure.
'10.3. lt is recommended that information on the
professional background, qualifications of the
members of supervisory and management bodies,
chief executive officer of the company should be
disclosed as well as potential conflicts of interest that
may have an effect on their decisions when
information specified in item 4 of Recommendation
'10.1 about the members of the company's supervisory
and management bodies is under disclosure. lt įs also
recommended that information about the amount of
remuneration received from the company and other
income should be disclosed with regard to members of
the company's supervisory and management bodies
and chief executive officer as per Principle Vlll.
10.4. lt is recommended that information about the
links between the company and its stakeholders,
including employees, creditors, suppliers, local
community, as well as the company's policy with
regard to human resources, employee participation
schemes in the company's share capital, etc. should
be disclosed when information specified in item 7 of
Recommendation '10.'1 is under disclosure.
10.5. lnformation should be disclosed in such a way
that neither shareholders nor investors are
discriminated with regard to the manner or scope of
access to information. lnformation should be disclosed
to all simultaneously. lt is recommended that notices
about material events should be announced before or
after a trading session on the NASDAQ Vilnius AB
Stock Exchange, so that all the company's

complies with this

complies with this

blishes its

The Company complies
recommendation.

with this

The Company
recommendation.

The Company regularly discloses information
on the professional background, qualifications
of the members of supervisory and
management bodies, chief executive officer of
the company as well as potential conflicts of
interest that may have an effect on their
decisions.

The Company
recommendation.

The Company publishes information through
the Central database of regulated information
administrated by NASDAQ Vilnius AB in

Lithuanian and English simultaneously, of
possible. The Stock Exchange places the
received information on its home page and
trade system, thus ensuring sįmultaneous
placement of information to all readers. ln

Yes

Yes

Partly

Yes

Yes

shareholders and investors should have al access addition the if
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to the information and make informed investing
decisions.

website too.

10.6. Channels for disseminating information should
provide for fair, timely and cost-efficient or in cases
provided by the legal acts free of charge access to

relevant information by users. lt is recommended that

information technologies should be employed for wider
dissemination of information, for instance, by placing

the information on the company's website. It is

recommended that information should be published

and placed on the company's website not only in

Lithuanian, but also in English, and, whenever
possible and necessary, in other languages as well'
10.7. lt is recommended that the company's annual
management report and other periodical accounts
prepaied by the company should be placed on the

company's website. lt is recommended that the

companį should announce information about material

events and changes in the price of the company's
shares on the Stock Exchange on the company's

information prior to or after trade sessions of the
stock exchange NASDAQ OMX Vilnius and
provides information for all markets where
securities of the Company are traded
simultaneously. The Company does not publish

in commentaries, interviews or otherwise any
information likely to affect the price of its emitted
securities until such information is announced
through the Central database of regulated
information administrated by NASDAQ OMX
Vilnius.
The mentioned information is also placed on the

website of the Company: www.grigeo.lt.

Essential events, press releases, activity
reports and other information important for the

shareholders are published on the website of

the Company in Lithuanian and English.

The Company fully complies with this
recommendation.

Yes

Yes

reports and interim reports should be conducted by an
independent firm of auditors in order to provide an

external and objective opinion on the company's

Principle Xl: The selection of the company's auditor
The mechanism of the selection of the company's auditor should ensure indePendence of the firm of

auditor's conclusion and on.

11.1. An annual audit of the comPan y's financial
The Company comPlies with this
recommendation, except for audited of interim

financial statement.

financial statements

11.2. lt is recommended that the company's
supervisory board and, where it is not set up, the

company's board should propose a candidate firm of

auditors to the general shareholders' meeting.

11.3. lt is recommended that the company should
disclose to its shareholders the level of fees paid to the

firm of auditors for non-audit services rendered to the

company. This information should be also known to

the company's supervisory board and, where it is not

formed, the company's board upon their consideration
which firm of auditors to propose for the general

shareholders' meeting.

Yes

Yes

Yes

An audit company is proposed to the general
meeting of shareholders by the Board of the

Company, taking into account the
recommendations of the Company's Audit
Committee.

The ComPanY comPlies with this
recommendation. ln 2017 Audit company has
not rendered other services for the company.
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